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         1       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, might I tender an additional

         2       statement from Dominic Hogan, dated 22 August 2006,

         3       barcoded WST.0044.0001 through to 0004.  I think that will

         4       be 1027.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #1027 ADDITIONAL STATEMENT OF DOMINIC HOGAN,

         7       DATED 22/8/2006, BARCODED WST.0044.0001-0004

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall make a non-publication order in

        10       respect of it.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   I had intended to call Ms Peavey today.  She

        13       was to be the second witness.  We received her statement

        14       this morning, together with a volume of annexures.  I have

        15       not had an opportunity to even look at it this morning, so

        16       I will have to move her down the list.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   That means that today's order of witnesses will

        21       be Ms Lyons, Mr Johnstone and then followed by Mr Hogan.

        22       We will take Ms Peavey tomorrow.

        23

        24            Tomorrow, then, we will have Ms Peavey and

        25       Mr Quennell.  I have yet to have an opportunity to speak to

        26       those assisting me in order to determine whether or not we

        27       will be calling Dr Fuller this week, or whether we will be

        28       asking you to adjourn Dr Fuller's examination to a date

        29       after receipt of the Federal Court judgment.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, before my learned friend calls the

        32       witness, you had asked for some information yesterday, and

        33       before it slips my mind I should convey that to you.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   There was a transcript reference that you

        38       sought, Commissioner; that is page 67, down to about

        39       line 20.  That's of the Federal Court.  There were some

        40       exhibit numbers for witness statements and interviews that

        41       you asked for, and they are broken into two categories.  I

        42       can just read the numbers into the transcript.  112, 115,

        43       116, 117, 123, 124, 127, 235, 271.  Now, those are notes of

        44       instructions and interviews conducted by Mr Quennell prior

        45       to May of 2004, but the list goes on and extends to those

        46       in which Mr Chesterman and MinterEllison were involved.  I

        47       will read those as well.  299, 300, 333, 558, 570, 571,
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         1       572, 573, 574, 575, 576, 578, 579.  There is another one,

         2       but we believe the number on my list is incorrect.  It is

         3       of Mr Snowball.  It is probably 600.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   600 is a draft letter to Paul Volcker,

         6       according to my list, from Mr Lindberg.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   We will have to clarify that.  There has been a

         9       duplication of numbering.  Apparently there is one more

        10       that we will add to that list in due course.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   They are all documents which are in

        13       contest in the Federal Court proceedings?

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Mr Clelland, do you have an

        18       application?

        19

        20       MR CLELLAND:   Yes, I was waiting for Ms Lyons to be called

        21       before I make it.  I seek authorisation to appear with

        22       Mr Livermore on behalf of Ms Lyons.  If it is a convenient

        23       time to do it, Commissioner, I make the same application in

        24       respect of Ms Peavey and Mr Johnstone.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Leave is granted to you in respect of

        27       each of those three persons on the usual terms.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   If it is convenient, Mr Commissioner, I call

        30       Jessica Lyons.

        31

        32       <JESSICA GEORGINA LYONS, sworn:                   [10.10am]

        33

        34       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Might we have your full name, please?

        37       A.   Jessica Georgina Lyons.

        38

        39       Q.   The inquiry has a statement, not signed, but dated

        40       21 August 2006, which has been marked as exhibit 1026.

        41       I take it that is your statement?

        42       A.   Yes, it is.

        43

        44       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct to

        45       the best of your knowledge and belief?

        46       A.   Yes, they are.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall lift the non-publication order

         2       with respect to that document.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have a copy of the statement with

         5       you?

         6       A.   I do.

         7

         8       Q.   Are there any corrections that you wish to make to it?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   At paragraph 12 you say it was incumbent upon you to

        12       ensure that you met regularly, at least fortnightly, with

        13       the managers of the divisions, including the International

        14       Sales and Marketing Division - I think the other division

        15       was the chartering division - to discuss what legal issues

        16       they were confronted with.  Did you in fact meet regularly

        17       and at least fortnightly with the managers of those

        18       divisions from late 2001 or earlier 2002, until May of

        19       2003?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   And did they from time to time raise legal issues with

        23       you?

        24       A.   Yes, they did.

        25

        26       Q.   In May of 2003, you were seconded full time to the

        27       Mergers and Acquisitions Division.  Do we correctly

        28       understand, then, that from early May of 2003 you were no

        29       longer involved in the provision of advice outside of

        30       Mergers and Acquisitions?

        31       A.   That is correct, other than for a short period of

        32       hand-over, just after May.

        33

        34       Q.   Then if we come to the fourth page of your statement,

        35       WST.0043.0004, does your copy of the statement contain the

        36       black lines that we can see on the screen?

        37       A.   Yes, it does.

        38

        39       Q.   We understand that, to the extent to which those black

        40       lines refer to documents, there is a claim for legal

        41       professional privilege in relation to those documents and,

        42       as we understand it, those documents are covered by the

        43       argument in the Federal Court and will be covered by the

        44       judgment that is expected from Justice Young.  I just want

        45       you to understand that I am not in any way attempting to go

        46       into any issue that arose in those Federal Court

        47       proceedings, and, in particular, I am not to be understood
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         1       as asking you to give me an answer which reveals the

         2       content of any document for which there is a claim for

         3       legal professional privilege.

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   At paragraph 19 you say you recall having a meeting

         7       with Chris Whitwell, and that you have a file note dated

         8       22 January 2003 of that meeting.  In the course of that

         9       meeting, did you obtain instructions from Mr Whitwell in

        10       relation to the alleged iron filings contamination claim?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   In substance, did he ask you to provide him with

        14       advice about that claim?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you understand that you were to provide that

        18       advice orally or in writing?

        19       A.   It wasn't specified in the meeting how the advice was

        20       to be provided.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you have in mind how you would provide that

        23       advice?

        24       A.   I don't specifically recall, but I believe it would

        25       have been my practice to provide it in writing.

        26

        27       Q.   When you say in paragraph 22 as a result of

        28       Mr Whitwell's request you provided advice, was that an

        29       advice that you provided in writing?

        30       A.   Yes, it was.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you provide that by email to Mr Whitwell?

        33       A.   I believe I did, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   On 24 January 2003?

        36       A.   I believe that's correct.

        37

        38       Q.   Did that advice deal with the IGB's iron filing claim

        39       and request for compensation and United Nations Resolution

        40       661?

        41       A.   In part, yes.

        42

        43       Q.   You say in paragraph 25 that before providing that

        44       advice you sought and received legal advice in respect of

        45       that matter from Hazel Brasington of Blake Dawson Waldron.

        46       Did you receive advice from Hazel Brasington providing a

        47       legal opinion on UN Resolution 661 and 986 and attaching UN
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         1       resolutions 1447, 661 and 986?

         2       A.   I don't actually have those attachments in this

         3       folder, but I believe that to be correct.

         4

         5       Q.   And did you receive that advice on 23 January 2003?

         6       A.   That's right.

         7

         8       Q.   After your receipt of the advice from Hazel Brasington

         9       and your provision of the advice by email to Mr Whitwell,

        10       you say at paragraph 29 that you held or attended three

        11       follow-up meetings regarding your iron filings advice?

        12       A.   That's right.

        13

        14       Q.   Did you instigate those meetings or were they

        15       instigated by others?

        16       A.   In respect of the meeting with Jim Cooper, I don't

        17       recall who instigated the meeting.  In respect to the

        18       meeting with Michael Long and Chris Whitwell and the third

        19       meeting with Peter Geary, I believe I instigated both of

        20       those meetings.

        21

        22       Q.   What was the purpose of your meeting with Mr Cooper?

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, this may be at risk of traversing

        25       an issue in the Federal Court if my friend presses the

        26       question as to the purpose of the meeting, when the note of

        27       the meeting is a contested document.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Is it possible, could I inquire through you,

        30       Mr Commissioner, whether or not we might be informed as to

        31       what is the document number of that note?

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   Yes, I understand it is the one referred to in

        34       paragraph 33.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   That's document 41, is it?

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   It may be that there is no note.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   41, according to the list, is a

        41       handwritten file note of Jessica Lyons of conversations

        42       with Michael Long, Chris Whitwell and Peter Geary.  It

        43       doesn't seem to touch upon any meeting with Mr Cooper.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   That may be so.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   The reason why I asked is that I don't want to
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         1       go into any area where there is a document presently in

         2       question in the Federal Court.  Do I take it then that --

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would allow that question in relation

         5       to the meeting with Mr Cooper.  As I understand it from

         6       Mr Judd, there is nothing in contest in the Federal Court

         7       in relation to that meeting.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   It appears to be so.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   My question was what was the purpose of

        12       your meeting with Mr Cooper?

        13       A.   I don't have a specific recollection of that meeting,

        14       but I do recall Jim inquiring of me about the iron filings

        15       advice.

        16

        17       Q.   Was that a meeting that you instigated or Mr Cooper

        18       instigated?

        19       A.   I don't recall how the meeting was initiated.

        20

        21       Q.   The second meeting of which you speak is one with

        22       Michael Long and Chris Whitwell.  That was initiated by

        23       you?

        24       A.   I believe so.

        25

        26       Q.   May we take it that the first in point of time was

        27       your meeting with Mr Cooper?

        28       A.   I am not entirely sure whether that meeting - it was

        29       proximate, but I can't recall whether it was the first

        30       meeting in time.

        31

        32       Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 412?  The barcode

        33       is AWB.0293.0232.  This is a document that we've been given

        34       by AWB masked to protect a claim for legal professional

        35       privilege.  Does this document refer to your attendance

        36       upon Michael Long and Chris Whitwell on 20 February 2003,

        37       and is that the meeting to which you refer at paragraph 32?

        38       A.   Yes, it is.

        39

        40       Q.   Then you go on to say at paragraph 34 of your

        41       statement that you recall having a meeting with Peter

        42       Geary.  Does the note that we can read on this document

        43       refer to that meeting that you refer to in paragraph 34?

        44       A.   Yes, it does.

        45

        46       Q.   I wonder if you could help us to understand this note.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I can't explain why that's there

         2       at this point, but that note forms part of a claim before

         3       the Federal Court.  That's document 41.  The whole of 41 is

         4       part of a claim.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   What can I do about that?  This was

         7       admitted - I don't know when exhibit 412 was admitted.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   As I said when I rose, I'm not able to explain

        10       at this point, but save to say that the whole document is

        11       part of a claim before the Federal Court.  I will get some

        12       instructions on that, but in the meantime, in our

        13       submission, it is not appropriate to question the witness

        14       about that particular meeting.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   You will need to persuade me of that,

        17       Mr Judd.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   I will persuade you this way, if I may,

        20       Commissioner:  the particular note under the heading

        21       "Attention Peter Geary" - and if it could be removed from

        22       the screen we would be much obliged - is the subject of a

        23       claim for legal professional privilege presently under

        24       consideration by the Federal Court.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let's just go back a step and see when

        27       exhibit 412 was tendered.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   22 February.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Six months ago.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   It has been on the web since about that time.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   That may be so.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   I may have even examined Mr Geary in relation

        38       to it, but I am not sure.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's what I would like to know.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   That may be so.  What I must do, however, is to

        43       get some instructions about it and be in a position to

        44       provide a response to a legitimate question from you, sir,

        45       as to why that is here.  But the fact remains that it is

        46       presently before the Federal Court.  Now, it may be one

        47       that ought not be there.  That's a different question.  The
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         1       fact is it is there.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, we can't go on like this.

         4       I have to know when documents are tendered before me, and

         5       there is no objection, that I am entitled to deal with it.

         6       This document has been tendered for six months now.  It has

         7       been on the web for six months.  Now you say I should

         8       uphold some claim for privilege, or perhaps I should uphold

         9       some claim for privilege, I'm not sure which.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   I'm not suggesting you should uphold any claim.

        12       The claim for privilege is presently before the Federal

        13       Court.  So we are not asking you to uphold a claim for

        14       legal professional privilege.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   What are you asking me to do?

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   I am asking you first of all, sir, that this

        19       Commission not inquire of this witness into the content of

        20       that note until its position is resolved.  Now, that

        21       resolution may be as simple as my getting some instructions

        22       about it, having regard to the provenance of the note,

        23       having been displayed on the web site and the like.  But

        24       the fact is that it is presently before the Federal Court

        25       as a document which is contested as a privileged document.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   And did you inform the Federal Court

        28       that it was tendered as exhibit 412 in February, apparently

        29       without objection and after consideration by AWB as to

        30       whether it was privileged or not and after blanking out

        31       some portion thought to be privileged and not blanking out

        32       the balance?  Did you inform the Federal Court of that?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Apparently not, because it has, may I say, come

        35       as a surprise to me to see that note there, and also before

        36       the Federal Court.  Therefore, we would like the

        37       opportunity to get some instructions.  The problem,

        38       Commissioner --

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I will briefly adjourn so you

        41       can get those instructions.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Before you do, Mr Commissioner, can I draw

        44       attention to one other document which forms part of

        45       exhibit 412.  It is a letter from Messrs Arnold Bloch

        46       Leibler of 22 February 2006 and reads as follows:

        47
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         1            Please see attached file note of Jessica

         2            Lyons, referred to in paragraph 17(i)  of

         3            Jim Cooper's statement, which I understand

         4            has been provided to you this morning.  The

         5            privileged part of the file note is not

         6            produced.

         7

         8       It is on that basis that we received it, and no doubt it

         9       was on that basis that it was tendered.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   You might in the adjournment have a

        12       look and see whether there has been any examination in

        13       relation to this document.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   I am not attributing responsibility to my friend

        16       for having used this document.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   I should hope not.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   I have not, Commissioner, even intimated any

        21       responsibility to him for using it.  So, with respect, it

        22       is not appropriate to suggest impliedly that I have.  The

        23       problem we have here --

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   I didn't suggest anything, Mr Judd.

        26       You raised the question of whose responsibility it was, not

        27       me.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I took exception to your response.

        30       If it was misunderstood, I apologise.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   It plainly was.  I will briefly

        33       adjourn.

        34

        35       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, we propose to inform the

        38       Federal Court that the claim in respect of that entry will

        39       not be pressed.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  It was the subject of three pages

        42       of evidence on 22 February 2006.  The transcript reference

        43       is pages 3193 to 3195.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   We have reviewed that.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   I take it - and I say this only for more
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         1       abundant caution - there is therefore no objection to my

         2       asking Ms Lyons about that entry?

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   No.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I wonder if we could bring that up again.

         7       It is exhibit 412, AWB.0293.0232.  I wonder if you could

         8       just help us reading your handwriting.  I take it that is

         9       your handwriting?

        10       A.   Yes, it is.

        11

        12       Q.   So "Attendance Peter Geary"?

        13       A.   That's right.

        14

        15       Q.

        16

        17            Have we cleared this with AL - yes -

        18

        19       Was that a question you asked Mr Geary?

        20       A.   I believe it was, yes.

        21

        22       Q.   And the answer "yes", an answer that he provided?

        23       A.   I believe so.

        24

        25       Q.   What was the "this"?  Was it your iron filings advice

        26       and the --

        27       A.   Yes, I believe it was the compensation payment which

        28       was referred to in the iron filings advice.  That would be

        29       what "this" referred to.

        30

        31       Q.   And did it incorporate the mechanism by which it was

        32       proposed to repay the iron filings compensation claim?

        33       A.   I can't specifically recall, but I do know it did

        34       refer to the payment by way of compensation.

        35

        36       Q.   Could you read the next line?

        37       A.

        38            Memo prepared to him about how

        39            sensitive/political this is and we will be

        40            informing Downer.

        41

        42       Who said that?

        43       A.   It is my recollection that the balance of that note

        44       was said to me by Peter Geary.

        45

        46       Q.   So he told you that a memo had been prepared to him,

        47       the him being Mr Lindberg?
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         1       A.   That's my understanding.

         2

         3       Q.   And he told you that the subject of the memo was about

         4       how sensitive/political this issue was?

         5       A.   That would be how I would understand that note.

         6

         7       Q.   And he told you that AWB at that stage proposed to

         8       inform Minister Downer?

         9       A.   That's how I would read that note, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Inform Minister Downer of what - the fact of payment

        12       of the compensation claim, the mechanism for payment of the

        13       compensation claim, or something else?

        14       A.   I don't have a specific recollection, but I would -

        15       I believe it was that we would be informing the government

        16       about the proposed payment of a compensation claim in

        17       respect of iron filings.

        18

        19       Q.   A proposed payment to whom - to the IGB, refund to the

        20       escrow account controlled by the United Nations, to Alia?

        21       A.   I would understand it that it was to deliver

        22       information to the government about the claim for

        23       compensation by the IGB and to seek information from the

        24       government or advice from the government as to a mechanism

        25       for payment.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That can't be right.  You had

        28       already had advice from government about payment

        29       in November the previous year.

        30       A.   Well, I was not aware of such advice.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can you, with the assistance of that note,

        33       recollect as best you can the substance of the conversation

        34       between you and Mr Geary on this issue?

        35       A.   It simply would have been that I had prepared an

        36       advice relating to iron filings, I had concern generally

        37       with the issue of iron filings, and the purpose of this

        38       meeting would have been to ensure that Andrew Lindberg was

        39       aware of the advice and to ask Peter Geary whether he was

        40       aware of the advice, and to find out how it was being dealt

        41       with in the top levels of the company.

        42

        43       Q.   That's the purpose of the meeting.  Was that also the

        44       substance of the conversation?

        45       A.   I don't have a specific recollection, but that would

        46       be what that note indicates to me.

        47
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         1       Q.   That it was the substance of the conversation?

         2       A.   That's correct.

         3

         4       Q.   I just want to go back over one or two issues.

         5       Mr Geary told you words to the effect, "We will be

         6       informing Downer".  I take it the "we" was AWB?

         7       A.   I believe so.

         8

         9       Q.   And "Will be informing Downer" of what?  Now, there

        10       were a number of possibilities, and I raise them for your

        11       consideration:  the fact of the claim, the fact that the

        12       claim had been settled, how it was that the claim had been

        13       settled - that is, by agreement to make a payment, if that

        14       was the case - that the payment was to be made to the IGB,

        15       to Alia or to the United Nations for repayment into the

        16       escrow account, and then when was Mr Downer to be told?

        17       A.   I don't know.

        18

        19       Q.   I am not asking you what you knew.  This is all about

        20       what Mr Geary said to you, a different matter.  I'm not

        21       asking you about your own knowledge of these events, I'm

        22       asking you about what Mr Geary said to you.  I have raised

        23       a number of topics for you to consider, in an effort to try

        24       and refresh your recollection of your conversation with

        25       Mr Geary, assisted as it is as well by your note.

        26       A.   I am not - I do not recollect Peter Geary telling me

        27       with any specificity what he would be telling - what he or

        28       AWB would be telling - the government.

        29

        30       Q.   And do you recollect whether Mr Geary told you when it

        31       was that it was proposed to tell the government?

        32       A.   No, I don't.

        33

        34       Q.   You used the words "the government".  This note says

        35       "informing Downer".  What's your recollection of the

        36       expression Mr Geary used?

        37       A.   I would have recorded "Downer" because I believe

        38       that's the term he would have used.

        39

        40       Q.   But you understood it to be informing Minister Downer

        41       as a representative of the government, not some private --

        42       A.   That's right.

        43

        44       Q.   -- not some private information to be provided to

        45       Mr Downer?

        46       A.   I don't believe so.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you see the memo that had been prepared about how

         2       sensitive/political this is?

         3       A.   No, I don't believe so.

         4

         5       Q.   Not in the course of this meeting?

         6       A.   I don't believe so.

         7

         8       Q.   I just want to jump forward, and my purpose in doing

         9       so is to still have you keep in mind your meeting with

        10       Mr Geary and your conversation with him that is reflected

        11       in this file note.  I am just jumping ahead in time.  I am

        12       going to bring up a chain of emails.  Could we bring up,

        13       please, AWB.0195.0001.  I would like to have brought up the

        14       second page, which is 0002.  Now, you should see on your

        15       screen, Ms Lyons, document 0002.  The first item in point

        16       of time is an email from Michael Long to Mr Geary, subject

        17       "Iraq Memo":

        18

        19            Understand you signed the memo that Chris

        20            brought down (and it has gone upstairs).

        21            Could we please have a copy for our files

        22            so we can proceed.

        23

        24       And Mr Geary's response:

        25

        26            I did sign with a covering note to Andrew.

        27            We need to sit down face to face with

        28            Andrew and tell him all the implications

        29            before we move forward.  Jess also needs to

        30            be involved.  I will try to find some time

        31            for him next week.

        32

        33       And then he asks:

        34

        35            When will the first vessel under the new

        36            contract load??

        37

        38       If we go to the next page, 0001, we will see that on

        39       13 August 2004, which is a year and a half later, you write

        40       to Mr Geary and you say this:

        41

        42            Pete, I am looking for the memo (which I am

        43            sure I prepared) regarding the Oil for Food

        44            program ... it is the memo that you were

        45            referring to below .. have you got a copy

        46            on your computer??

        47
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         1       And then it appears that you have copied to Mr Geary the

         2       two emails that I have just shown you on the previous page.

         3       The memo that you are referring to in your email, is that

         4       the memo, if we go back to 0002, that Mr Long is referring

         5       to when he says:

         6

         7             ... you signed the memo that Chris brought

         8            down ...

         9

        10       And Mr Geary is referring to when he says:

        11

        12            I did sign with a covering note to Andrew.

        13

        14       Or is it the covering note?

        15       A.   I don't know.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, you say in your email:

        18

        19            ... (which I am sure I prepared) ...

        20

        21       You said that in August of 2004.  What was it that you were

        22       sure that you had prepared in August of 2004?

        23       A.   I don't recall what I think I prepared, but I believe

        24       what I was referring to was the iron filings advice.

        25       That's the --

        26

        27       Q.   So did you understand Mr Long to be referring to your

        28       advice when he said, speaking to Mr Geary:

        29

        30            You signed the memo that Chris brought

        31            down.

        32

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   If we go back to 0002, because it is important to keep

        36       in mind the chronology, you have obviously ferreted through

        37       your emails and found Mr Geary's email to you and Mr Long

        38       of 21 February 2003, enclosing as it did Mr Long's email to

        39       him.  Appreciate I am reconstructing.  You have read the

        40       two emails and you will see that they refer to a memo.  The

        41       first one refers to a memo that Mr Geary was alleged to

        42       have signed and that Chris had brought down to him and that

        43       had gone upstairs, and we assume that going upstairs means

        44       going up to Mr Lindberg.  You then see that Mr Geary

        45       confirms that he signed that memo and he put on a covering

        46       note to Mr Lindberg.  Your response, when you dig out those

        47       two emails in August of 2004, is to say:
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         1

         2            I am looking for the memo (which I am sure

         3            I prepared) regarding the Oil for Food

         4            program ... it is the memo that you were

         5            referring to below ... have you got a copy

         6            on your computer??

         7

         8       My question to you is this, and it is against this

         9       observation, that you seem sure of what you were saying:

        10       did you prepare a memorandum - not your advice but some

        11       memorandum - about the iron filings compensation claim

        12       which had been signed by Mr Geary and which had gone

        13       upstairs to Mr Lindberg?

        14       A.   Not that I'm aware of.

        15

        16       Q.   The next email, which is about a month later, is from

        17       you - I am sorry, I'm not sure of the order of these, but

        18       it seems that the first email in order is the one at

        19       12.39pm on 10 September 2004, about a month later?

        20       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        21

        22       Q.   And you had written to Sophie Moraitis and Peter

        23       Geary, "Subject Iraq Memo":

        24

        25            There is something about this file!!! ...

        26            Pete you gave me a copy of your covering

        27            memo (referred to below )but now I cannot

        28            find the copy you gave me (!!??).  Any

        29            chance I could grab another one Soph??

        30

        31       Then there is the helpful reply from Mr Geary:

        32

        33            I think someone said they saw this paper on

        34            a beach in Bali!!!

        35

        36       No doubt indicating there was trouble in locating it.

        37

        38            Your email then in September 2004 is one requesting a

        39       copy of Mr Geary's covering memo.  Did you obtain that?

        40       A.   I don't recall, but this email indicates "Pete you

        41       gave me a copy", so Peter must have given me a copy.

        42

        43       Q.   "You gave me a copy of your covering memo".  If you go

        44       back to page 0002, Mr Geary speaks of two documents.  He

        45       speaks of the memo that Mr Long has referred to, where

        46       Mr Long said "you signed the memo that Chris brought down",

        47       and Mr Geary speaks of a second document, he says "a
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         1       covering note to Andrew".  In your email of September 2004

         2       you say, "Pete you gave me a copy of your covering memo".

         3       Now, do we take that to be a reference to Mr Geary's

         4       covering note to Andrew, or do we take that to be a

         5       reference to the primary memo that Mr Long had been

         6       referring to in the first place?

         7       A.   I don't recall, but using the word "covering" would

         8       indicate to me that it was Peter's covering memo to Andrew

         9       Lindberg.

        10

        11       Q.   It seems that you were then, in this chain of emails,

        12       seeking two documents.  You were first seeking the

        13       memorandum which Mr Geary had signed and which he had

        14       received from Mr Long, that Chris had brought to him, and

        15       you sought that in your 13 August email, and on

        16       10 September you were seeking a second copy of Mr Geary's

        17       covering note - that is, that which he affixed to the

        18       original memo when he sent it to Andrew.  Would you agree

        19       with that interpretation of these emails?

        20       A.   I think that is one interpretation that could be given

        21       to them, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you accept it?

        24       A.   Well, I don't have an independent memory, so I can

        25       only be guided by what's in the emails.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you have the documents - a copy of the memo that

        28       Mr Geary signed that had been brought down to him by Chris

        29       and which he sent up to Mr Lindberg, and the covering note

        30       that Mr Geary had provided to Mr Lindberg?  Do you have

        31       either of those documents?

        32       A.   Right now?  Sorry, now?

        33

        34       Q.   Yes.

        35       A.   I'm not sure that I have either of those documents.

        36

        37       Q.   Does that mean you might have them but unless you go

        38       and look you don't know, or does it mean something else?

        39       A.   It just means that I'm unclear from these emails which

        40       documents are being referred to.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, one at least is a covering note that Mr Geary

        43       provided to go on the memo, which covering note was to go

        44       to Mr Lindberg.  Do you have a copy of that covering note?

        45       A.   No, I don't.

        46

        47       Q.   It seems that you have in the past had at least one



            .23/8/2006 (70)            6926     J G LYONS (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       copy of that covering note?

         2       A.   It does appear that way, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   What can you tell us about it?

         5       A.   I don't have any recollection of what that memo says.

         6

         7       Q.   Why were you seeking either the memo or the covering

         8       note in September 2004?

         9       A.   I don't recall why I was asking for those copies.

        10

        11       Q.   Can we go back to page 0002, and I ask you to bear in

        12       mind your file note of your conversation with Mr Geary on

        13       20 February, which we have as exhibit 412.  I will just

        14       read it to you again:

        15

        16            Have we cleared this with AL ...

        17

        18       And you see Mr Geary's answer was yes, and then:

        19

        20            Memo prepared to him about how

        21            sensitive/political this is and we will be

        22            informing Downer.

        23

        24       Now, against that background - that's your note of

        25       20 February - we have Mr Geary's email to you and Mr Long

        26       on 21 February, the next day.  He is responding to

        27       Mr Long's inquiry, and we have this at AWB.0195.0002.  You

        28       will see that he says - this is the day after his meeting

        29       with you - that he signed a memo with a covering note to

        30       Andrew, and he says:

        31

        32            We need to sit down face to face with

        33            Andrew and tell him all the implications

        34            before we move forward.  Jess also needs to

        35            be involved.

        36

        37       Was that a topic that you spoke about with Mr Geary on

        38       20 February - that is, the day before?  Did you and

        39       Mr Geary speak about a need to sit down with Mr Lindberg

        40       and tell him all the implications before --

        41       A.   I can't recall whether this referred to the same topic

        42       of conversation that I had had with Peter reflected in that

        43       note.

        44

        45       Q.   He says:

        46

        47            Jess also needs to be involved.  I will try
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         1            to find some time for him next week.

         2

         3       Were you involved in any face-to-face meeting with

         4       Mr Lindberg where all the implications were discussed?

         5       A.   I don't believe so.

         6

         7       Q.   What were your considerations about how sensitive or

         8       political the iron filings settlement was in February of

         9       2003?  You will recall your file note "Memo prepared to him

        10       about how sensitive/political this is".

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   That may well traverse the advice which is still

        13       the subject of a claim, Commissioner.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   In what way?

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Because an answer to the question may well

        18       expose the elements of the advice that might be said, for

        19       example --

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, it didn't go to any element of

        22       advice.  It asked what considerations were political -

        23       sensitive/political.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:    "What were your considerations about how

        26       sensitive or political".  Legal considerations can be

        27       sensitive.  You consider sensitive legal considerations

        28       quite often.  If my friend wants to exclude from the

        29       question any reference to the advice she gave and confine

        30       it in that manner, then perhaps it can proceed without

        31       traversing the claim.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I am content to do that for present purposes.

        36

        37       Q.   You understood my earlier incantation where I said

        38       I didn't want to intrude upon any matter which is covered

        39       by the Federal Court proceedings?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   That includes the advice that you provided, because

        43       there is still a claim for privilege in relation to that

        44       advice.  I don't want you to answer the question by

        45       reference to that advice; I want you to exclude that advice

        46       in answering the question.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is not entirely accurate,

         2       Mr Agius.  I think there is only a claim for privilege in

         3       respect of part of this lady's advice.  Is that not so,

         4       Mr Judd?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   No, this is the iron filings advice we speak of.

         7       There is a claim for privilege in respect of the advice.

         8       The outstanding claim for privilege in respect of that

         9       advice started with the Hazel Brasington advice from Blake

        10       Dawson Waldron to AWB and Ms Lyons' advice, which was

        11       thereafter prepared.  The claims for privilege are in

        12       respect of the whole.

        13

        14            Now, what issues have arisen, of course, in the

        15       Commission are as described yesterday - there were two:

        16       one is whether it falls because of a nexus with the Tigris

        17       agreement; the second is not raised by the Commonwealth but

        18       one which his Honour identified, consequential waiver as a

        19       result of the exposure of the memorandum of 7 February of

        20       Mr Whitwell.  But as things stand, the advice is the

        21       subject of a claim.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't understand that.  I don't

        24       understand how that can be the position once the memorandum

        25       of 7 February is exposed to this inquiry.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   It is a matter for his Honour to determine.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   The consequences of that are --

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   It is a matter for his Honour to determine, in

        32       circumstances where it is not an issue raised by the

        33       Commonwealth but one that has been identified by us as a

        34       potential issue.  It is a matter to identify whether in

        35       fact in law what is contained in the 7 February memorandum

        36       operates as a waiver of earlier advice.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   It depends on the extent to which that document

        41       exposes the substance of what was earlier said.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I understand that.  But that

        44       excludes the proposition that the 7 February document

        45       contains some of the advice.  That's why I asked the

        46       question I did.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   No, it doesn't.  It can contain some of the

         2       advice or it can contain some of the content, but that may

         3       not operate as a waiver of the advice.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's a matter for the court.  That's

         6       nothing to do with me.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   That's a matter for the court.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Yes, Mr Agius?

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What did you have in mind, then, as

        13       matters which were sensitive or political?

        14

        15       MR CLELLAND:   Commissioner, with respect, I think that the

        16       file note as explained by the witness records that being an

        17       observation of Mr Geary, not necessarily the witness.  The

        18       question is proceeding on the basis that that was the

        19       witness's view.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I think that's right.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I can deal with that.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you have a view that anything to do with the

        26       settlement of the iron filings claim might be sensitive or

        27       political?

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Excluding any legal view you had?

        30       A.   Yes, only insofar as Peter Geary was telling me that

        31       it was an issue which should be cleared with Alexander

        32       Downer.  So in that regard it had a political aspect.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Why did you think it had a political

        35       aspect?  What was there about it that gave you the view

        36       that it had a political aspect?

        37       A.   Well, because Peter Geary was telling me that.

        38

        39       Q.   You didn't have a view of your own?

        40       A.   I can answer that by reference to my legal advice,

        41       yes.

        42

        43       Q.   No, you can't do that?

        44       A.   Well, then I can't answer that.

        45

        46       Q.   You can do that, but for the claim for privilege.  But

        47       without reference to your legal advice, can you answer the
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         1       question?

         2       A.   I don't believe so, no.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the two-page email chain,

         5       AWB.0195.0001 and 0002.

         6

         7       EXHIBIT #1028 TWO-PAGE EMAIL CHAIN,

         8       BARCODED AWB.0195.0001-0002

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0278.0019.

        11       This is yet another copy of the two emails - one from

        12       Mr Long to Mr Geary and the next from Mr Geary to Mr Long

        13       and yourself - of February 2003.  You will see the last of

        14       those emails is dated 12 midday on 21 February 2003.

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   This is a copy or print of those emails with some

        18       handwriting.  Starting at the top of the page, a note:

        19

        20            Jess, from Michael Long on 19.3.03 for

        21            attention.

        22

        23       And there is a signature.  Do you recognise that writing?

        24       A.   Yes, I do.

        25

        26       Q.   Whose writing is that?

        27       A.   I believe that signature, at least, is Jim Cooper.

        28

        29       Q.   Then handwriting below that - do you recognise that

        30       writing?

        31       A.   No, I don't.

        32

        33       Q.   Can you read to whom the note is directed?

        34       A.   It looks - the second note down you are referring to?

        35

        36       Q.   Yes.

        37       A.   It looks like it is addressed to "Di".

        38

        39       Q.   "Di" being?

        40       A.   There was a number of "Dis" at AWB.

        41

        42       Q.   It appears to be signed "Michael"; is that right?

        43       A.   Yes, it does.

        44

        45       Q.   It reads:

        46

        47            This is all I have.  Sophie can't find the
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         1            "covering note" Peter is referring to.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Do you know if that is Mr Long's

         4       writing, given that it is signed "Michael"?

         5       A.   I don't know that.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Then there is an arrow from that:

         8

         9            Jess, I need this resolved pls.  M.

        10

        11       I read that "M" as being for Michael Long.  It seems that

        12       this page was directed to you at some stage.  Did you read

        13       it as referring to Michael Long?

        14       A.   I don't recall ever seeing this handwriting before

        15       today.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, leaving aside an ability to recognise

        18       handwriting, if you follow the sense of the three notes,

        19       the first is to you from Jim Cooper, passing on an inquiry

        20       from Michael Long on 19/3/03, three weeks or more - less

        21       than four weeks, perhaps - after the chain of emails, and

        22       then two notes from what I suggest is Michael Long, chasing

        23       up the covering note.  This is a document that you would

        24       have received on or about 19 March '03?

        25       A.   I can't assume that, no.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, don't you read the very first note at the top of

        28       the page as being a note to you from Mr Cooper passing on

        29       an inquiry from Michael Long on 19/3/03, being directed to

        30       you for your attention by Mr Cooper?

        31       A.   I think that's a reasonable interpretation, but

        32       I don't ever recall Jim giving me that document, and so I'm

        33       unable to say for sure if that was intended to be a note to

        34       me or he was just referring to me.

        35

        36       Q.   So the arrow pointing to the name "Jess" and the note

        37       at the bottom of the page addressed to somebody called

        38       "Jess" are not to be taken to be references to you?

        39       A.   I think they are references to me.  I don't recall

        40       ever seeing that handwriting on that document before today.

        41

        42       Q.   Do you recall in 2003 being involved in the hunt for

        43       the covering note?

        44       A.   I don't recall, no.

        45

        46       Q.   Do you recall Mr Long or anybody else whose first

        47       initial is M pressing you to have an issue to do with
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         1       either the memorandum or the covering note resolved?

         2       A.   I don't, no.

         3

         4       Q.   It seems that whoever it was went to Mr Cooper, and

         5       that Mr Cooper has passed on the inquiry to somebody called

         6       Jess.  Were there any other Jesses or Jessicas in the legal

         7       section at AWB at that time?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document.  It is AWB.0278.0019.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #1029 PAGE OF EMAILS BETWEEN PETER GEARY AND

        13       MICHAEL LONG, BARCODED AWB.0278.0019

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In your statement, if we could go back to

        16       that, at paragraph 37, WST.0043.0005, you refer to

        17       Mr Geary's email, which you say you recall receiving from

        18       him, or from his secretary, "saying that Peter had sent a

        19       note up to Andrew Lindberg about the iron filings matter

        20       and asked for a meeting to be arranged with Andrew, at

        21       which I was to be involved".  So you recall receiving the

        22       email.  Do you recall going to the meeting?

        23       A.   The meeting with Andrew Lindberg?

        24

        25       Q.   Yes.

        26       A.   I don't believe I did go to a meeting with Andrew

        27       Lindberg.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you know if there was one which was conducted in

        30       your absence?

        31       A.   I don't.

        32

        33       Q.   Then you go on to deal with the memo of 7 February

        34       2003, and you say over the page that you do not recall

        35       seeing this memorandum before January 2006.  You don't

        36       believe you received it on 7 February, and you explain why

        37       in paragraph 42, which was in substance that you were

        38       working from home every Friday from early February 2003.

        39       A.   That's right.

        40

        41       Q.   If someone at AWB had addressed a memo to you dated

        42       7 February 2003, and it had been sent around to your office

        43       on or about that day, which was a Friday, and you were away

        44       in accordance with your arrangement, would you not expect

        45       that memo to be sitting in your in-tray or on your desk

        46       when you returned to work on the Monday, 11 February?

        47       A.   At this particular time, I would not have expected
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         1       that, no.

         2

         3       Q.   Why is that?

         4       A.   Because I had some personal issues at the time with a

         5       family member who was very ill, and at this particular time

         6       if the memo - if something was addressed to another member

         7       of the legal team, then it would be dealt with by that

         8       member of the legal team and there was - the people in the

         9       legal team were trying not to give me additional work at

        10       this particular period.

        11

        12       Q.   So if a memo at that time had come around with your

        13       name on it and, say, Mr Cooper's name on it, you would have

        14       expected Mr Cooper to have picked it up and dealt with it?

        15       A.   I do.  I did, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Just so that we are all sure which memo we're talking

        18       about, can we bring up, please, an annexure to your

        19       statement; perhaps we will work from that.  Can we bring

        20       up, please, WST.0043.0028.  From where did you obtain that

        21       document?  You describe it in your statement as being a

        22       copy of the memorandum dated 7 February "with my name

        23       highlighted on the document is attached and marked H".

        24       This is the document which is attachment H to your

        25       statement.  Where did it come from?

        26       A.   I believe in the context of my affidavit material

        27       prepared for the Federal Court proceeding I was asked to

        28       look at that document by Arnold Bloch Leibler.

        29

        30       Q.   So somebody produced to you a photocopy or an original

        31       document which showed that your name was highlighted?

        32       A.   I  have not seen an original, but a photocopy was

        33       shown to me, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   And if we look at this document, we can see, through a

        36       smudge mark at the top, what appears to be "J Lyons"?

        37       A.   That's right.

        38

        39       Q.   That's a reference to you?

        40       A.   Yes, it is.

        41

        42       Q.   And the smudge mark bears all the resemblance of a

        43       photocopy of a highlighting in dark colour?

        44       A.   I would assume so.

        45

        46       Q.   And do you say that the first time you saw any

        47       iteration, any version of this document, was during the
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         1       course of your representation for the Federal Court

         2       proceedings?

         3       A.   No, I saw it one time before that.

         4

         5       Q.   Is that the occasion that you refer to in your

         6       statement, when you say you do not recall seeing this

         7       memorandum before January 2006?

         8       A.   That's right.

         9

        10       Q.   And in January of 2006, then, do we take it that you

        11       do have a recollection of seeing a version of this

        12       document?

        13       A.   I do believe I saw it in January 2006.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you see the same document or a photocopy of that

        16       document that we see as the annexure to your statement

        17       in January 2006?

        18       A.   I can't be 100 per cent sure it was the same copy, but

        19       I think it was.

        20

        21       Q.   With your name on it?

        22       A.   I think so.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Your name's smudged - highlighted?

        25       A.   Yes, I think so.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You would remember it, wouldn't you, if it

        28       had your name on it?

        29       A.   I believe it was the same copy.

        30

        31       Q.   And you say that you have only seen, in effect, one

        32       iteration, or one version, of this document, for the first

        33       time in January 2006, and that you saw another copy but of

        34       the same version in preparation for the Federal Court

        35       proceedings?

        36       A.   No, I actually believe that I may have seen a number

        37       of versions of this in January 2006, including one that

        38       would have had my name highlighted.  I may also have seen a

        39       copy with Jim Cooper's name highlighted.

        40

        41       Q.   Any other versions?

        42       A.   Not that I can recall.

        43

        44       Q.   Can I just deal with this concept of versions or

        45       iterations:  in January of 2006 the copies of this document

        46       that you saw, were they all like this one - two and a half

        47       pages with the last page having a place for Michael Long to
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         1       sign above the word "Recommended" and for Mr Geary to sign

         2       above the word "Approved"?

         3       A.   No, I believe very recently, in the course of the

         4       Federal Court proceedings, I've seen quite a number of

         5       versions of this document.

         6

         7       Q.   In a different form?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   So the document as it were in various stages of

        11       preparation?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   But you saw those for the first time in connection

        15       with your preparation for the Federal Court proceedings?

        16       A.   That's right.

        17

        18       Q.   I was asking you about January 2006.

        19       A.   Sorry.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you see, as it were, a collection of these

        22       documents in preparation in January of 2006, or did you

        23       just see copies which were facsimile copies of what you

        24       have annexed to your statement?

        25       A.   I believe in January 2006 the versions I would have

        26       seen would have been very similar to this version.

        27

        28       Q.   I want to try and assist your recollection now.  Could

        29       we bring up, please, exhibit 306, which is AWB.0129.0217.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Is this a convenient time to take morning tea,

        32       Mr Commissioner?  I will be a little time on this issue and

        33       it is perhaps best if I don't interrupt it.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn for 10 minutes.

        36

        37       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Do you have up on the screen in front of

        40       you, Ms Lyons, a document headed "AWB Limited Memorandum"

        41       to Peter Geary?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you see any of your handwriting on the document?

        45       A.   I believe that is my handwriting, yes, or at least

        46       some of it is.

        47
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         1       Q.   Could you assist by identifying which is your

         2       handwriting?

         3       A.   The top right corner, which says "Josh:- 2438",

         4       I believe that is, and I believe also would be "Timeframe",

         5       down the bottom, "urgent - tomorrow (12.30)", and I can't

         6       actually see down any lower than that.

         7

         8       Q.   Can we scroll it a little higher?

         9       A.   I can't actually see what is down there.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It looks like "Res 661".

        12       A.   That could also be, but I can't actually be sure.  But

        13       it could be.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What about in the right-hand margin

        16       alongside "UN", the words "oil for food" - is that yours?

        17       A.   It doesn't actually look like mine, no.  I can't be

        18       certain about that, but given all the rest of the

        19       handwriting is, it could be.

        20

        21       Q.   Can I ask you who was Josh?

        22       A.   I think that would be referring to Josh Roberts, who

        23       was at this time - 2003 - I think it's Josh Roberts, but

        24       I'm not certain what position he would have held at that

        25       time.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Was he employed by AWB?

        28       A.   Yes, he was.

        29

        30       Q.   Otherwise than in the legal branch?

        31       A.   Not in the legal team, no.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, what can you tell us about the

        34       circumstances in which your handwriting comes to be on that

        35       document?

        36       A.   That's the first time I can recall seeing that

        37       handwriting in that document today, so I can't - I have

        38       absolutely no recollection of it.

        39

        40       Q.   So you can't say anything about how you came to write

        41       on that document?

        42       A.   I can't.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you see the bottom "Timeframe:- urgent:- tomorrow

        45       (12.30)" with an arrow?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Would it seem to indicate that you were given this

         2       document so that you might do something based upon it

         3       within a time frame which was limited because it was urgent

         4       and was due tomorrow, the next day?

         5       A.   I think that's a reasonable interpretation.

         6

         7       Q.   I might try and assist you with your recollection.

         8       Can we bring up, please, exhibit 491.  This is an edited

         9       document, edited to remove material over which there is a

        10       claim for legal professional privilege.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   When you say "this", which document?

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   This exhibit, exhibit 491, which I am asking to

        15       have brought up.  I just wonder whether we can be sure that

        16       what comes up is a redacted copy of a document.  I suspect

        17       that the number is AWB.5016.0093_R.

        18

        19       Q.   Here is an exhibit.  The inquiry understands that this

        20       exhibit has been edited to remove your iron filings advice

        21       of 24 January 2003.  That is why the bottom half of the

        22       first page, except for the barcode number, is blank, and

        23       why the second page is blank but for the sign-off by you.

        24       Can you confirm that?

        25       A.   Sorry, confirm?

        26

        27       Q.   Can you confirm that what has been redacted or edited

        28       from this document is your iron filings advice?

        29       A.   Yes, I think that's right.

        30

        31       Q.   You will see, though, from that which has not been

        32       edited out, that you sent an email to Mr Whitwell on

        33       24 January 2003 at 1.20pm, you copied it to Mr Cooper, it

        34       was on the subject of iron filings, and in speaking to

        35       Mr Whitwell in this email you said:

        36

        37            As discussed here is some suggested text

        38            for your memo.

        39

        40       That means, does it not, that you were aware that he was

        41       preparing a memorandum and that you were providing text to

        42       be included in his memorandum?

        43       A.   Yes.  I think that's right.

        44

        45       Q.   You will see that four minutes after you sent it to

        46       him, he passed it on to David Johnson?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   He has forwarded your email containing your suggested

         3       text for his, Mr Whitwell's, memo?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   If we go back to exhibit 306, at AWB.0129.0217,

         7       Mr Cooper has also identified the handwriting on this

         8       document as yours, at transcript 3191.  I only tell you

         9       that to give you confidence in your evidence where you

        10       identified your own handwriting on the document.  Did you

        11       receive a copy of this memo from Mr Whitwell and make those

        12       markings on it, "Timeframe:- urgent:- tomorrow", prior to

        13       the provision of your advice, and is this the memo to which

        14       you were referring when you sent your email on 24 January

        15       2003?

        16       A.   Whilst I have no specific recollection, I think it is

        17       reasonable to assume that.

        18

        19       Q.   And that, in effect, this memo provided the context in

        20       which you expected your advice to appear?

        21       A.   I couldn't be sure of that.  I wouldn't be sure

        22       whether this was going to be the same memo in which my

        23       advice would eventually appear.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But you said "here is some

        26       suggested text for your memo"?

        27       A.   Yes, but what I can't be sure of is, if this time

        28       frame says I need to provide advice urgent tomorrow,

        29       whether sequentially this memo would then be the one in

        30       which my advice would be contained after I provided it.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, what we know - and the little that

        33       we do know - from the documents for which there is a claim

        34       for privilege is that on 22 January 2003 you have recorded

        35       a file note of an attendance upon Chris Whitwell regarding

        36       iron filings --

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   -- in which you record a conversation obtaining

        40       instructions in relation to the alleged iron filings

        41       contamination claim - that's on 22 January - and on

        42       23 January, the next day, you received an email from Hazel

        43       Brasington providing a legal opinion on UN resolutions 661

        44       and 986, and attaching UN resolutions 1447, 661 and 986.

        45       So we know that those events occurred on 22 and 23 January

        46       respectively, and we know that on 24 January you emailed

        47       Mr Whitwell in relation to the iron filings matter
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         1       providing your opinion on the IGB iron filing claim request

         2       for compensation and UN Resolution 661.  That's evidence

         3       that you have given earlier today.  It would seem, then,

         4       that your email of 24 January 2003 at 13:20 hours is indeed

         5       your email enclosing your advice, you having received that

         6       which you were expecting from Hazel Brasington?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   And it seems that when you provided it to Mr Whitwell

        10       you were providing it on the basis that it was suggested

        11       text for a memo of his?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Mr Whitwell has told us that he drafted this memo.

        15       There is no doubt about the authorship of exhibit 306 -

        16       that's the one that you saw on the screen a few moments

        17       ago - and we see your handwriting on it, marked "Time

        18       frame:- urgent:- tomorrow".  And we know, don't we, that

        19       the only contact you had with this memo, aside from

        20       physical contact and writing on it at some time, was to

        21       provide some legal advice?

        22       A.   That sounds right to me, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   On the basis of all of those facts, ought we not

        25       necessarily draw the conclusion that you had a copy of this

        26       memo to assist you in the preparation of the legal advice

        27       that you provided?

        28       A.   Whilst I can't remember, I think that's a reasonable

        29       conclusion.

        30

        31       Q.   And that it was in that connection that you made the

        32       handwritten notes on the document?

        33       A.   That could be right, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   It would follow that you saw, then, a copy of this

        36       memo in this form - no doubt the original of the one which

        37       is on the screen with your handwriting - on or about 22 or

        38       23 January 2003?

        39       A.   Again, whilst I can't remember, I think it's

        40       reasonable to assume that.

        41

        42       Q.   You would then have observed, would you not, that the

        43       memo dealt with two particular matters - that it was in

        44       respect of refunding the Grain Board of Iraq a quality

        45       rebate of approximately US$2m through the inland transport

        46       payments for the new contract as requested by an Iraqi

        47       minister, and that it also dealt with the recording of an
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         1       agreement that AWB would be paid US$500,000 by Tigris

         2       Petroleum for negotiating the recovery of an outstanding

         3       debt to Tigris by IGB through that same contract?

         4       A.   As I said, I don't recall reading it, but I can see

         5       that that's what that memorandum says.

         6

         7       Q.   But you agree that you must have read it if you had

         8       access to this document prior to providing your legal

         9       advice?

        10       A.   Yes, I have to assume that, because I've put

        11       handwritten notes on it.

        12

        13       Q.   You will see halfway down the document that there were

        14       options suggested as to how it might be that the Tigris

        15       debt could be dealt with --

        16       A.   Sorry --

        17

        18       Q.   -- in connection with the iron filings claim,

        19       offsetting the debt against the outstanding debt to Tigris

        20       of approximately US$8.35m, reducing the new contract price

        21       by the amount of the rebate on a per metric tonne basis, or

        22       repaying the debt of $2.016m through the provision of aid?

        23       A.   I don't know whether those are options relating to

        24       Tigris or to - I'm unsure.

        25

        26       Q.   Well, the first relates to Tigris and the iron filings

        27       claim, doesn't it - offsetting the debt against the

        28       outstanding debt to Tigris?

        29       A.   I can't be sure that was the - that looks like a

        30       reasonable assumption to make, but I don't recall reading

        31       that particular part of the memo, but I think that's

        32       reasonable.

        33

        34       Q.   Reducing any new contract price by the amount of the

        35       rebate - in other words, in relation to the new contract

        36       that is spoken of in the first paragraph, simply reducing

        37       the cost of the wheat in that contract so as to extinguish

        38       the $2.016m iron filings claim?

        39       A.   That seems right, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   And then the third alternative, repaying the debt

        42       through the provision of aid in some form, either, it

        43       seems, by giving free wheat or free health supplies to the

        44       value of $2.016m.  You will see in the next paragraph that

        45       there is a reference to the minister continually insisting

        46       on a direct repayment as an addition to the inland

        47       transport, and that the minister had said that, on his
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         1       understanding, this was the agreement that he had had with

         2       Andrew Lindberg and that Michael Long had confirmed that

         3       this was discussed.  Then the document sets out the issues.

         4       You will see in the issues:

         5

         6            Possible implications for AWB on a

         7            corporate governance basis ie/direct

         8            payment to a company with links to the

         9            Iraqi regime may be construed to be in

        10            contravention of the UN Sanctions.  Legals

        11            opinion???

        12

        13       That's what you understood the legal opinion that you were

        14       going to draft was to address, was it not?

        15       A.   I don't recall that, no.  I believe my instructions

        16       for advice were given by Chris Whitwell in a meeting, of

        17       which I have a file note.

        18

        19       Q.   And the second point under the heading "Issues":

        20

        21            According to DFAT any repayment of a

        22            quality rebate should be either re-payed

        23            through UN ESCROW account or as a contract

        24            price reduction but there is no clear UN

        25            protocol for debt repayment ... It is a

        26            grey area we would ideally not like to

        27            test.  D Hockey's opinion.

        28

        29       Did you read that?

        30       A.   Yes.  I can see that.

        31

        32       Q.   That was the advice that the Commissioner was

        33       referring to earlier that AWB had obtained in November of

        34       the previous year.  I won't read the rest.  Having seen

        35       that document in the context in which you have seen it,

        36       does that not mean that you would need to change your

        37       evidence to say that it's most likely that you saw a

        38       version of the 7 February memorandum?

        39       A.   I said I don't recall seeing this memorandum

        40       before January 2006, and I would have to say that that's

        41       still correct.  I don't recall seeing this, although

        42       I agree with you, that is my handwriting, but I still have

        43       no independent recollection of seeing this.

        44

        45       Q.   Would you not now say that it is most likely that you

        46       did see this document --

        47       A.   Yes, it is.
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         1

         2       Q.   -- before you provided your legal advice?

         3       A.   Yes, it is.

         4

         5       Q.   And in that same connection - that is, in connection

         6       with the provision of your legal advice?

         7       A.   I can't recall whether it was in connection with, but

         8       I agree it does appear that I saw it.

         9

        10       Q.   Before you provided your legal advice?

        11       A.   I can't be certain of that.

        12

        13       Q.   But it is most likely, is it not?

        14       A.   I just can't recall whether I saw this before

        15       providing the advice.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I'm not quite sure I understand

        18       that.  I thought Mr Whitwell had said he went to you for

        19       advice.  We've got a document here which you plainly

        20       received because you wrote on it, and the next day you gave

        21       some advice?

        22       A.   But I have a file note of a discussion with Chris

        23       Whitwell which --

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that a document in respect of which

        26       there is a privilege claim?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which document is that?

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   That's the top part of the one that was put up

        33       on the screen, exhibit 412.  I will give you the number.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   We believe it is document 30, and that it

        36       relates to paragraph 20 of the witness's statement.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Yes, document 30.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   It is the portion that has been removed from

        43       exhibit 412.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        46

        47       MR CLELLAND:   Can that just be confirmed with the witness,
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         1       please, Commissioner?

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   What is it that you want confirmed?

         4

         5       MR CLELLAND:   I just want to make sure that the witness is

         6       agreeing and that we're all talking about the same

         7       document.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I'm happy to do that.

        10

        11       Q.   I will show you, Ms Lyons, a copy of the list that was

        12       provided to the inquiry --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   And perhaps also a copy of what is

        15       exhibit 412.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And a copy of what the inquiry has as

        18       exhibit 412.  Would you agree that that which is referred

        19       to as document 30 is that which has been edited out of

        20       exhibit 412?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   I will withdraw that.  I see your point.  What has

        24       been edited out of exhibit 412 is the notes of your meeting

        25       with Mr Whitwell after you had provided the iron filings

        26       advice; is that right?

        27       A.   That's right.

        28

        29       Q.   That is document 30?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   It couldn't be, because this is the

        33       22nd.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   The best person to answer this question is

        36       Mr Judd.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Document 41 seems to be the appropriate one.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   As we have document 30, it refers to a

        41       handwritten note of Jessica Lyons entitled "Attendance

        42       Chris Whitwell re iron filings", recording conversation

        43       between Jessica Lyons and Chris Whitwell obtaining

        44       instructions in relation to the alleged iron filings

        45       contamination claim.  Now, that, as I understood it, was a

        46       note of her conference with Mr Whitwell at which time she

        47       obtained instructions two days before she provided her
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         1       legal advice.  Am I wrong in that?

         2

         3       Q.   Can you confirm that?

         4       A.   That's correct.

         5

         6       Q.   And then after you had provided your legal advice --

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Document 41 is of 20 February, a month

         9       later.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   After you had provided your legal advice,

        12       you met with Mr Whitwell and Mr Long and that meeting was a

        13       meeting at which you took notes.  There has been a claim

        14       for privilege in relation to the notes of that meeting, and

        15       they are the notes that have been edited out of exhibit

        16       412?

        17       A.   That's right.

        18

        19       MR CLELLAND:   Thank you, Commissioner.  That's what

        20       I wanted clarified.  It is a difficult enough process being

        21       a witness, without having documents misdescribed.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we go then to the memorandum of

        24       7 February, a copy of which is annexed to your statement at

        25       WST.0043.0028.  It is annexure H to your statement.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think I will mark that as a separate

        28       exhibit.

        29

        30       EXHIBIT #1030 ANNEXURE H TO MS LYONS' STATEMENT,

        31       BARCODED WST.0043.0028

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You said earlier that you had seen

        34       in January of 2006 a version of this document which was

        35       exactly like the one that is annexed to your statement - in

        36       other words, which gives all the appearance that on a copy

        37       of this document there had been highlighted your name?

        38       A.   That's right.

        39

        40       Q.   I thought you said as well that you saw another

        41       version of the document at that same time which appeared to

        42       bear a mark indicating that Mr Cooper's name had been

        43       highlighted?

        44       A.   I - yeah, I believe I did.  I can't specifically

        45       recall, but I believe there was also a copy with Jim

        46       Cooper's name highlighted.

        47
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         1       Q.   And you said that because of the personal

         2       circumstances that I don't want to go into it would be

         3       likely, in February of 2003, if a memo came around on a

         4       Friday when you were away which was addressed to you as

         5       well as being addressed to another person from AWB Legal,

         6       the practice was that that other person would deal with the

         7       matter?

         8       A.   I don't believe it was the practice, more in this

         9       particular circumstance --

        10

        11       Q.   Yes?

        12       A.   -- I believe that would have occurred, yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Well, if there were two versions of this document

        15       which were identical but for the fact that one of them had

        16       highlighting over your name and another had highlighting

        17       over Mr Cooper's name, and they were both sent down to AWB

        18       Legal, wouldn't you have expected that the copy with your

        19       name highlighted would sit on your desk --

        20       A.   No.

        21

        22       Q.   -- and that somebody else in AWB Legal would deal with

        23       the matter acting upon Mr Cooper's copy?

        24       A.   In this case, not necessarily, no.

        25

        26       Q.   In relation to this document, you were the person who

        27       had provided the advice that was cut into this document,

        28       were you not?

        29       A.   Yes, I was.

        30

        31       Q.   Wouldn't it be likely in those circumstances that a

        32       copy of this document, if it was sent down highlighted with

        33       your name on it, would have at least been left on your desk

        34       for your information, so that you would know about it when

        35       you came back to work, whenever that was?

        36       A.   In this particular case, I don't believe that would

        37       have occurred, no.

        38

        39       Q.   Why not?

        40       A.   Because at the time the legal team was directed by Jim

        41       not to give me additional work but rather to give me less

        42       work.  If Jim had have read this, I believe, at the time

        43       and seen that there was no action item required, it would

        44       have been filed.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, he might have filed his copy, why would he file

        47       your copy in a way that you wouldn't see it?
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         1       A.   I don't believe I saw a copy of this memorandum, and

         2       it is not my recollection, and that's the best I can assist

         3       the Commission, is at the time I don't believe it was left

         4       with me after that date.

         5

         6       Q.   Which parts of this document did you author?

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, that will naturally encroach on an

         9       issue before the court.  It will encroach on an issue which

        10       is before the court to ask this witness which parts of the

        11       document she authored.  It will lead to a comparison

        12       between that which is contained in the document - that is,

        13       the memorandum prepared by Mr Whitwell - and her advice,

        14       and that is one of the very tasks, at our invitation, that

        15       the judge will undertake himself, to decide if waiver is

        16       made out.

        17

        18            One thing the Commonwealth didn't do is cross-examine

        19       this witness.  They elected not to - not to go into the

        20       area that might well give rise to a comparison, which they

        21       might have done even without access to the documents.  So

        22       what the court is left with --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you say that again?  They could

        25       have cross-examined without access to the documents?

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   Of course they could.  They could have

        28       cross-examined in relation to the content --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Of a document they hadn't seen?

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Of this document.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   They had the whole document?

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   This document was one that was made available

        37       once it was no longer pressed, and they chose not to.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   So they had this document?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   They had this document.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   They did not have the advice?

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do you say they did not do?
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   They did not cross-examine or test this

         3       witness's evidence about the relationship between the

         4       advice prepared by her and what is contained in the

         5       document.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   And what is the consequence of that?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   The consequence of that is that the Commonwealth

        10       did not raise an issue of waiver, we did, with the trial

        11       judge as being a matter that might arise because of the

        12       exposure of this document - that is, the one on the screen.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   So you raised with the Federal Court

        15       whether a document, namely this lady's advice for which you

        16       were claiming privilege, may have been waived.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Yes.  The claim may not be sustained because of

        19       the publication of this document.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   But you raised that, did you?

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   We raised that in an exchange between the judge

        24       and ourselves, and of course we had contentions as to why

        25       that would not be, but, nevertheless, that is an issue

        26       which I have no doubt his Honour will address.

        27

        28            The point I make is it was not an issue that was

        29       contended for by the Commonwealth, but it is, as we

        30       understand, a live issue before his Honour, because it

        31       seemed to us logical that it arose as an issue for

        32       consideration once this document was exposed; that is, once

        33       this particular exhibit was exposed.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   So what is your objection now?

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   That the examination by Mr Agius of this witness

        38       about her contribution to this document is very likely to

        39       expose the link, if there be a link, between what is

        40       contained in it and her advice, what the differences are,

        41       and traverses the very issue before the Federal Court, or

        42       one of the very issues, in relation to the advice for which

        43       a claim persists.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure I understand that.

        46       I should have thought if a person had the advice in one

        47       hand and this document in the other, you would put the two
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         1       together and see if they were the same.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   That's a matter that the trial judge will no

         4       doubt do.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Sure.  So I don't quite understand the

         7       objection now.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Well, it is made - I don't know that I can

        10       explain it any more clearly than this:  the questions that

        11       Mr Agius seems intent on asking --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   This lady has said she gave advice.  It

        14       is in a document.  I haven't seen it, the judge has got it.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   We have this document here --

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   -- which the judge has and I have.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   The point you want to make is that

        27       because of this document in my right hand, that may or may

        28       not - you say not - lead to a waiver of the advice; is that

        29       right?

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   That's correct.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   So there is no doubt, on anyone's view,

        34       that this lady gave advice, and there is no doubt, because

        35       she has told us today, that some of it is in here.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   No, I don't think that's her evidence.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought she said she prepared a thing

        40       for inclusion in Mr Whitwell's memorandum.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   That's correct.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   This seems to be Mr Whitwell's

        45       memorandum.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Yes.  There is another step that is missing, and
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         1       the issue is whether the questions that are asked of her

         2       will expose the extent to which her contribution is found

         3       in this document, and the differences that might exist

         4       between what is found in this document that might be

         5       characterised as legal advice and what in truth the legal

         6       advice was.  That is a matter that is presently under

         7       consideration by his Honour.

         8

         9            Now, if and when - or, rather, when - the Federal

        10       Court hands down its decision in relation to these claims,

        11       the position will be, we would have thought, clear.  This

        12       evidence can then proceed uninhibited by extant and

        13       unresolved claims.  In a sense, one of the problems that we

        14       are confronting here is that these hearings, as a result of

        15       the timing of them, are being conducted before that event

        16       has occurred.  Now, that may be something that can't be

        17       helped, but the fact is that we are here and the issue is

        18       unresolved in the Federal Court.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  What do you say, Mr Agius?

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   We are not endeavouring to discover the content

        23       of the document over which there has been a claim for

        24       privilege.  There is a claim for privilege in relation to a

        25       document and a content.  I'm not asking what is in that

        26       document.  I don't want to know what is in that document.

        27       It may be what is in here, it may be all of what is in

        28       here, it may be more than what is in here.  What is in that

        29       document will abide the decision of the Federal Court.

        30       I want to know whether or not this witness was the author

        31       of any of the material in this document, which is a

        32       different matter, because there is no claim for privilege

        33       over this document, and, as I understand it, there is yet

        34       to be articulated any claim for privilege over any parts of

        35       this document.  So that's a separate question to whether or

        36       not the legal advice provided by this witness was legally

        37       professionally privileged after this advice was made

        38       public.  That's a matter to be decided in the Federal

        39       Court.

        40

        41            I will not learn the contents of her legal advice in

        42       the document over which there is privilege, I will not have

        43       access to that document, if she says "Yes, I wrote the

        44       words in the first five paragraphs on page 2 ", or whatever

        45       it is that she can say.  I will not take the matter beyond

        46       that.

        47
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         1            I should indicate that the witness has already said,

         2       without objection - she gave this answer to this question:

         3

         4            Q.  In relation to this document you were

         5            the person who had provided the advice that

         6            was cut into this document, were you not.

         7

         8       And her answer was yes, she was.  So she has in fact filled

         9       in the gap that my learned friend says exists.

        10

        11            In view of the nature of the issue, I am content to

        12       leave this issue as it is, not because, with great respect

        13       to my friend, I think that the point is right, but it seems

        14       to me that if you were to rule on the point there is a risk

        15       that the matter might go somewhere else and be not able to

        16       be resolved today in any event, Mr Commissioner.  I don't

        17       want that situation.  It is easier for us to bring this

        18       witness back after the judgment of the Federal Court.  If

        19       we need to run the issue then, if the document is held to

        20       be privileged and we do need to run this separate and what

        21       I contend is a discrete issue here, we can do it then.  If

        22       the document is held not to be privileged and the advice is

        23       available, then no issue will arise and we can proceed with

        24       the examination.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, we will proceed on that basis.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I will formally withdraw the question that

        29       I asked.

        30

        31       Q.   You are not required to answer that, Ms Lyons, at this

        32       time.  Can I ask you to assist us with another document.

        33       This is a document that was provided to the inquiry by AWB

        34       in the last two weeks as one document in a number of

        35       volumes of documents over which it was said there was no

        36       longer a claim for privilege.  I believe it is document 28

        37       in the list, but that is immaterial.  I am simply flagging

        38       that, so far as we are concerned, it is a document for

        39       which we understand there is no privilege claimed.  It is

        40       AWB.8001.0008.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   Yes, the claim was not pressed in relation to

        43       that document.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is a document recording legal

        46       advice given by AWB internal lawyer; is that the one?

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Yes, document 28.  It is a draft of a memorandum

         2       from Chris Whitwell to Peter Geary with handwritten

         3       annotations.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   I just wonder if my friend would confirm that

         6       the document on the screen is a document in respect of

         7       which there is no claim for privilege.  It was on that

         8       basis that it was provided to us.  This is another version

         9       of the 10 January '03 memorandum.  I will tender it as a

        10       public exhibit.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   What is the reference to it?

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   AWB.8001.0008 through to 0010.  It is a

        15       three-page document.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #1031 AWB LIMITED MEMORANDUM TO PETER GEARY FROM

        18       CHRIS WHITWELL, BARCODED AWB.8001.0008-0010

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Lyons, it appears to be an earlier

        21       version of annexure H to your statement.  Would you look at

        22       the first page.  Is any of that handwriting yours?

        23       A.   No, it is not.

        24

        25       Q.   Do you recognise it?

        26       A.   No, I don't.

        27

        28       Q.   If you go to the second page, 0009, you will see that

        29       there is a box marked over some of the script on that

        30       page in thick black marker.  In the top right-hand corner

        31       there is a reference to "LPP"?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   That was a portion of this document over which there

        35       was, until about two weeks ago, a claim for privilege,

        36       which has now been waived or not pressed.  Within that box

        37       is some handwriting and a bracket.  The handwriting reads:

        38

        39            AWB legal opinion is:

        40

        41       Is that your handwriting?

        42       A.   No, it's not.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Whose is it?

        45       A.   I'm not sure.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you say you are not sure?
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         1       A.   I don't know.

         2

         3       Q.   What about the handwriting at the bottom of the page?

         4       A.   I don't know whose handwriting that is.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did anybody within AWB give a

         7       legal opinion about the iron filings claim apart from you?

         8       A.   Not that I'm aware, no.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go to the next page --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, if that's the case, why

        13       shouldn't I assume that that which is in the box called LPP

        14       is this lady's advice?

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   That may not be a fair assumption?

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why not?  She is the only person who

        19       gave advice.  This document says "AWB legal opinion is".

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   It depends on what is lost in the translation.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   There is no evidence that anything has been

        24       lost.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite the opposite.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   And that is a matter that will be addressed by

        29       the Federal Court in comparing the two documents.  The mere

        30       fact that this is described by somebody as AWB's legal

        31       opinion does not necessarily attribute that character to it

        32       which you, Commissioner, have done as being the opinion of

        33       this witness.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   But we have seen I think elsewhere,

        36       have we not, other iterations of this document?

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Yes, we have.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:  Including the typed words, not in

        41       anyone's handwriting, in respect of which legal

        42       professional privilege is not claimed.  The words are "AWB

        43       legal opinion in this regard is set out below".  I think

        44       that is found in a document signed by Mr Long.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   It is also found in the exhibit, an annexure to

         2       this witness's statement, 1030.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   If that is right and there is

         5       thereafter set out what some might think was a legal

         6       opinion, and if this lady says she is the only person who

         7       gave the legal opinion, why would it be wrong to draw the

         8       inference that what is set out is hers?

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   In the absence of other evidence, and in the

        11       absence of an issue in the Federal Court, it would be

        12       difficult to contend that that inference were not open.

        13       The difficulty is that first of all there is an issue there

        14       in the Federal Court.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   But how does that reflect on my drawing

        17       an inference from documents before me in respect of which

        18       no claim for privilege is made?

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   You, Commissioner, are entitled to draw whatever

        21       inferences can properly be drawn from a document.  The only

        22       reason I stood before to object was to raise our concern at

        23       there being a line of examination which might have the

        24       effect of exposing her advice for which an extant claim is

        25       made.

        26

        27            Now, that is not being pursued, but if you,

        28       Commissioner, wish to draw an inference in relation to this

        29       particular document in the absence of evidence about it

        30       from the author, and in the absence of examination --

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   You mean the document with the

        33       handwritten note "AWB legal opinion is"?

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I referred you to another document,

        38       which has a typed version signed by Mr Long, which says

        39       "AWB legal opinion in this regard as set out below".

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   That's exhibit 32.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That's what I'm dealing with.

        44       I am not dealing with this document on the screen, I am

        45       dealing with exhibit 32.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Whichever one looks at, the point remains the
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         1       same.  This document is one that has been prepared by, as

         2       we understand, Mr Whitwell.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   Because there was a claim of privilege made in

         7       relation to this passage, Mr Whitwell wasn't examined in

         8       relation to it.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   No.  That claim for privilege has now

        11       been abandoned.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   It has.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   And so we have the document prepared by

        16       Mr Whitwell, signed by Mr Long, which, in typing, says "AWB

        17       legal opinion in this regard is set out below", set out

        18       below are three points which might be regarded as legal

        19       opinion, and this lady says she is the only one who gave

        20       one.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   That's true.  If the Commission --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   It seems to me it has absolutely

        25       nothing to do with the matter in the Federal Court.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   If that is the view the Commission takes, so be

        28       it.  We felt it our obligation to rise and explain what we

        29       saw as the risk.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, but do you maintain that position

        32       in the light of what I have put to you?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   What position, I am sorry, Commissioner?

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   The position that there should now not

        37       be examination of this witness on the basis of exhibit 32,

        38       which contains the typed statement "The following is the

        39       legal opinion", and this is the only lady who gave one?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   So long as the examination doesn't tend to

        42       expose her advice.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   But we know - it says so.  It says "AWB

        45       legal opinion is set out below".

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   That's because somebody else wrote it there,
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         1       with respect, Commissioner.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  We also know, Mr Judd, that this

         4       document containing that typed material was signed by

         5       Mr Long as being correct, was signed by Mr Geary as being

         6       correct, and it went up to Mr Lindberg as being correct.

         7       And now you are suggesting that I should not have regard to

         8       the words which all those people thought were correct, "AWB

         9       legal opinion in this regard is set out below."  That, with

        10       great respect, seems to me quite fanciful.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:  Well, if the Commissioner thinks it is fanciful,

        13       obviously what I have been contending for doesn't resonate

        14       and I will resume my seat.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Yes, Mr Agius?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I think I have asked you about the

        19       handwriting on that page, 0009.  If we go to the next page,

        20       0010, you will see that there is another box on this

        21       page marked "LPP"?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Somebody has run a line through it and run an arrow

        25       from it to handwriting at the top of the page.  Is any of

        26       the writing connected to that box yours?

        27       A.   No, it is not.

        28

        29       Q.   Underneath the box somebody has written this:

        30

        31            In light of Managing Director's recent

        32            conversation with the Minister for Foreign

        33            Affairs regarding ISM Managing Director

        34            only conveys our intentions to the

        35            Australian Govt at the appropriate time

        36            prior to shipment.

        37

        38       And then I can't read the rest.  It looks like "after" and

        39       then a word beginning with "C".  I can't make it out.  Can

        40       you make out what appear to be the last two words?

        41       A.   No, I can't.

        42

        43       Q.   Now, did anybody ever discuss with you the timing at

        44       which the managing director ought to approach the

        45       Australian Government?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   Or the Minister for Foreign Affairs?

         2       A.   I'm sorry?

         3

         4       Q.   I will put the question slightly differently.  Did

         5       anybody from AWB ever discuss with you the timing of an

         6       approach to the Minister for Foreign Affairs?

         7       A.   No.

         8

         9       Q.   Do you know what the reference to "In the light of

        10       Managing Director's recent conversation with the Minister

        11       for Foreign Affairs regarding Iraq ISM" is a reference to?

        12       A.   No, I don't.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   I'm not sure.  Have I tendered AWB.8001.0010?

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   No.  You have tendered

        17       AWB.8001.0008-0010.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   That's exhibit 1031.  I want to go now to

        20       exhibit 32.  That is AWB.0188.0047.

        21

        22       Q.   If we could go to the last page, 0049, you will see in

        23       the second-last dot point:

        24

        25            Managing Director only to convey our

        26            intentions to the Australian Government at

        27            the appropriate time prior to Shipment.

        28            The timing of such a disclosure is

        29            important and we would recommend that

        30            nothing be done until at least Letters of

        31            Credit are in place for these contracts.

        32            Given that this is unlikely to happen until

        33            after a war with Iraq it may allow us a

        34            further chance of renegotiation with a new

        35            regime.

        36

        37       Following your conversation with Mr Geary - and we've seen

        38       a file note of yours in relation to that - did you have any

        39       further conversation with Mr Geary on the topic of the

        40       timing of an approach to the Australian Government?

        41       A.   No.

        42

        43       Q.   On the topic of whether or not such approach ought to

        44       take place not before at least letters of credit are in

        45       place?

        46       A.   No, not to my recollection, no.

        47
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         1       Q.   Please don't answer this question until my learned

         2       friend Mr Judd has had a chance to consider it:  does that

         3       second-last dot point which I have just read to you, and

         4       about which I have just asked you questions, contain any of

         5       your legal advice?

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   That might tend to disclose the advice.

         8       Commissioner, I have been looking at a number of documents

         9       while this examination has been going on, and I think over

        10       the lunch adjournment I would like the opportunity to get

        11       some instructions on this.  We don't want to unnecessarily

        12       inhibit the Commission's work, subject to proper claims

        13       being made, and it may well be a useful course if we have

        14       that opportunity.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, certainly.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   So, in the circumstances, although inconvenient

        19       to the witness, it may be that she will have to return

        20       after lunch, if she was ordinarily going to be finished

        21       before lunch.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I am indebted to my learned friend.

        24

        25       Q.   I will move on to a different topic entirely - perhaps

        26       not entirely, but certainly different documents.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would it be more convenient if I rose

        29       now and we started at 1.45?

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   It doesn't make any difference.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   It would be very convenient if you were to

        34       start at 2 o'clock.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, you can have 1 until 2 or 12.45

        37       until 1.45.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   It makes no difference from our point of view.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right, let's go on.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.  I want to ask you questions now about the

        44       Tigris matter.  You say in paragraph 51 of your statement -

        45       exhibit 1026, barcoded WST.0043.0007 - that on 12 March you

        46       received an email from Mr Whitwell attaching a draft

        47       agreement titled "Tigris Agreement", but you recall that he



            .23/8/2006 (70)            6958     J G LYONS (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       had asked you for a precedent.  You say that you don't

         2       recall him instructing you as to why or for what purpose he

         3       required the precedent or what sort of precedent he needed.

         4       If he didn't tell you what sort of precedent he needed, how

         5       would you know which sort of precedent to send him?  Why

         6       didn't you send him a precedent for a lease or for a

         7       charter party or for something quite unrelated to the kind

         8       of precedent that you did send him?

         9       A.   The language may be clumsy in that paragraph.  I was

        10       trying to convey that I don't recall what sort of precedent

        11       he needed.

        12

        13       Q.   Can we bring up, please, exhibit 317 - AWB.0293.0237.

        14       This is a public exhibit before the inquiry, an email from

        15       you to Mr Whitwell of 14 February 2003.  This is,

        16       coincidentally, three weeks after you provided the advice

        17       in relation to iron filings.  That would be, on the view of

        18       the facts which I have put to you, about three weeks after

        19       you first saw some version of the memorandum, which became

        20       the memorandum of 7 February and which was then dated

        21       10 January, that referred in terms to the Tigris matter.

        22       In this email, you say to Mr Whitwell:

        23

        24            ... this is a Deed of Release - so it won't

        25            exactly apply, but you will get the general

        26            idea:

        27            ie describe the circumstances of us making

        28            the payment ... etc.

        29            I will help you with the final doc.

        30

        31       It is apparent, isn't it, that this was the email that

        32       accompanied the precedent that you sent to Mr Whitwell?

        33       A.   It appears to be the case, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   You can refresh your recollection, can you not, from

        36       the email?

        37       A.   No, I don't recall that email at all.

        38

        39       Q.   You may not recall the email at all, but does not the

        40       email help you to recall the circumstances in which you

        41       came to send him the precedent?

        42       A.   No, it does not.

        43

        44       Q.   You sent him a precedent in circumstances where you

        45       were aware of AWB making a payment?

        46       A.   That appears to be what that email states, yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Not only is that what we can read for ourselves in the

         2       email, but that must be the circumstances in which you sent

         3       him the precedent; is that right?

         4       A.   That appears to be the case, yes, from the email.

         5       I don't have any independent recollection.

         6

         7       Q.   We have the precedent that you sent him; it is a

         8       confidential exhibit and we need not bring it up and take

         9       time with it.  It was a deed of release apparently prepared

        10       by another firm of solicitors.  Could we bring up, please,

        11       AWB.8001.0032.  This is a document for which there was

        12       previously a claim for privilege.  It was a document

        13       amongst many sent to us in the last two or three weeks, and

        14       in respect of which the claim was either waived or

        15       abandoned - or not pressed, I should say.  It is from

        16       Mr Whitwell to you of 12 March, subject "Tigris Agreement":

        17

        18            As discussed earlier plse find my first

        19            draft of the agreement which I carped from

        20            the draft you gave me.  I hope this helps

        21            give a scope to the agreement and will

        22            allow further clausing or a reworking of my

        23            work into a legal document.  Unfortunately

        24            they should be coming in next week to

        25            discuss.

        26            Plse call if you have any qs.

        27

        28       Then attached to that email was a Word document.  If we go

        29       to 0033 --

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   This document falls into the same category,

        32       Mr Commissioner, of a document over which there was a claim

        33       for privilege but which has either been waived or not

        34       pressed, which we received in the last few weeks.

        35

        36       Q.   This is the attachment to Mr Whitwell's agreement, and

        37       you will see in the top right-hand corner that he has cut

        38       and pasted his product on to a version of the precedent

        39       that you sent him, because it still bears the name of the

        40       solicitors who had provided the earlier precedent.  Do you

        41       agree that that is the email and the attachment that you

        42       received from Mr Whitwell?

        43       A.   I have no recollection of receiving that, but it does

        44       appear to be, yes.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will mark that exhibit 1032.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #1032 EMAIL AND ATTACHMENTS BARCODED

         2       AWB.8001.0032-0036

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You will see that Mr Whitwell has referred

         5       in the subject matter of his email to "Tigris Agreement",

         6       and he speaks of an earlier discussion.  He says:

         7

         8            As discussed earlier plse find my first

         9            draft of the agreement ...

        10

        11       It must follow, must it not, that you had an earlier

        12       discussion with him about the subject matter of the draft

        13       that he was preparing?

        14       A.   I don't have any recollection of that discussion, and

        15       I don't believe he provided me with any details, any

        16       specific details, other than what's recorded in my email of

        17       the payment, but I don't have an independent recollection

        18       of that discussion.

        19

        20       Q.   When you say what is recorded in your email, which

        21       email are you referring to?

        22       A.   The one that was just brought up before from me.

        23

        24       Q.   From you?

        25       A.   That said --

        26

        27       Q.   The one which provided your advice?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The one that said you would help

        31       him with the draft?

        32       A.   The one from me which I hadn't seen before, which

        33       attached --

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Which attached the precedent?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   That's exhibit 317.  Your email to Mr Whitwell

        39       enclosing the precedent was 14 February.  This is nearly a

        40       month later, on 12 March.  He speaks of a discussion with

        41       you and a provision of a draft agreement under the subject

        42       "Tigris Agreement".  You say you have no recollection of

        43       that?

        44       A.   Of the discussion?

        45

        46       Q.   Yes.

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you have any recollection of receiving his draft

         3       Tigris agreement?

         4       A.   I do not.

         5

         6       Q.   You have no recollection as to whether or not you read

         7       it, then?

         8       A.   I have no recollection of the specifics of this email,

         9       but I do - although the timing is difficult, I do recall

        10       Chris asking me to help him with an agreement, but I don't

        11       have - I don't know whether that was at this time or later.

        12       I do have a recollection of Chris asking me to help him

        13       with an agreement.

        14

        15       Q.   What the objective evidence would seem to be - and

        16       this is the electronically locked-in evidence, as it were -

        17       is that you sent Mr Whitwell a precedent knowing that he

        18       was going to have the first shot at drafting a document of

        19       legal effect referring to circumstances of AWB making a

        20       payment wherein you said you would help him with the final

        21       document?

        22       A.   I think that's fair, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   We know that from the document.

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   We know from his email to you that he sent you his

        28       first draft in relation to something called the Tigris

        29       agreement.  We know that it is likely that some time

        30       earlier, and in January of that year, you would have seen

        31       his memorandum which set out the circumstances referring to

        32       a payment or a proposed payment to AWB by Tigris and a

        33       recoupment of the debt from the IGB to Tigris with AWB's

        34       assistance.  And we see on the first page of his draft in

        35       the recitals a repetition of that material with the one

        36       difference, that being in recital D, that there's a

        37       reference --

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's not on the screen.  I don't

        40       think the witness has that.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Could we bring up AWB.8001.0033.

        43

        44       Q.   You will see in recital D there is a slight difference

        45       to what you would have seen in the memo of 10 January, in

        46       that here there is a reference to a sale of 1 million

        47       tonnes of wheat to the Grain Board and a reference to the
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         1       dates.  Ought we not to conclude that you opened this

         2       email, and that you opened Mr Whitwell's first draft of the

         3       Tigris agreement, and read them?

         4       A.   I don't believe so.  I do have a recollection of

         5       seeing Chris Whitwell and him telling me - and I think it

         6       was in reception at the old building at AWB - not to worry

         7       about looking at this, and that Tigris was on hold.

         8

         9       Q.   When was that?

        10       A.   I can't tell you exactly when it was.

        11

        12       Q.   His email to you was at 6.02pm - that's 18:02 hours -

        13       on 12 March 2003.  In it he says:

        14

        15            Unfortunately they should be coming in next

        16            week to discuss.

        17

        18       The implication being that he wanted this agreement

        19       finalised before whoever "they" were would come in to

        20       discuss it.  So do you say that this email and the

        21       attachment lived somewhere in your database without you

        22       accessing it, and that thereafter he told you not to bother

        23       with it before you had a chance to access it?

        24       A.   No, I don't believe that would be right.  I think that

        25       I would have opened the email, but I don't recall the

        26       attachment at all.  So I believe that I did nothing with

        27       this particular email, because I had a communication some

        28       time after receipt of the email with Mr Whitwell.

        29

        30       Q.   How long after receipt of the email?

        31       A.   I don't - it would have been a matter of days,

        32       I believe.  I don't have a specific recollection of the

        33       time frame, but it would not have been very long

        34       afterwards.  It may even have been the following day.

        35       I don't know.  But I can't specifically recall the time

        36       frame.

        37

        38       Q.   This meeting with Mr Whitwell in reception, what time

        39       of day was it?

        40       A.   I believe it was in the morning - it was a morning.

        41

        42       Q.   And you can recall it?

        43       A.   I don't recall the specifics of it, but I do have a

        44       recollection of either being in a liftwell or reception and

        45       seeing Chris, and Chris stopping me.

        46

        47       Q.   You can't help us with the date?
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         1       A.   I can't.  I have - no, I can't.

         2

         3       Q.   How is it that you relate that chance meeting to this

         4       document and this particular draft of a document, as

         5       opposed to any other document that you had received from

         6       Mr Whitwell or any other email that you received from

         7       Mr Whitwell?

         8       A.   I think that's a fair question, and I can't be

         9       certain.  I could not be certain that that was the case,

        10       other than that I have performed a search of my files and

        11       not seen any response to this or anything - any copy of it

        12       on my files or indeed in my in-box.  So I make the

        13       connection that that meeting with him - not a meeting, when

        14       I ran into Chris and he told me that, that it relates to

        15       this version, because I did nothing with it, and it appears

        16       that I deleted it, which would be consistent with --

        17

        18       Q.   But you subsequently received a draft from Mr Whitwell

        19       in relation to the Tigris agreement, did you not?

        20       A.   Yes, I did.

        21

        22       Q.   Which in part spoke of Tigris having offered

        23       assistance to AWB?

        24       A.   That's right.

        25

        26       Q.   And which spoke of that assistance as consideration

        27       for AWB's providing a commission to Tigris; is that right?

        28       A.   Yes, that's right.

        29

        30       Q.   In the same sum as the debt that the IGB had

        31       acknowledged was due to Tigris?

        32       A.   I'm not sure if that's right.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, it may not be to the dollar, but in a sum of $7m

        35       or $8m?

        36       A.   I'm sorry, I don't understand the question.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps we will come back to this after

        39       2 o'clock.  I will adjourn until 2.05pm.

        40

        41       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Can I just resolve that issue that I raised

         4       before lunchtime:  our position is that the question of

         5       Ms Lyons' advice will have to be resolved by the Federal

         6       Court.  I want to correct something that I said to you,

         7       sir, about the way in which it was raised.  If I can direct

         8       your attention - I won't read the passages - to page 241 of

         9       the transcript, you'll see how the issue arises before the

        10       Federal Court, at about line 15.  It may be worth reading

        11       the previous page and then subsequently.  The issue was

        12       identified initially by his Honour in saying, "Doesn't the

        13       7 February memo affect waiver of five or six documents?",

        14       and ultimately I said this:

        15

        16            What your Honour will observe is that what

        17            is found in this document is a cut and

        18            paste of a document prepared by Ms Lyons.

        19            The original advice comes through from

        20            Blake Dawson Waldron and so there is a

        21            transition occurs from original advice to a

        22            memorandum from Ms Lyons to a document

        23            prepared by Mr Whitwell and if my friend

        24            raises the issue of waiver, then that is a

        25            separate question as to whether the

        26            disclosure of Mr Whitwell's iteration of

        27            Ms Lyons' memorandum has the effect of

        28            waiving the Blake Dawson Waldron advice.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's a different issue.  That's a

        31       question of whether or not Blake Dawson Waldron's advice

        32       may have been waived.  I'm not concerned with that.  I'm

        33       concerned with whether the document of 7 February contains

        34       this lady's advice and, as I understood what you just read,

        35       you told his Honour that it did.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   I can assure you, Commissioner that the judge is

        38       under no misunderstanding as to what the issue is.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you please explain it to me.  I

        41       thought you just said in the passage you read that you told

        42       his Honour that the document of 7 February contained a cut

        43       and paste job of this lady's advice.  I may have misheard

        44       you, but that's what I thought you said.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   I had previously said, Commissioner, that there

        47       were five or six documents in dispute which had been
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         1       enumerated by his Honour.  Those are the ones to which the

         2       issue of waiver arose.  It's in that connection that the

         3       exchange occurred.

         4

         5            Now, those are the documents that might be said to

         6       have been affected by waiver, but the real point of all

         7       this is that at no time did the Commonwealth raise a

         8       question of waiver in relation to Ms Lyons' advice or Blake

         9       Dawson Waldron's advice.  It is a live issue only because

        10       of the exchange between his Honour and myself.

        11

        12            Now, with great respect, it seems that the

        13       circumstance in which this issue is now being agitated

        14       here, with the evidence that's being given by Ms Lyons.  Is

        15       one that is very likely to traverse an issue before

        16       his Honour.  What is happening here, in our submission, is

        17       or what may be construed as an enhancement of a position

        18       not hitherto advanced by the Commonwealth but, by reason of

        19       the evidence of this witness, the waiver position or

        20       argument might be better advanced.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   The waiver position of what?

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Ms Lyons' advice.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought that the passage you just

        27       read to me included you telling the judge that the document

        28       of 7 February contained a cut and paste job of this lady's

        29       advice.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, then, what's the issue?

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   The issue is --

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   The questions that Mr Agius was

        38       directing his attention to, as I understood them - perhaps

        39       I misunderstood them - were are the paragraphs in respect

        40       of which your client claimed legal professional privilege

        41       in the document of 7 February this lady's advice.  You took

        42       objection to that.  Now, as I understand it, you've told

        43       the Federal Court judge that in truth that's so.  If that's

        44       right, what's the argument?

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   The argument is about whether there is a

        47       waiver --
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I'm not concerned about that.  I'm

         3       concerned about whether or not the three paragraphs in the

         4       document are this lady's advice.  You objected when

         5       Mr Agius sought to ask those questions, but you've just

         6       told me you told the Federal Court judge they were.  If

         7       that's right, why should Mr Agius not be permitted to ask

         8       the lady about the concession that you in fact have made to

         9       the Federal Court judge.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   I have not conceded waiver.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Will you please read the passage again

        14       that you just read to me?

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   I will.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   The issue, Mr Judd, is are these three

        19       passages this lady's advice.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Bear with me for a moment while I pick up the

        22       transcript reference.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   His Honour said to me:

        25

        26            Mr Judd, do you have exhibit E, the

        27            unredacted version of the memo of

        28            7 February?

        29

        30       I answered:

        31

        32            Yes, I have.

        33

        34       His Honour said:

        35

        36            If you go to the box page, page 2 --

        37

        38       I said "yes" --

        39

        40            at the moment I am struggling to see why

        41            the disclosure of what appears there

        42            doesn't affect a waiver of these whatever

        43            it is, five or six documents that are in

        44            contention.

        45

        46       Now, those five or six documents are documents that include

        47       the Blake Dawson Waldron, file notes and Ms Lyons' advice,
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         1       documents leading up to 7 February.  I say:

         2

         3            Well, it is not put on that basis.

         4

         5       His Honour said:

         6

         7            No, I understand that.

         8

         9       I said:

        10

        11            It is a different issue altogether.

        12

        13       His Honour said:

        14

        15            Is it.  This is legal advice actually

        16            making payments pursuant to a settlement of

        17            the iron filings claim is not considered to

        18            be - or at least arguably not a

        19            contravention of the UN resolutions.

        20

        21       I responded, "Yes".  He said:

        22

        23            That is the gist more or less of this.

        24

        25       Then I responded in this way:

        26

        27            What your Honour will observe is that what

        28            is found in this document is a cut and

        29            paste --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   This document being that of 7 February?

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   Correct:

        34

        35            ... of a document prepared by Ms Lyons.

        36            The original advice comes through from

        37            Blake Dawson Waldron and so there is a

        38            transition --

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Please,  just pause there, it is a

        41       document prepared by Ms Lyons;  you mean the document

        42       containing her advice?

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   That's so.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   So you told the judge that what's in

        47       the 7 February document is in fact a cut and paste of her
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         1       advice?

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I don't propose to stand here and

         4       have the Commission cross-examine me as to the way in which

         5       this case was presented before Justice Young.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not suggesting in any way, Mr Judd,

         8       that you conducted yourself other than properly in the

         9       Federal Court.  What I'm trying to understand is the

        10       objection you took here this morning.  Mr Agius sought to

        11       ask this lady does this portion - namely, the three

        12       paragraphs - contain your advice, you objected.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Now, it seems to me from what you've

        17       just read, and as you've just told me, that you told the

        18       Federal Court that it was.  I am at present trying to

        19       understand why you took the objection here if you told the

        20       Federal Court that.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   We took the objection here, Commissioner,

        23       because the issue is unresolved before the Federal Court;

        24       namely, whether in fact there is a waiver by the production

        25       of that document.  There are a number of bases upon which

        26       there may not be a waiver.  It's not simply the repetition

        27       of a cut and paste that consummates the waiver.  A waiver

        28       may not occur because the document is not one, or its

        29       production, that evidences an intention to waive

        30       confidentiality.  It's a matter for the Federal Court to

        31       decide.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  We'll just go on.  This is just a

        34       waste of time.  Yes, Mr Agius.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Now, I was covering with you what I might

        37       loosely describe as the Tigris agreement.  I think we'd

        38       reached the stage where you'd said you had no recollection

        39       of reading the draft that Mr Whitwell had sent to you under

        40       the cover of his email of 12 March 2003.

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       Q.   Then you gave some evidence about having met him in

        44       the foyer conversation.  I think you went so far as to

        45       repeat what you said in your statement, that it appeared

        46       that this email and the draft had been deleted.  You have

        47       annexed to your statement an email from Mr Whitwell to you
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         1       of 28 May 2003 as annexure J.  Could we bring up, please,

         2       WST.0043.0038.  This is Mr Whitwell's email to you and

         3       Mr Cooper, in which he speaks of an agreement to pay a

         4       Tigris commission.  He goes on to say:

         5

         6            I received the following from Tigris, which

         7            I have reviewed.

         8

         9       What was it that you understood had changed a Tigris debt

        10       into a Tigris commission?

        11       A.   As I said, I don't recall reading the attachment to

        12       Chris's email of 12 March 2003, so there is nothing that,

        13       from my recollection, would have prompted me to believe

        14       there was some change that I needed to be aware of when I

        15       read the email of 28/5.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, if you hadn't read his email enclosing his first

        18       draft of the Tigris agreement, that might get you part of

        19       the way there, but we do have --

        20

        21       MR CLELLAND:   The witness said that she didn't recall

        22       reading the attachment rather than the email, and she made

        23       a distinction between the two.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If you hadn't read the email and the

        26       draft, that might get you part of the way there, except for

        27       exhibit 306, which is the copy of the memorandum that bears

        28       your handwriting, the memorandum dated 10 January 2003,

        29       which you have agreed that it is likely that you received

        30       prior to providing your advice in January of 2003.

        31       A.   I'm not sure what the question is, I'm sorry.

        32

        33       Q.   Well, in that memorandum from Mr Whitwell the issue

        34       with Tigris, or the relationship with Tigris, is described

        35       as being one of debtor and creditor as between the IGB as

        36       debtor, Tigris as creditor and AWB assisting Tigris in

        37       recouping the money from the IGB.

        38       A.   If I read that memo, which I believe I did, the parts

        39       of that memorandum that I focused on were those parts

        40       relating to iron filings.  I had received a request to

        41       provide advice regarding iron filings.  I was not asked to

        42       consider or look at any issue regarding Tigris.

        43

        44       Q.   If we could bring up exhibit 306, AWB.0129.0217.  This

        45       is the document bearing your handwriting.  You will see,

        46       will you not - agree if you can - that in the first half

        47       page of that document the Tigris debt and the payment of
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         1       the quality rebate are linked.  My point is you could not

         2       read about the quality rebate in that document unless you

         3       also read the portion that deals with the Tigris debt;

         4       would you agree with that?

         5       A.   I would agree that in that memorandum it discusses

         6       Tigris, but I know that my focus in reading that would not

         7       have been on Tigris, it would have been on iron filings.

         8

         9       Q.   Where your focus was is not the point of my question.

        10       The point of my question is you must have read the portion

        11       of that document that dealt with the Tigris situation.

        12       A.   And my answer to that is I don't recall reading this

        13       document, but I did accept earlier that it is my

        14       handwriting on that document, which would have indicated

        15       that I read it.

        16

        17       Q.   I'm not asking you about what you recall.  What I put

        18       to you was:  you must have read that portion of the

        19       document that dealt with the Tigris debt.

        20       A.   I can't say whether I read it or not.

        21

        22       Q.   Because you can't remember?

        23       A.   That's right.

        24

        25       Q.   And you won't concede that you must have read it?

        26       A.   As I said, my handwriting is on that document, so I

        27       can't say whether or not I focused on any particular area

        28       or whether I read all of it or some of it, but I do - I

        29       think it's reasonable that you can assume I read at least

        30       parts of it, because my handwriting does appear on that

        31       document.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Is that little circle around the

        34       first dot yours?

        35       A.   Well, I can assume all of it is mine, because --

        36

        37       Q.   See, if that's right, you've highlighted, "Offsetting

        38       the debt against the Outstanding debt to 'Tigris

        39       petroleum'..."?

        40       A.   Yes, if I put that mark on there, I would have to say

        41       I read that bullet point.

        42

        43       Q.   In order to make any sense of that you would need to

        44       have read the previous paragraph?

        45       A.   I'm sorry?

        46

        47       Q.   To make any sense of that dot point, you would need to
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         1       have read the previous paragraph, which starts "After being

         2       approached"?

         3       A.   That may be so.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   All I'm suggesting to you, Ms Lyons, is

         6       that if your focus was indeed on the iron filings rebate,

         7       you must still have read the portions of this document that

         8       related to Tigris.

         9       A.   I may have.

        10

        11       Q.   Well, I just suggest to you, as a matter of fairness,

        12       that in the first portion of this document - that is, the

        13       first half of it, down to the word "Issues", really the two

        14       are linked, that you couldn't read about one without

        15       reading about the other, regardless of what your focus was.

        16       A.   I can see your conclusion.  I can see that that is a

        17       reasonable conclusion to make.

        18

        19       Q.   Now, if we go from there to Mr Whitwell's email to you

        20       of 28 May 2003, annexure J, WST.0043.0038, you'll see that

        21       Mr Whitwell is forwarding to you an email that he received

        22       from NDK, and if we go to the next page, you'll see that

        23       there was an attachment to the original email, AWB Tigris

        24       Agreement 6 May.  Then we come to your annexure K, which is

        25       WST.0043.0041.  That is what you describe in your statement

        26       as a copy of the attached agreement?

        27       A.   The front page looks like it is.

        28

        29       Q.   Yes.  You'll just have to accept from me that that is

        30       the document.  Can we go to the next page.  You have a copy

        31       of your statement and the annexures in front of you, do you

        32       not?

        33       A.   I do.

        34

        35       Q.   Is that your handwriting on that page, which is 0042?

        36       A.   Yes, it is.

        37

        38       Q.   If we go to the next page, 0043, is that your

        39       handwriting?

        40       A.   Yes, it is.

        41

        42       Q.   Can you assist:  we have some of that handwriting in

        43       typescript at paragraph 64 of your statement, but I do not

        44       believe we have all of it.  The words "Chris Whitwell" are

        45       written at the top of the page, but there's something in a

        46       circle before the name.

        47       A.   Yes, that's "TO", telephone out.
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         1

         2       Q.   So a telephone conversation between you and

         3       Mr Whitwell?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   You calling him?

         7       A.   "Telephone out", that would indicate I'm calling him.

         8

         9       Q.   Then what we see on the right-hand side, is that

        10       information that he provided to you?

        11       A.   I believe so.

        12

        13       Q.   "1996 -" --

        14       A.   "It" or "if" - I think it's "it"

        15

        16            provided humanitarian aid.

        17            - BHP - sold a cargo to BHP.

        18            - IGB never paid BHP for --

        19

        20       I can't read that, "that" or "them":

        21

        22            BHP deal with IGB -

        23            - our 1m quota - with IGB

        24            - they assisted us in receiving that

        25            - made a commitment to BHP

        26            - if no contract

        27            1m tonnes by end 210mt.

        28

        29

        30       Q.   Can I just take you back.  When you read the second

        31       line, you read:

        32

        33            BHP - sold a cargo to BHP.

        34

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Should that be "We sold a cargo to BHP"?   I wonder if

        38       the monitor could assist.  Could you expand or improve the

        39       definition of the handwriting in the second line at the

        40       top?

        41       A.   It does look like the word "we", yes.

        42

        43       Q.   So it was "BHP - we sold a cargo to BHP"?

        44       A.   I think that "we" - it's difficult to tell whether

        45       that "we" is supposed to be before, I guess it is, yes,

        46       before "sold".  It's written above it.

        47
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         1       Q.   Now, that's information that Mr Whitwell gave you?

         2       A.   I assume that's correct, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   In the third paragraph of the typescript there's a

         5       reference to:

         6

         7            Subject to the terms and conditions of this

         8            Agreement, AWB shall pay to Tigris an

         9            amount equal to US$7,875,000...

        10

        11       Then in paragraph 4.1, under the heading "Payments",

        12       there's a reference to:

        13

        14            In consideration for the provision of

        15            Services by Tigris, AWB shall pay to

        16            Tigris...

        17

        18       That same US$7m-odd; do you see that?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   So what we're being told by this document, if we

        22       include your notes, is that AWB is paying US$7.8m in return

        23       for services provided by Tigris.

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   What happened to the debt that was due to Tigris by

        27       the AGB?

        28       A.   As I said --

        29

        30       Q.   By the IGB?

        31       A.   When I looked at this document, I had no recollection

        32       of believing that the underlying transaction being recorded

        33       in this document was anything other than as recorded in

        34       this document, and I don't recall having thought that this

        35       document or anything in this document needed to be referred

        36       back to anything I had previously read.  So I've got an

        37       email from Chris Whitwell saying to me:

        38

        39            Following on from last Iraq brief to ELG

        40            where it was agreed we would pay Tigris

        41            commission...

        42

        43       So I'm provided with a document, I'm asked to review it,

        44       I'm told that it's a services agreement.  I understand ELG

        45       has considered it and approved it, so I did not believe

        46       that there was any requirement for me to ask any further

        47       questions.
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         1

         2       Q.   What did Mr Whitwell say to you about the previous

         3       draft that he'd sent you two months before, in March of

         4       2003?

         5       A.   He did not tell me - he did not bring that up, he did

         6       not refer to it.

         7

         8       Q.   Are you quite certain about that?

         9       A.   I'm - to the best of my recollection, I am confident

        10       that that is the case.

        11

        12       Q.   So he never gave you any explanation for any

        13       difference between the recitals in his draft that he'd sent

        14       to you in March 2003 and the instructions he was giving you

        15       in May 2003 --

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   -- and the difference between those two things?

        19       A.   To the best of my recollection, no.

        20

        21       Q.   Are you saying that you genuinely believed when you

        22       assisted in the settling of this agreement that this

        23       US$7.8m was due to Tigris on account of services that

        24       Tigris provided to AWB --

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   -- and not due to Tigris as a debt due to it from the

        28       IGB which the AWB had helped to recoup?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could you put on the screen, please,

        32       WST.0043.0038.

        33

        34       Q.   Can you see that, Ms Lyons?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Can you see the bottom of that?

        38       A.   Yes, I can.

        39

        40       Q.   Paragraph 1 seems to make it clear that the author,

        41       Mr Davidson Kelly, didn't mind what company the agreement's

        42       name was in.  Did that not suggest to you that services may

        43       or may not have been provided by Tigris?

        44       A.   No, that to me was - would appear to be just a

        45       mechanical question of which of a group of affiliated

        46       companies the money would be paid to, not because there

        47       wasn't a service provided by Tigris.
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         1

         2       Q.   Irrespective of who provided the service?

         3       A.   Well, I know at AWB we have to consider sometimes

         4       whether or not services are provided by a service arm of a

         5       particular affiliated - we have a service company at AWB

         6       and I was unaware whether BHP had a service company or any

         7       other company that might have been the one that actually

         8       provided the services.  I stook that as a mechanical

         9       question.

        10

        11       Q.   Those decisions are normally made in advance, rather

        12       than after the transaction is complete.

        13       A.   That might be right.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Whilst that's up there, Ms Lyons, because

        16       I was going to bring you to this email, what did you make

        17       of paragraph number 2 in Mr Whitwell's email to you:

        18

        19            In previous discussion AWB was to receive

        20            payment up front but in light of changed

        21            circumstances it is probably better to

        22            waive this and proceed on pro rata basis as

        23            proposed by Tigris - keeps them

        24            incentivised.

        25

        26       What did you make of that?

        27       A.   I believe that in particular the "keeps them

        28       incentivised" related to ongoing service provision.

        29

        30       Q.   What service, what ongoing service?

        31       A.   If the services that I had understood to have been

        32       provided are reflected by this note on the agreement, which

        33       is "our 1m quota" "assisted us in receiving that", then

        34       keeping them incentivised would be, to my mind, a reference

        35       to ongoing assistance in Iraq.

        36

        37       Q.   What about the first part of that:

        38

        39            In previous discussion AWB was to receive

        40            payment up front...

        41

        42       What did you make of that?

        43       A.   I don't - I don't believe I made anything about it and

        44       I don't recall thinking that that was important for the

        45       understanding of the attached agreement.

        46

        47       Q.   That would have made perfect sense if you had read the
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         1       first draft that had been provided by Mr Whitwell, would it

         2       not?

         3       A.   I don't know whether that agreement contemplated any

         4       payment to AWB.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, you've read it since, haven't you?

         7       A.   I would have to have a look at it now.

         8

         9       Q.   Isn't it an annexure to your statement?

        10       A.   Yes, it is.  But I don't know whether it referred to a

        11       payment - I can't recall right now, without looking at it.

        12

        13       MR CLELLAND:   It does refer to discussion, rather than

        14       agreement, Mr Commissioner.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I suggest if you look at recital B --

        17       A.   Right, it does refer to it.  Yes, well, I can answer

        18       that yes.

        19

        20       Q.   If you had read B, then Mr Whitwell's numbered

        21       paragraph 2 would make sense, would it not?

        22       A.   It could, yes.  Yes, it could.

        23

        24       Q.   You say you didn't read recital B, indeed, you didn't

        25       read his first draft; is that what you say?

        26       A.   I did not read the attachment to that email, no, which

        27       was that draft.

        28

        29       Q.   But you did read his numbered paragraph 2 --

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   -- in this email of 28 May 2003?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   And it said:

        36

        37            In previous discussion --

        38

        39       as your counsel helpfully points out --

        40

        41            AWB was to receive payment up front...

        42

        43       Now, you say that made no sense to you?

        44       A.   Well, it goes on to say "it is probably better to

        45       waive this", so to my mind I didn't need to concern myself

        46       with that, because this was something that was no longer

        47       going to be required.



            .23/8/06 (70)              6977     J G LYONS (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   But you said it didn't make sense.  Why wouldn't you

         3       have spoken to Mr Whitwell about it if some of his

         4       instructions didn't make sense to you?

         5       A.   I did speak with him.

         6

         7       Q.   What did he tell you about the previous payment

         8       upfront that AWB was to receive?

         9       A.   I don't know that he told me anything about that,

        10       because I probably didn't ask him, because it said "it is

        11       probably better to waive this", so I didn't assume it was

        12       something I needed to address.  I understood the ELG had

        13       discussed this, the ELG had agreed to pay it, and that my

        14       job was to give a legal - it says "redraft or comment" in

        15       relation to the attached agreement, so I didn't believe it

        16       was my role, and I didn't think it was necessary to

        17       question something that had been reviewed by the ELG and

        18       approved.

        19

        20       Q.   Then did you provide the version of the document that

        21       we see as part of annexure L to your statement?

        22       A.   Yes, I did.

        23

        24       Q.   I want to move on to another matter.  Can we bring up,

        25       please, WST.0041.0071.  Does any of your handwriting appear

        26       on that document?

        27       A.   No.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you receive that document, or a copy of it, in or

        30       about September of 2002?

        31       A.   I don't believe so.

        32

        33       Q.   Have you ever received that document?

        34       A.   No, I don't recall so, no.

        35

        36       Q.   This sets out some history of the Tigris debt and the

        37       compensation claim, and if we go to the second page, under

        38       the headings "Actions, Approvals", it reads:

        39

        40            ISM request AWB Legal to review the file

        41            attached and to advise --

        42

        43       the Corporate Risk Review Committee --

        44

        45            if ISM is authorised to negotiate with

        46            IGB/Tigris the settlement of the Iraqi debt

        47            to Tigris.  Specifically it would involve
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         1            AWB I paying moneys to Tigris Petroleum

         2            subject to all the correct paperwork being

         3            received from both IGB and Tigris.  Advice

         4            to go to CRRC for meeting Thursday 19 Sept

         5            2002.

         6

         7       Were you involved in any such legal review?

         8       A.   No, not to my recollection.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you know who was?

        11       A.   No, I don't.

        12

        13       Q.   Mr Cooper was your superior, I suppose, at AWB, was he

        14       not?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   When you gave advice on the Tigris agreement - that

        18       is, when you assisted Mr Whitwell with the redraft of that

        19       agreement as we've just seen - did you provide a copy of

        20       the agreement as you had redrafted it to Mr Cooper?

        21       A.   I don't believe so.  I don't think he was cced on any

        22       of these emails - oh, yes, he was on - I'm not sure whether

        23       I showed him the redraft.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you discuss it with him?

        26       A.   I can't recall having a discussion with him about the

        27       mark-up, no.

        28

        29       Q.   In the ordinary course of the way in which you worked

        30       at that time, is it likely that you did discuss it with

        31       him?

        32       A.   I believe I would have raised it generally, because we

        33       would have meetings very regularly.  We sat in an open-plan

        34       environment and I sat probably only two or three metres

        35       from Jim, and we did have general discussions about our

        36       workload and what we were doing - frequently.

        37

        38       Q.   You see, the inquiry faces this conundrum.  It would

        39       seem from evidence and material available to the inquiry,

        40       including the document that's on the screen, that in

        41       September 2002 Mr Cooper learnt of the situation concerning

        42       Tigris in terms of Tigris being owed money for wheat that

        43       the Iraqis had received in 1995-96, and he learnt that AWB

        44       was to assist in the recoupment of that debt, and that you,

        45       one of the persons who worked under him and reported to

        46       him, then settled an agreement which represented the debt

        47       as being a commission due to Tigris for services rendered
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         1       by Tigris.  The two of you work closely in the way in which

         2       you've described.  He's told that the arrangement is one of

         3       debt and you're told that the arrangement is one of payment

         4       of a service fee.  The conundrum is how could it be that

         5       you would be told one thing and that your superior would be

         6       told another and that this matter might be written up,

         7       involving, as it does, nearly US$8m, to represent a payment

         8       for service?  How could that be?

         9       A.   Sorry, are you trying - I don't understand the

        10       question, sorry.

        11

        12       Q.   You don't understand the question?

        13       A.   No, I don't.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, in simple terms, Mr Cooper was told this was a

        16       debt, you were told this was payment of a commission for

        17       services due.

        18       A.   I'm not aware --

        19

        20       Q.   The two are not compatible.

        21       A.   I am not aware that Mr Cooper was told it was a debt.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, if that is the effect of the memorandum of

        24       16 September 2002 --

        25       A.   Is he - I'm sorry, I can't see the front page.  Is he

        26       on that memo?

        27

        28       Q.   Yes.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we go back to the previous page,

        31       please.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you see it's addressed to the CRRC

        34       committee members and to AWB Legal, Jim Cooper, amongst

        35       others?

        36       A.   I see that.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you see this document during the lunch hour?  Have

        39       you had an opportunity to read it?

        40       A.   I saw the front page of it.

        41

        42       Q.   Would you just take a moment to read it.

        43       A.   I've read the first page.

        44

        45       Q.   Could we go to the next page, just for completeness.

        46       A.   I've read that.

        47
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         1       MR CLELLAND:   Commissioner, just before our learned friend

         2       presses this question, we have at least two concerns about

         3       what's occurring:  firstly, it seems to us that the witness

         4       is being asked to speculate about what was in Mr Cooper's

         5       mind; secondly, we have some reservations just about what

         6       the state of the evidence is as to whether Mr Cooper

         7       confirms that he saw this document and what he made of it.

         8       If there's any utility to this line of questioning, which

         9       we doubt, then, in our submission, at the very least, the

        10       witness should be told what it is Mr Cooper said about that

        11       memorandum.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Clelland, is my recollection wrong,

        14       that there is no doubt at some point of time the

        15       arrangement was that AWB would recover the Tigris debt of

        16       $8.375m, it would receive US$500,000 commission and it

        17       would pay the balance of that which was recovered to

        18       Tigris, and that at some point in time that changed to an

        19       arrangement whereby AWB would simply pay to Tigris a

        20       commission of $7.8375m.  That's the conundrum, I think.

        21

        22       MR CLELLAND:   Yes, I understand.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   My understanding was that Mr Agius was

        25       simply asking this lady, as she was one of the lawyers who

        26       add least had something to do with one part of that, if she

        27       could explain how that change occurred.

        28

        29       MR CLELLAND:   I didn't quite understand that that's the

        30       way that the question was being put.  I don't suggest your

        31       recollection is wrong.  What you're referring to,

        32       Commissioner, is this, that there is some documentation

        33       somewhere that, on one reading, may suggest those two

        34       apparently different positions.  If the question is

        35       simply --

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's all the contractual documents in

        38       relation to contracts 1670 and 1680 which say "Tigris debt"

        39       8 point whatever it is.

        40

        41       MR CLELLAND:   Yes, there are representations about a debt,

        42       at least on the face of certain other documents; we

        43       acknowledge that.  But if that's really what the question

        44       is, that there is some apparent tension between what's on

        45       the face of some documents and on others, again, we're not

        46       sure really how this witness's speculation on that can help

        47       the Commission.  But if that's the question that is being
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         1       asked, it should be asked in that form.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   I'm happy to put my learned friend's question

         4       to my learned friend's client.

         5

         6       Q.   Would you recognise that there is some tension between

         7       what Mr Cooper was told, or what it was at least proposed

         8       to tell Mr Cooper in this document of 16 September 2002,

         9       and what you were told?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Can you throw any light on that?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   Does it strike you as strange that it was intended to

        16       be, and indeed was, told to your superior one version of

        17       facts which paint this sum of money being viewed as a debt,

        18       and that you were told a different version of facts which

        19       paint or characterise this sum of money as a payment due by

        20       AWB for services rendered?

        21       A.   I think that's troubling.

        22

        23       Q.   It is troubling.  The two sets of instructions both

        24       emanate from IS&M.

        25       A.   Again, sorry, I'm not very familiar with this

        26       document.  I assume it's from IS&M --

        27

        28       Q.   This is from Michael Long?

        29       A.   Yes, well then that's right, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Mr Whitwell was working in the IS&M section?

        32       A.   Yes, he was.

        33

        34       Q.   Mr Whitwell was preparing the memorandum for Mr Long

        35       and Mr Geary to sign?

        36       A.   The 7 February --

        37

        38       Q.   What began as the 10 January memorandum --

        39       A.   Yes, that's right.

        40

        41       Q.   -- and transformed into the 7 February memorandum.

        42       One gives one set of instructions to Mr Cooper and the

        43       other gives a different and, I suggest to you, incompatible

        44       set of instructions to you.

        45       A.   It does appear that way, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   That is troubling.  There's one troubling aspect of
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         1       that that I want to raise with you.  There are two ways at

         2       least in which that can be looked at.  One way is that

         3       those people at IS&M took their chances of telling one

         4       lawyer at AWB one set of facts and another lawyer at AWB

         5       another set of facts, in the hope that they would never

         6       speak to each other, or the alternative is that they didn't

         7       take any chance at all and that both lawyers knew the whole

         8       story.  What do you say about those alternatives and does

         9       either of them apply to your situation?

        10       A.   I say in relation to the latter that at no time when I

        11       considered this Tigris agreement did I believe that I was

        12       not - that I should ask a question about the underlying

        13       transaction.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, does that leave this inquiry in this position,

        16       that if it accepts all of your evidence, it must conclude

        17       that people within IS&M were prepared to take the risk that

        18       they would give conflicting instructions to different

        19       lawyers within AWB in the hope that they wouldn't speak to

        20       each other?

        21       A.   No, I don't --

        22

        23       MR CLELLAND:   Commissioner, you should not require the

        24       witness to answer a question like that, with respect.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   I won't press that question.  Perhaps it's more

        27       a matter for submission.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, is my recollection correct,

        30       that there is a document which is said to be a statement of

        31       facts in relation to Tigris which was to be signed off by

        32       Mr Long and Mr Whitwell and I think somebody else?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Yes, that's --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   And is that subject to a claim for

        37       privilege?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Yes, it is an unresolved claim.

        40

        41       MR ABBOTT:   It's in part a claim for privilege.  It was

        42       put in I think as part of Dr Fuller's evidence.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   The agreed statement of facts has been

        45       identified as a document.  We've not seen it because it is,

        46       as we understand it, subject to a claim for privilege.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   I'll get the number of the document for you

         2       shortly, Commissioner.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you did come to assist Mr Whitwell

         7       with the Tigris agreement and he told you, as you've noted

         8       on the face of the document, that Tigris had provided some

         9       service for this $7m-odd, did you ask him whether or not

        10       the provision of that service was pursuant to some form of

        11       contract?

        12       A.   I don't recall asking that question.

        13

        14       Q.   Wouldn't that have been your first question?

        15       A.   I asked - I believe from my file note, from my note I

        16       should say, not the file note, that next to the definition

        17       of services I specifically asked him the question and he's

        18       told me that our 1 million quota with IGB, they'd assisted

        19       us in receiving that.  So I asked a question about what

        20       were the services and I was told.

        21

        22       Q.   My question was would you not have asked him right at

        23       the beginning of this, "Well, these services that were

        24       provided by Tigris, were they subject to some agreement,

        25       some contract between AWB and Tigris?  Should I look at

        26       some other contract?  Is there another document that I

        27       should be looking at setting out the terms of that

        28       contract?"

        29       A.   Well, I thought that was this.  This is a services

        30       agreement.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Yes, but it's in respect of

        33       services said to have been provided two years earlier.

        34       A.   I don't believe I asked that question, no.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Wouldn't you?  If you didn't already know

        37       about it, wouldn't it be the first thing that you would

        38       ask:  "Is there some documentation supporting this

        39       contract?  Is there an exchange of emails?  Is there a

        40       document?  Is there some notation of this contract

        41       somewhere?"

        42       A.   I don't believe I asked that question.

        43

        44       Q.   In the ordinary course of business where the sum

        45       involved is over US$7m, nearly US$8m, wouldn't you have

        46       naturally expected there to be some notation in writing

        47       prior to the performance of any service by Tigris?
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         1       A.   Well, there is a note.  I mean, I've got a copy to an

         2       email from what I assume to be Norman Davidson Kelly at

         3       Tigris, who's attaching this agreement.  I think this is:

         4

         5            As agreed I attach an agreement for your

         6            consideration.

         7

         8       So I'm understanding that Tigris is providing us with an

         9       agreement registering services.

        10

        11       Q.   But this is after the services have been provided by

        12       Tigris and after there has been some agreement as to the

        13       sum which would be paid for those services, on the face of

        14       it.  Wouldn't you have expected there to have been some

        15       documentation or some written contract?

        16       A.   Well, this to me seems - "our 1m quota", I didn't

        17       realise the services were provided, Commissioner, I think

        18       you said two years --

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I was thinking of the fact that

        21       this agreement was finally approved and signed in December

        22       2004, said to be in respect of services provided in

        23       December 2002.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It was only six months before.

        26       A.   In this version?

        27

        28       Q.   Well, let's be careful, because there are so many

        29       versions.

        30       A.   I know.  Sorry.

        31

        32       Q.   On the version of events as they were given to you, in

        33       accordance with your evidence, you were being approached at

        34       the end of May to provide an agreement in respect of

        35       services that had been provided the previous December.

        36       A.   Yes, so I didn't expect there to be any further

        37       documentation, no, I did not expect that.

        38

        39       Q.   But what if there had have been?  It might have

        40       existed and you wouldn't have known about it.  All I'm

        41       putting to you is that someone of your skill and competence

        42       would naturally have asked, "Is there any supporting

        43       documentation for this agreement beyond what you've shown"?

        44       A.   I can't say whether or not I asked that because I'm

        45       relying on what note here says.  I don't have a perfect

        46       recollection of my discussions with Chris Whitwell.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you ask him, "What's the relationship between

         2       Tigris and BHP?" or "What's the relationship between the

         3       author of the email, NDK, and BHP?"

         4       A.   I may have.  I don't have a perfect recollection,

         5       other than what my notes reveal.

         6

         7       Q.   Might it be that you knew, in any event, from having

         8       seen the earlier agreement that had been drafted by

         9       Mr Whitwell?

        10       A.   I have said already I don't recall reading that

        11       attachment.

        12

        13       Q.   Wasn't there a policy at AWB as at May of 2003 that

        14       required any service agreement that AWB entered to be in

        15       writing?

        16       A.   This is in writing and it's been approved - I'm told

        17       it's been approved by the ELG.

        18

        19       Q.   This is in writing after the service agreement has

        20       been entered and after the services have been provided.

        21       A.   But I wouldn't have thought - I didn't find that

        22       problematic, that basically the written agreement followed

        23       the event.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You did not find that --

        26       A.   Well, I just - the services being described, they

        27       assisted us in a contract, in a very important contract.

        28       It was a million tonne contract with Iraq, who was our

        29       biggest market.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And, as you said "they assisted", past

        32       tense, "us".  That's the point of my question.  This is an

        33       agreement six months after the event.  Did not the

        34       procedures in AWB in May of 2003 provide that there was to

        35       be a written contract where AWB contracted for the supply

        36       to it of services?

        37       A.   There may well have been a policy and I would have

        38       taken this to have been the written evidence of the

        39       contract.

        40

        41       Q.   If there had been a dispute as to what the terms of

        42       the arrangement were before the services were provided,

        43       would you not have sought documentation supporting the

        44       terms of the agreement before the services were provided?

        45       A.   If there had have been a dispute, I guess I would have

        46       asked.  I'm not sure that I didn't ask for documents.  I

        47       can't recall what my exact instructions were, other than
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         1       I'm relying on what I've got here in front of me.  This is

         2       in 2003, an email from Chris, and I telephoned him.  So I

         3       can't be sure that I did not ask him were there any other

         4       supporting documents.

         5

         6       Q.   So you concede the possibility that you might have

         7       asked for other supporting documents?

         8       A.   I'm not - I'm just saying I don't recall whether or

         9       not that was something that I discussed with Chris.

        10

        11       Q.   Would you concede that it would be a natural thing for

        12       you to do?

        13       A.   I can say that in other cases where I'm asked to draft

        14       an agreement I would ask that question.  That's the best I

        15       can put it.  I can't recall if I made that request in this

        16       exact circumstance.  I don't have that recollection.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ms Lyons, in my experience, which

        19       may be limited, normally when a company is contemplating

        20       paying out $7m or $8m by way of commission they would have

        21       in place an agreement which would set out the terms upon

        22       which their obligation to pay that money is expressed.  The

        23       difficulty that is being put to you is that there is no

        24       such document.  Six months after it's said that the

        25       agreement was performed a document is being sought to be

        26       prepared to express what is already complete.  Is that

        27       common practice in AWB, to document things after events?

        28       A.   No, I don't think it's common practice, Commissioner.

        29

        30       Q.   Would you agree that it is unusual for there to be a

        31       situation where a company - in this case AWB - would

        32       contemplate an obligation to pay US$7m or US$8m without

        33       having a written agreement?

        34       A.   In the context of a million tonne contract - I don't

        35       think $7m or $8m in the context of a million contract is

        36       something that the ELG would not be capable of agreeing to

        37       pay if those services were provided.  I just - it was

        38       something that the ELG had obviously considered and they

        39       are, in my mind, the ultimate decision-making body and

        40       they've approved this.  They've approved, I'm told, the

        41       payment of the Tigris commission, so, yes, it may have been

        42       an unusual circumstance, but I get unusual circumstances a

        43       lot in front of my desk.  I mean, not every contract is the

        44       same the way it unfolds.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   That completes the examination of this witness

        47       to the extent to which I can take it at this time,
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         1       Mr Commissioner.  I cannot ask you to release Ms Lyons from

         2       her notice requiring her attendance.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Mr Clelland?

         5

         6       MR CLELLAND:   I hear that, Commissioner.  I don't suppose

         7       there's much we can do about it, except hope that Ms Lyons

         8       is not required to come back.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will depend upon the outcome of

        11       the Federal Court proceedings, I would expect.  I just

        12       can't say.

        13

        14       MR CLELLAND:   Mr Agius still has some discretion in the

        15       matter as to whether he recalls this witness.  In any

        16       event, Commissioner, two things if I might --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it's preferable if we work on

        19       the basis that it is uncertain whether any of these

        20       witnesses will be required to come back and against the

        21       offchance that they won't, if people have any questions to

        22       ask the witness they should ask them now so that a

        23       situation doesn't arise where there's some minor issue that

        24       might have been dealt with today and which was not, against

        25       the prospect that they do come back.

        26

        27       MR CLELLAND:   I'll resume my seat.  I don't fall into that

        28       category.  But there are two matters I want to raise with

        29       you.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Judd?  Does anybody else wish

        32       to ask this witness any questions?

        33

        34            Thank you, Ms Lyons.  I can't excuse you, I'm afraid,

        35       but you're excused for the purposes of today.  Thank you.

        36

        37       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        38

        39       MR CLELLAND:   Commissioner, the evidence of Mr Cooper

        40       relating to the memorandum of 16 September 2002 is to be

        41       found at page 3182 of the transcript.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        44

        45       MR CLELLAND:   The second matter is I understand that

        46       although Mr Johnstone was to be the next witness called,

        47       our learned friends intend to call Mr Hogan.  What I'm
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         1       really seeking is an indication through you, Commissioner,

         2       as to whether there's any point in Mr Johnstone being here

         3       or nearby; if there's no prospect of him being called

         4       today, he can return to his hotel.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   How long do you think you'll be with

         7       Mr Hogan?

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I expect we'd sit until about 5 o'clock and I

        10       wouldn't expect I'd be two hours with him.  I expect I

        11       could be an hour with Mr Hogan.  I would like to start

        12       Mr Johnstone today if we can, so we can be sure to finish

        13       all the evidence by tomorrow.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, you asked for - perhaps I

        16       offered - the Federal Court privileged list document

        17       numbers for the Tigris chronologies.  These are the

        18       documents that have resulted in a signed version of a

        19       chronology.  This is the document that you asked me about a

        20       little earlier.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is this the one that was to be signed

        23       by - I forget who --

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   I think three persons, yes.  The numbers are as

        26       follows - I'll read them on to the transcript - 259, 265,

        27       266, 267, 268, 331, 361, 379 - document 379 is the signed

        28       version - 595C, 596, 601, 602 and 603.  They're various

        29       iterations of the same document.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, there's one matter relating to

        34       the witness Rosemary Peavey.  We have now barcoded copies

        35       of her statement and I will tender her statement,

        36       WST.0045.0001, and ask that there be a non-publication

        37       order in relation to it until she is called to give her

        38       evidence.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        41

        42       EXHIBIT #1033 STATEMENT OF MS ROSEMARY PEAVEY,

        43       BARCODED WST.0045.0001

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        46       respect of that exhibit.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   There's one matter arising in respect to the

         2       way in which it's been edited.  I hand up a copy, and

         3       provide one to my learned friend Mr Judd.  I take it that

         4       Ms Peavey's counsel has a copy.  If we go to the

         5       document - I am not going to read any of the text, but if

         6       one goes, for example, to paragraphs 47, 49 and 50, through

         7       to 55, whole paragraphs have been deleted, we assume on the

         8       basis that there's some claim by AWB for legal professional

         9       privilege in relation to those whole paragraphs.

        10

        11            Frankly, it strikes us as remarkable if the whole of

        12       each of those paragraphs could be privileged.  There must

        13       be some introductory words or something to give some notion

        14       of what the paragraph refers to in non-privileged content

        15       of at least some of those paragraphs.  We have no notice at

        16       all of what the basis for the claim for privilege is,

        17       whether it relates to documents and the extent to which

        18       those paragraphs might reproduce documents, whether that's

        19       the case.  We would inquire through you, Mr Commissioner,

        20       whether or not we can have a further edited copy of this

        21       statement which edits only those words which are the

        22       subject of a claim for privilege.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   We expected that what would be produced was a

        25       document that had in some form or another a reference to

        26       the document number in the Federal Court lists.  I have

        27       such a list in front of me.  Those documents or redactions

        28       are the document description and in some instances

        29       something said about the content.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   So am I to understand that the whole of

        32       paragraphs 49 to 55 set out in their entirety the contents

        33       of a document the subject of contest in the Federal Court?

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   Taking 49 as an example, 49 sets out in a very

        36       summary fashion the document description and then says what

        37       the content is.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why is the document description

        40       privileged?

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   With respect, that's a good question.  The

        43       document description itself can't be privileged.  We were

        44       proposing when this process was adopted to provide the

        45       Commission with the document number so that the Commission

        46       had a fuller description of the document, and the ground

        47       from our list from the Federal Court.  We can go back and
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         1       perhaps capture only those parts that refer to the document

         2       description.  There doesn't seem to be an issue about that.

         3

         4            We hoped that we could provide more information with

         5       the document number, rather than simply use the abbreviated

         6       description in some instances that occurred here.  Perhaps

         7       we can take that up overnight, because I understand

         8       Ms Peavey is not being called until tomorrow.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   I'll call Mr Hogan.

        13

        14       <DOMINIC JOHN HOGAN, on former oath:         [3.19pm]

        15

        16       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Hogan, might we have your full name

        19       again for the record, please?

        20       A.   Dominic John Hogan.

        21

        22       Q.   In response to a request from the inquiry you've

        23       provided a further statement.  Could we bring up, please,

        24       WST.0044.0001.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it's presently subject to a

        27       non-publication order, is it not?

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  I would ask you to dissolve that

        30       non-publication order.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I dissolve that non-publication

        33       order.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have a paper copy of the statement?

        36       A.   Yes, I do.

        37

        38       Q.   I understand from your counsel that there is an

        39       amendment that you wish to make to the statement; is that

        40       the case?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   What's the amendment?

        44       A.   Paragraph 23, the sentence "Contracts had been

        45       completed and the email exchange with Tim Snowball referred

        46       to in para 15", "with Tim Snowball" should be deleted.

        47
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         1       Q.   So just those three words "with Tim Snowball"?

         2       A.   Correct.

         3

         4       Q.   Are you still referring to the email exchange referred

         5       to in paragraph 15?

         6       A.   Correct.

         7

         8       Q.   With that amendment, do you say that the contents of

         9       this statement described as a further statement of

        10       22 August 2006 are true and correct to the best of your

        11       knowledge and belief?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   That has been marked as exhibit 1027.

        15

        16       Q.   Mr Hogan, in June of '99, with Mark Emons, you visited

        17       Iraq; that's true, is it not?

        18       A.   That's correct.

        19

        20       Q.   Thereafter, having been told what you were told by the

        21       Iraqis concerning a $12 per metric tonne cost of discharge

        22       and land transport, you engaged in some email traffic,

        23       which I'm sure we're all familiar with, where the purpose

        24       seems to have been to disguise payments that were being

        25       made to the Iraqis.  What do you say about that?

        26       A.   No, I say that's incorrect.  We came out of Baghdad

        27       and we were told by the Grain Board of Iraq that it had

        28       been submitted in the distribution plan.  I took that at

        29       face value.  I didn't know whether it was approved or not

        30       approved.  I set an inquiry just into plan by contacting

        31       our liaison with the Australian Mission, through to Tim

        32       Snowball in New York, to inquire about what was happening

        33       with this distribution plan that the Iraqis said they'd

        34       submitted that included the transport fee.  He came back

        35       and responded and said that it was - that the distribution

        36       plan had been confirmed and approved by the United Nations,

        37       which is consistent with exactly what the Grain Board of

        38       Iraq had told us, and the second part that he advised us

        39       was that terms and conditions were also before the United

        40       Nations and at that stage he didn't have the final outcome

        41       of those and he asked for a copy of the actual terms and

        42       conditions.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Snowball did?

        45       A.   Mr Snowball requested.  But at that stage it was -

        46       information was consistent with what the Grain Board were

        47       telling us, but it was not a position of "has this been
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         1       fully approved and is it completely legal or is it not

         2       approved and illegal", hence I started the inquiry and

         3       proper process by going back through our New York office.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Within AWB, when you say you started the

         6       inquiry?

         7       A.   Correct, with our liaison to the Australian Mission.

         8       We only have - we used New York as our liaison.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS.   Can we bring up AWB.5000.0140.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   While that's happening, Mr Hogan,

        13       did you ever see a distribution plan.

        14       A.   No, I didn't.  My understanding of a distribution plan

        15       from my experience was that it would break down - they

        16       would say there are so many billions of dollars allocated

        17       for the distribution of, say, wheat products and flour, and

        18       they would break that down into kilograms per head per

        19       governorate in certain areas of Iraq and they would have

        20       all of this broken down into the funds allocated and I

        21       think it was quite an extensive document.  But when

        22       Tim Snowball came back he also sent me an email link saying

        23       there's a link here where the distribution plan has been

        24       approved.  I never went in and checked it and I didn't

        25       consider to go in and check because at this time I

        26       was - came in to assist Mark Emons with this market.  I

        27       started the inquiry and the process from the trip report,

        28       but I didn't do any follow-up on it.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In this email of 25 June 1999 you say, if

        31       we go to the next page, 0141:

        32

        33            The USD12.00  will be added onto CIF

        34            price - so no skin off our nose - however

        35            we need to find a way to implement the

        36            payments as Iraq a/c's frozen.  Discretion

        37            is required here.

        38

        39       You there refer to the fact that the Iraqi accounts are

        40       frozen.  What are you referring to?

        41       A.   On the 17th - well, I don't even know - on 17 June

        42       Graham Owen sent me a thing when we first got the tender

        43       document from the Grain Board of Iraq with the new tender

        44       terms and conditions.  I think he made reference in there

        45       that the accounts are frozen with about seven or eight

        46       question marks under it, how could we do this.  That was

        47       the United Nations, UN sanctions - part of the UN
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         1       sanctions, sorry, that they had frozen all of the Iraqi

         2       accounts, so that was an issue in the mechanics.  That's

         3       what I was referring to.

         4

         5            But I also would have had that knowledge that all

         6       Iraqi accounts were frozen because of the debt that was

         7       owing to the Australian Government, to the Australian

         8       farmers, that froze all the accounts after the Gulf War.

         9

        10       Q.   So in relation to that, you knew that the Iraqi

        11       accounts were frozen and you say:

        12

        13            ...we need to find a way to implement the

        14            payments...

        15

        16       Why would you have needed to find a way to implement the

        17       payments if the UN had approved the payments?

        18       A.   Because, as I've said before, at this stage - right at

        19       this stage here, we didn't know if it was approved or not

        20       approved, so we've set that chase in, approached the UN

        21       Mission, see if it's approved for a start.  But because of

        22       the frozen accounts, there's no banking account or no

        23       accounting system - banking system in Iraq, the issue that

        24       was being presented to us was also how was this going to be

        25       paid, and that was put through to us from the Iraqis, that

        26       maybe it was going to be paid through - I think in the

        27       first June meetings we may have said it's a Jordanian

        28       account or a bank account in Jordan or to use the maritime

        29       agents.

        30

        31            So what I'm saying is the problem is reiterating there

        32       that there is no banking system in Iraq so we can't make

        33       payment anyway.  But that's behind the fact that we're

        34       saying the first thing we're doing is checking with the UN

        35       about what's happening with this actual fee.

        36

        37       Q.   If anybody had looked at the distribution plan that

        38       was available on the UN's web site at that time, they would

        39       have seen that there was no reference in the UN

        40       distribution plan to permission for Iraq to be paid any

        41       money in US dollars on account of discharge or inland

        42       transportation.  The distribution plan simply didn't

        43       descend to that kind of detail.

        44       A.   Well, I can't - Mr Agius, I didn't check the

        45       distribution plan, I'm sorry.

        46

        47       Q.   But were you ever told that this was covered under the
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         1       distribution plan by anybody but an Iraqi?

         2       A.   Later on in the piece, yes, it was included into the

         3       contracts, that it was subject to the approval of the UN

         4       distribution plan.

         5

         6       Q.   Leaving aside what happened with the administration of

         7       contracts, were you ever told by anybody other than an IGB

         8       representative - when I said "Iraqi", I meant somebody

         9       connected with the IGB or with Iraq, in the sense of being

        10       a customer for wheat - were you told by anybody, but

        11       somebody like that, that the discharge costs or inland

        12       transportation fees were approved under the distribution

        13       plan?

        14       A.   No, I was never told by anyone other than the Grain

        15       Board of Iraq that it was incorporated and put into the

        16       distribution plan.

        17

        18       Q.   If we just look at item 10, you say:

        19

        20            Discretion is required here.

        21

        22       That is said in reference to this statement:

        23

        24            The USD12.00 will be added onto CIF

        25            price - so no skin off our nose - however

        26            we need to find a way to implement the

        27            payments as Iraq a/c's frozen.

        28

        29       If you believed that this was approved by the United

        30       Nations, why would you need to find a way to implement the

        31       payments?  Would it not simply be a matter of making an

        32       approved payment?

        33       A.   No - with regards to making the payments?  Well, this

        34       is right at the very beginning.  As I said, at this stage

        35       here I do not know whether it is approved or not approved,

        36       okay, so I have no state of belief that this is not

        37       approved, so we need to use discretion, or that it's been

        38       approved and there should be a mechanism from the UN.

        39

        40       Q.   So you haven't yet accepted what the Iraqis have told

        41       you?

        42       A.   No, not at all.

        43

        44       Q.   So against the possibility, then, that this has not

        45       been approved by the United Nations --

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   -- is it in that context that you say "we need to find

         2       a way to implement payments" and that "discretion is

         3       required"?

         4       A.   No, I'm reiterating what my knowledge was at the time

         5       from the trade finance guys that all accounts were frozen.

         6       I've asked him to check through to see - firstly we've

         7       asked to see what's happening with the approval process

         8       first.  Then one of the issues that accompanies that is

         9       that the payment mechanism itself was going to be an issue,

        10       and that was a problem that we had to deal with.

        11

        12       Q.   But why would the payment mechanism be an issue if the

        13       UN had approved the imposition and the payment of a US$12

        14       discharge or trucking fee?

        15       A.   But - yeah, well, my understanding - this is my

        16       understanding at the time - was that there was no account

        17       system in Iraq, you couldn't make a transfer into Iraq as

        18       it had frozen accounts.  So we were told by the Iraqis that

        19       it was going to be paid through maritime agents, which was

        20       impossible; could not be done.  That was my understanding,

        21       I'm sorry, that there was no bank accounts in Iraq.

        22

        23       Q.   Are you relating the freezing of the Iraqi accounts to

        24       the UN sanctions, as you've said in your evidence today --

        25       A.   Yes, the first part that I'm referring to here is the

        26       freezing.  We knew all the accounts were frozen by the UN

        27       after the Gulf War.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   If it was thought that the United

        30       Nations had approved this payment of $12 per tonne, and if

        31       it was thought that there was no way of making the payment,

        32       did anyone consider going to the United Nations and saying

        33       "It can't be done"?

        34       A.   The initial part here was - this is where I've sent

        35       the inquiry to say - find out about the fee, for a start,

        36       is what I've asked our liaisons in New York, to approach

        37       the UN - approach the Australian Mission, don't wave flags

        38       about us approaching and finding out and to find out what

        39       is happening with it.  That's where I've set the chain in

        40       motion for a start.  After this I've basically dropped out

        41       of it.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, not quite, because I suspect you

        44       were still in the loop on Tuesday, 12 November, when you

        45       sent an email which we have as exhibit 9 --

        46       A.   Tuesday, 12 November - sorry, after --

        47
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         1       Q.   Sorry, Tuesday, 12 October, when you sent the email

         2       that we have as exhibit 9, AWB.5035.0337, perhaps the most

         3       memorable email that this inquiry has dealt with.  This is

         4       the "buy a very large suitcase" email.  It's dated

         5       12 October 1999.  It should come up in a moment.  I'm not

         6       going to read it again, but I'll let you read it to refresh

         7       your recollection.

         8       A.   Yes.  I know this.

         9

        10       Q.   This is now October of 1999.  It's four months after

        11       the email that I last showed you about "Discretion is

        12       required here".  That was a June email.  The contracts in

        13       July have been written.  They've gone off to the UN.

        14       They've come back approved.  They include a clause which

        15       says, "Discharge free into truck to all governorates of

        16       Iraq with a discharge cost of up to $12 per metric tonne".

        17       A.   Payable to Iraq, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Payable to --

        20       A.   To the nominated Iraqi maritime agents.

        21

        22       Q.   -- nominated, in effect, Iraqi maritime agents --

        23       A.   Correct.

        24

        25       Q.   -- subject to approval of the distribution plan.

        26       Those three July contracts have gone off on 14 July or

        27       thereabouts and have been approved by the UN in a short

        28       time.  You may or may not have known that as at 12 October

        29       1999, but, nonetheless, on 12 October 1999 you are still

        30       talking of ways in which to pay this $12 a tonne fee other

        31       than simply making a direct payment.  Why is that?

        32       A.   When I went in on the 30th - well, first of all, I was

        33       shown a copy of the contracts sent by Darryl Borlase prior

        34       to me going in with the chairman and Mr Murray Rogers, so I

        35       was shown that.  I knew the contracts had been approved,

        36       had displayed the fee.  It was consistent with everything

        37       at that stage that was told to me in June, the point up to

        38       where I left off in June.

        39

        40            I think on 30 September Mark highlighted to me,

        41       "However, there still is" - I think it's important, too,

        42       that Mark Emons' first part was

        43

        44            Many thanks for stepping into the gap for

        45            me.

        46

        47       So the first point here is that Iraq is still not my
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         1       market.  I'm a fill-in on this as well:

         2

         3            The initial issue of the inland transport

         4            that we are required to make under the new

         5            contract, speaking with Graham Owen he

         6            suggests the only way we can make the

         7            payment is hold the money back in the

         8            account in Australia until the sanctions

         9            are lifted, or we make a payment in the

        10            Jordanian accounts.  Because of the

        11            sanctions, we can't do this through the

        12            OECD country --

        13

        14       which is what I've referred to as US economic sanctions --

        15

        16            Alternatively we drop to $12, and you try

        17            to do that with Zuhair.

        18

        19       So that was the information I had been loaded up with

        20       before I go in to Iraq, into Baghdad.  It's not my advice

        21       but my actual management.

        22

        23            Then I come to - when I do come out of Iraq I come out

        24       and they say, "Actually, yes, we wanted to drop this fee"

        25       and I was thinking of alternatives.  One was to do a barter

        26       system, because we were trading grain.  We'll just trade

        27       value of grain.  We'll actually sell more wheat to Iraq by

        28       doing that, which is a benefit to AWB and alleviates all

        29       the problem completely.

        30

        31            Zuhair then said that they couldn't do that.  Then

        32       they came back and it was the bank account system in

        33       Jordan, which was a suggestion from our trade finance

        34       person, and Zuhair had advised me that they were going to

        35       set up an account in Jordan to do that.  AWB were talking

        36       about structuring an account in Jordan, et cetera, and I

        37       said "You don't need to do that; just direct pay from our

        38       bank account from New York directly to Jordan, as long as

        39       you don't mention the word - not link as apparent - "as

        40       long as you don't mention Iraq, otherwise the system would

        41       reject it."

        42

        43       Q.   I know we're working through this email of 12 October,

        44       but if I can just capture what I think you're saying about

        45       your state of knowledge as at 12 October.  You had seen

        46       one, at least, approved July contract --

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   -- by the time you wrote this email?

         3       A.   Yes, it was faxed to me as part of the brief and I

         4       would have known it was UN approved.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, it must have been, because wheat was going to

         7       Iraq and business had been continuing and I imagine if the

         8       contract hadn't been approved you would have heard about

         9       it.

        10       A.   Correct.

        11

        12       Q.   You go further than that and say you had seen, what,

        13       an AWB contract including the term "discharge cost up to a

        14       maximum of $12", et cetera, approved by the UN.

        15       A.   Yeah, there was - a copy of the contract was faxed to

        16       me from Darryl Borlase.  I think that was already in

        17       evidence earlier.

        18

        19       Q.   If you believed by that that the UN had approved the

        20       $12 a tonne discharge fee, why then not simply make the

        21       payment directly to the Iraqis?

        22       A.   There was no bank account system in Iraq, and,

        23       Mr Agius, at that stage if someone's presented me a

        24       contract that's got all those terms in it saying the UN

        25       have approved this, I cannot say, "I'm sorry, that's

        26       impossible".  I can't - with my state of mind and knowledge

        27       that I had about the Iraqi market at that time, I couldn't

        28       actually say, "You're joking, the UN could not possibly

        29       have approved these contracts", if they would say "They

        30       have, here's the approvals".

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   There's no contract which talks

        33       about a transport fee or a transport fee payment.  The only

        34       one is a discharge fee.

        35       A.   The initial tender - if I can find it - actually

        36       refers to discharge of transport.

        37

        38       Q.   I know.  But the contract doesn't.

        39       A.   The contract goes to discharge, which was - and,

        40       again, when we were in - the tender condition initially was

        41       discharge --

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It was discharge and land transport?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   The contract only refers to discharge cost of up to a

        47       maximum of $12.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What made you think the United

         4       Nations were approving a transport fee if no document that

         5       ever went to them referred to a transport fee?

         6       A.   They were approving this $12 - because it was free in

         7       truck all governorates of Iraq, so the distribution had to

         8       go over ship's rail to all governorates of Iraq.  That's

         9       the actual contract term.  Every contract that we put

        10       through from the start of it was free in truck, or CIF

        11       Umm Qasr, free in truck, so that means we go over the

        12       ship's rail, delivered to all governorates of Iraq, which

        13       means we pay the transport.  That's every contract.  But

        14       that's only my understanding of sitting in Cairo being part

        15       of initial discussions in June and then coming back in when

        16       I really shouldn't have been, coming back in into October

        17       and saying "This is what's been approved by the United

        18       Nations."  I'm being told by my management about this.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I understand that.  I'm just trying to put

        21       myself in your shoes, and accepting what you say, you

        22       believe that the UN had approved the US$12 per tonne

        23       payment and you say that there was no banking system in

        24       Iraq.

        25       A.   That's my interpretation.

        26

        27       Q.   And that all Iraqi bank accounts were frozen.

        28       A.   Correct.

        29

        30       Q.   What would be the point of the United Nations

        31       approving a US dollar payment in US dollars to the Iraqis

        32       if presumably the UN had the same knowledge you had that

        33       all Iraqi accounts were frozen?  What would be the value of

        34       such an approval?

        35       A.   The initial structuring, as I say, that - it was

        36       covered by the Iraqis, but the initial structure was paying

        37       these maritime agents to take on the transport fee, but I

        38       didn't - I never comprehended on how - I've always said I

        39       believed the money was going into Iraq.  I still don't know

        40       how they transferred that now.

        41

        42       Q.   That's why I invited you back here today because it,

        43       with great respect, seems not to follow that you would

        44       believe that the UN would approve a payment of $12 a tonne

        45       to the Iraqis in the knowledge that it must have shared

        46       with you, if indeed it was such public knowledge - there's

        47       no reason to doubt that it was - that you couldn't actually
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         1       physically make a US$12 a tonne payment to the Iraqis.  It

         2       would be a pointless approval.

         3       A.   That's not - from the way the whole UN system worked,

         4       that - to not put these mechanisms in was no shock or

         5       surprise.  As close as I was to the business then - which

         6       wasn't that close - my understanding is that the whole

         7       Oil-for-Food Program wasn't commercial; it was final

         8       weights at discharge port and not at load ports.  There was

         9       a whole range of uncommercial terms.

        10

        11       Q.   What's troubling about that, Mr Hogan, is why didn't

        12       somebody get on the phone or write a letter to the UN and

        13       say, "Listen, you've approved this $12 a tonne discharge

        14       fee, which we understand to be a transport fee, but there's

        15       no mechanism by which we can practically pay it, what does

        16       your approval mean?" Why wasn't that method adopted after

        17       the contracts were approved in July 1999, rather than a

        18       persistence with trying to find a method to pay the money,

        19       which clearly was going to expose AWB to risk?

        20       A.   Mr Agius, you're asking me why my management didn't

        21       approach the UN and ask for the payment system.  I don't

        22       know - I can only take it from my involvement in June, the

        23       contract's done, it was approved, I sat in front of the

        24       actual Iraqis and spoke to the Iraqis with my chairman and

        25       CEO there, we raised it again in the CEO report.  Why the

        26       management didn't proceed and do this, this is the

        27       information the management is giving me.  The problem we

        28       have is still making the payment.  I didn't see that as - I

        29       saw it as an issue with the payment, not an issue with the

        30       UN.  You're asking me why I didn't go round my management

        31       and make the phone call.

        32

        33       Q.   But there's one other matter that should be put into

        34       the mix in relation to the problem I posed for you, and

        35       that is that UN sanctions prohibited the payment of money

        36       to the Iraqis in anything other than dinars, and this was

        37       to be a payment of US$12 a tonne.

        38       A.   Correct.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you really believe that this was a valid approval

        41       from the United Nations?

        42       A.   I had nothing to contradict - we had a contract there,

        43       we were executing business, I had nothing to say that it

        44       wasn't approved.  This is the whole - I didn't question it.

        45       I accepted that this was in place at that stage.  I knew

        46       there were issues with the mechanism, but even after I came

        47       back out of Iraq there was an email from the manager again
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         1       that this is UN approved, "we shouldn't go through a third

         2       party, we don't want to waste time getting another UN

         3       approval".  This is correspondence sent to me, I dropped

         4       out of it again.  We then disclosed it to our CEO report

         5       about the free in truck clause into Iraq, so we're not

         6       hiding it from anyone.

         7

         8       Q.   No, I'm not suggesting you are hiding matters within

         9       AWB; I am trying to get you to expand upon what appears to

        10       be a logical difficulty.  You have a contract which, on its

        11       face, has been approved by the UN.  But what has been

        12       approved is (a), practically impossible to do because you

        13       cannot pay US$12 per tonne into an Iraqi bank account; and

        14       (b), appears to be, and indeed is, contrary to UN

        15       sanctions.  So, faced with those two obstacles, the

        16       approach seems to have been rather than to confront the UN

        17       with the practical difficulties that the approval creates,

        18       to try to find a method around those practical

        19       difficulties.  What I'm asking you is why wasn't a direct

        20       approach made to your knowledge?

        21       A.   Well, I don't - I don't know why a direct approach

        22       wasn't made to my knowledge, Mr Agius.  I only had the

        23       facts there.  If you go back to June, I've asked our

        24       liaison to the Australian Mission in New York to approach

        25       them to ask them about the fee.  So I have made - I've

        26       already advised from that point of view for them to

        27       actually make an inquiry about the fee.

        28

        29       Q.   Then if we go to this email which is on the screen,

        30       bearing in mind the evidence you've given, the third-last

        31       paragraph, in brackets you say:

        32

        33            (We could probably by pass the Account in

        34            Jordan and transfer directly to the

        35            "special" nominated account - as long as

        36            the link was not apparent that the funds

        37            were going into Irq.

        38

        39       That special nominated account, was that to be an account

        40       set up in Jordan?

        41       A.   That was the account that the Iraqis - Zuhair advised

        42       us about.

        43

        44       Q.   Why did you add, if you were of the belief that the

        45       payments were UN approved, the words "as long as the link

        46       was not apparent that the funds were going into Iraq",

        47       because if the UN had approved the payment of $12 a tonne
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         1       into Iraq, why would you want to make it appear that it was

         2       not apparent that the funds were actually going into Iraq?

         3       A.   I explained this before.  Every time we would pay a

         4       ship owner and put on the actual international transfer,

         5       our US dollar transfer to a ship owner who's done freight

         6       to Iraq, if we actually put on the payment for "payment for

         7       freight to Iraq", the US banking system would throw it out.

         8       If you mentioned Iraq or Iran or Sudan in any of the US

         9       sanctioned countries, the banking system would throw it

        10       out.

        11

        12       Q.   You say that's why you added these words, you wanted

        13       to be cautious about the link so that the US sanctions -

        14       that is, the United States sanctions, in terms of paying

        15       United States dollars to the Iraqis - would not prevent the

        16       payment?

        17       A.   And I take that again from the 30 September from

        18       Mark Emons, that he said "Because of the sanctions we can't

        19       do any of this through an OECD country", and that's how we

        20       used to do the Iranian business, we used to do it through

        21       European transfer or something.  That was my interpretation

        22       of what he told me in September.

        23

        24       Q.   Just to move on with the chronology, that's what you

        25       say was your state of mind as at October 1999 when you sent

        26       that email after your trip to Iraq.  What you told us on

        27       the last occasion, or perhaps the occasion before that you

        28       were here, you said that you'd learnt of the Canadian

        29       complaint and that it related to inland transport fees in

        30       July of 2000.  Now, you addressed that in your statement

        31       that we have from you, this further your statement, at

        32       paragraph 21.  You say:

        33

        34            I was aware in 2000 that the Canadians had

        35            made a complaint to the UN about the inland

        36            transport fee and that they did not want to

        37            pay it.  I did not have the details of this

        38            complaint, but I was aware that they were

        39            shipping wheat to Iraq up until February

        40            2001.

        41

        42            I asked a trader in Geneva in July 2000,

        43            about the Canadian complaint, and he

        44            advised that the Canadian complaint had

        45            been resolved.

        46

        47       You say "See exhibit 148":
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         1

         2            I sent the trader's response to Charles

         3            Stott and to Tim Snowball in New York.  I

         4            did not receive any comment from Tim

         5            Snowball about this.

         6

         7       What were the circumstances in which you learnt of the

         8       Canadian complaint?  Are they as you describe them in your

         9       statement?

        10       A.   Well, I've tried to think more and more about when and

        11       what happened with the Canadian complaint.  In July 2000,

        12       the reason we had to go in was our vessels were rejected

        13       for an E-coli contamination.  Prior to that, and I think it

        14       may have been in March or April, three Canadian vessels

        15       were rejected or had problems at discharge at Umm Qasr.

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.

        18       A.   And I think - I'm trying to think maybe March or

        19       April.  So maybe around that time, maybe it's possible that

        20       I would have heard from the trade if there are rejected

        21       vessels in the Persian Gulf, that I would have maybe become

        22       aware of issues with the Canadian and Iraqi business and

        23       possibly picked it up from there.  When we went in July we

        24       also knew that the Canadians had just been in disputing or

        25       having an issue with the Iraqis, and from that point I may

        26       have also picked up that it was about the free in truck

        27       clause.

        28

        29       Q.   What did you pick up?

        30       A.   I heard that they were complaining about the payment

        31       of the free in truck, and that's as far as my knowledge

        32       goes.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you know that they had refused

        35       to pay it?

        36       A.   No, I didn't.  I've cast my mind back on this and

        37       right from the part of June - at this stage, sorry,

        38       Commissioner, we're talking in July 2000.  I did learn

        39       later in February 2001 that we were told by the Iraqis

        40       about it, but at this stage we were told in June when we

        41       complained about having to pay the inland transport - I

        42       think AWB first rejected wanting to do this and complained

        43       to them - we were told that it was a presidential decree or

        44       something that every supplier supplying Iraq will be

        45       operating under the same terms and conditions.  So that's

        46       the Iraqis.

        47
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         1       Q.   But you weren't making a complaint in July 2000, were

         2       you, about paying the inland trucking fee?

         3       A.   No.  But once I didn't - I --

         4

         5       Q.   I had thought it had been agreed back in June '99 that

         6       it would be paid.

         7       A.   We initially complained about it, yes.  But what I'm

         8       saying is that I heard they were - I didn't know they were

         9       complaining about refusing to pay it.  Because the

        10       Canadians were also shipping, I assumed they are shipping

        11       under the same terms and I didn't know the issue with -

        12       what the issue was directly, what issue they were having

        13       with regards to the free in truck.  I had heard that it was

        14       an issue with the free in truck clause.  I didn't know they

        15       were refusing to pay it.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You never found out then the detail of the

        18       Canadian complaint?

        19       A.   No, I never investigated back through it.  The July -

        20       I think this may have been stemmed from a question from

        21       Charles Stott at the end of June - sorry, end of July, and

        22       I responded back.  I checked out with the trade who were

        23       shipping and moving Canadian wheat and they said that the

        24       differences between Iraq and Canada had been resolved and

        25       the Canadians continued to ship wheat to Iraq.

        26

        27       Q.   When you were before the inquiry on 6 February at

        28       2028, I said to you:

        29

        30            While we're on the topic of things

        31            Canadian, Mr Hogan, were you aware as at

        32            early 2000 that a complaint had been made

        33            concerning the way in which the AWB was

        34            doing business with Iraq, specifically

        35            raising the question as to whether or not

        36            any side payment was being made to Iraq?

        37

        38       So that's how I phrased the Canadian complaint, how I

        39       described it.  Your answer was this:

        40

        41            I was aware that the Canadians - I think I

        42            became more aware of that probably later in

        43            the year, some questions were asked, and we

        44            went back and found the Canadians had made

        45            a complaint, something - I didn't find out

        46            what the final outcome of that complaint

        47            was apart from the fact that the Canadians
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         1            were shipping product to Iraq and continued

         2            to ship product to Iraq.  So I didn't see

         3            any outcome of it.  I'd just make an

         4            assumption that the Canadians raised an

         5            issue at one time.  We saw, in our July

         6            trip of 2000, the Canadians had just been

         7            in prior to AWB, some of their vessels had

         8            been rejected.  Their delegation had an

         9            accident on the way to Umm Qasr.  There was

        10            issues raised with the Minister of Trade

        11            from Canada about it.  But following that I

        12            think we were advised the Canadians had

        13            resolved their issues with the Iraqis and

        14            then there was Canadian wheat I think

        15            reshipped back to Iraq.  Every country was

        16            shipping under the same terms and

        17            conditions.

        18            Q.   What did you learn, if anything, of

        19            the terms of the Canadian complaint?

        20            A.   I didn't understand - I understand

        21            that I think the Canadians, or my

        22            recollection would be that the Canadians

        23            complained I think about - I think it was,

        24            you know, about the inland transport fee.

        25            I think that's what the complaint was

        26            about.

        27            Q.   What was the source of that

        28            information?  Where did you learn that?

        29            A.   I think this may have been more

        30            towards the middle of the year more so than

        31            when they actually made the complaint,

        32            maybe when I came back to Australia.

        33            Q.   So you learnt about it after the

        34            event?

        35            A.   Yes, I think so, when we were looking

        36            back to just chase down some things,

        37            probably on the UN distribution plan, see

        38            what was on the files maybe or checking to

        39            see what was happening.

        40            Q.   From whom did you learn that such a

        41            complaint had been made?

        42            A.   I can't recall if it was just on -

        43            whether we checked with Tim Snowball or it

        44            was someone on the desk had told me,

        45            Darryl Borlase.  I'm not sure.  I can't

        46            recall exactly how I found out about the

        47            Canadian - or it may have come from the
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         1            trade, from Tradigrain or people that we

         2            kept in touch with.

         3

         4       Then I took you on to an email and I asked you to read it.

         5       I believe it was exhibit 148.  I took you to that email,

         6       which we might bring up now, AWB.5073.0292.  I'll just give

         7       you a moment to read that, Mr Hogan.  It's an email you've

         8       referred to earlier today in your evidence.

         9       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        10

        11       Q.   I'll continue reading from the transcript.  I asked

        12       for this email to be brought up and I described the email.

        13       I drew your attention to the second-last paragraph and I

        14       said:

        15

        16            In particular, the second-last paragraph.

        17

        18       You said:

        19

        20            A   Yes, that's on the trade, yes.

        21            Q.  Is that the reference that you were

        22            making earlier?

        23            A.   Yes.

        24            Q.   You'd spoken to somebody; who was

        25            that?

        26            A.   Peter Grady from Tradigrain, the

        27            international grain trading company that

        28            was based in Geneva.

        29            Q.   And he had advised you he believed

        30            that the Canadians had resolved their

        31            differences with Iraq?

        32            A.   Mmm-hmm.  This is what I was advised

        33            in Iraq.

        34            Q.   So it seems you'd also been told that

        35            by the Iraqis; is that right?

        36            A.   Yeah, because we would have spoken in

        37            Iraq about it because their vessels had

        38            just been rejected prior to ours and they,

        39            as I said - I can recall that issue because

        40            a Canadian delegation, their car overturned

        41            on the way to Umm Qasr and the Canadian

        42            Minister of Trade made an accusation that

        43            the accident was suspicious and basically

        44            accused the Iraqis of planning something

        45            against the Canadians and withdrew it the

        46            next day.  So it was an issue when we were

        47            in there.
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         1

         2       That's the evidence you gave about how you came to learn of

         3       the Canadian complaint.  In particular, you said - I won't

         4       read it again - that you were looking back just to chase

         5       things down, probably on the UN distribution plan, see what

         6       was on the files, you couldn't recall whether you'd been

         7       told it by Tim Snowball, Darryl Borlase or if someone on

         8       the desk had told you, but you were aware that it was about

         9       the inland transport fee.

        10

        11            Now, that doesn't really fit with what you have in

        12       your statement at paragraphs 21 and 22.  Your evidence on

        13       that occasion in March of this year was to the effect that

        14       you'd learnt information about the Canadian complaint back

        15       at AWB in Melbourne.

        16       A.   Can I answer that, Mr Agius?

        17

        18       Q.   Yes.

        19       A.   It's impossible.  I was still in Cairo when I actually

        20       wrote the email back to - I've looked back over this.  I

        21       was trying to understand, because I couldn't specifically

        22       recall the Canadian complaint.  I knew about the Canadian

        23       complaint and I knew about it before this July trip, around

        24       this July trip, because of the rejected vessels.  When I

        25       was saying I went back and looked through things in the

        26       office and files, I was actually based in Cairo.

        27

        28       Q.   When did you come back?

        29       A.   I think I was back in the office on 7 or 8 August

        30       2000 - 6 August, or something.

        31

        32       Q.   Why might you not have looked it up when you returned

        33       in August of 2000?

        34       A.   Well, I didn't.  I don't recall.  I think that last

        35       correspondence on 2 August was an answer to the question

        36       that Charles had posed.  I copied in Tim Snowball - who

        37       again is linked with our liaison; if something was going to

        38       be complained or if there was something amiss with that

        39       with the United Nations, or something, then he'd be the

        40       person to copy in on it - and the trade was saying it was -

        41       Canadians resolved it, Canadians were shipping again to

        42       Iraq.  I wouldn't understand why I would want to then go

        43       back and re-check it again.

        44

        45       Q.   All this email of 2 August speaks about in relation to

        46       the Canadians is that they've resolved their differences

        47       with Iraq.  You say, "This is what I was advised in Iraq
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         1       and that the IGB were going to speak with the Canadians

         2       after we left to execute their previous contracts".  You go

         3       further than that in your evidence and you don't say that

         4       this occurred necessarily in July.  What you said in your

         5       evidence in March of this year was:

         6

         7            I think this may have been more towards the

         8            middle of the year, more so than when they

         9            actually made the complaint, maybe when I

        10            came back to Australia.

        11

        12       You say:

        13

        14            When we were looking back just to chase

        15            down some things, probably on the UN

        16            distribution plan, see what was on the

        17            files maybe or checking to see what was

        18            happening.

        19

        20       You said you "couldn't recall if it was just on - whether

        21       we checked with Mr Snowball" - that is with Tim Snowball -

        22       "or it was - someone on the desk had told me, Darryl

        23       Borlase, I'm not sure, I can't recall exactly how I found

        24       out about the Canadian or it may have come from the trade."

        25

        26            You raised the possibility there of you receiving the

        27       information after you'd returned to Australia either from

        28       Mr Snowball, Mr Borlase, of someone on the desk.  You also

        29       refer to chasing things down on the distribution plan or

        30       the files.  Why shouldn't we accept that evidence?

        31       A.   Well, since giving that evidence, Mr Agius, I've gone

        32       back over and checked dates and had another look at where I

        33       was and what time, et cetera, in regards to this Canadian

        34       complaint, because my recollection of the Canadian

        35       complaint, considering that Iraq was not my market up until

        36       July 2000 - you have to remember that I was dealing with

        37       Egypt and Sudan and markets there, so Iraq wasn't on my

        38       radar.  I could recall the Canadian complaint, I could

        39       recall something happening, and the more that I've thought

        40       about this email, 2 August, so I was still based in Egypt,

        41       Cairo.  I couldn't recall exactly how I heard about it.  I

        42       did know about the rejected vessels and I even started to

        43       think, Mr Agius, that those vessels may have been rejected

        44       in March or April of 2000, not in July 2000, and if they

        45       were rejected then I would have known that there were

        46       issues with Iraq because rejected vessels floating in the

        47       Persian Gulf would end up in some of my markets, or
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         1       something, so I may have even learnt about it earlier.

         2

         3       Q.   But when you did learn about the Canadian complaint,

         4       you learnt about it in terms of a complaint concerning the

         5       trucking fee, didn't you?

         6       A.   That came to my awareness at some stage, whether it

         7       was in the - when the vessels were first rejected or as

         8       part of the July trip or at some stage or talking to AWB.

         9       I did become aware that they complained about the trucking

        10       clause.

        11

        12       Q.   To the UN?

        13       A.   I'm not sure if I said the UN or I just became aware

        14       that they'd complained about it.

        15

        16       Q.   Well, who else would they complain to about the

        17       trucking fees?

        18       A.   Well, they could complain to the Iraqis or the UN.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you not learn by August of 2000 that the Canadians

        21       had made a complaint concerning the way in which AWB was

        22       doing business with Iraq, specifically raising the question

        23       as to whether or not any side payment was being made to

        24       Iraq?

        25       A.   No, I have no recollection of that part of it, no.

        26

        27       Q.   Did you learn that the Canadian complaint had been to

        28       the UN?

        29       A.   I'm not sure, because I don't have a great

        30       recollection of the Canadian complaint, Mr Agius, I'm

        31       sorry.

        32

        33       Q.   Did you learn that the complaint had been in terms of

        34       the Iraqis had wanted the Canadians to pay an inland

        35       trucking fee into another account?

        36       A.   Well, I knew that the complaint was something to do

        37       with the inland trucking fee.  I didn't know about paying

        38       to another account.  I wasn't aware of that.  I can't

        39       recollect that information.

        40

        41       Q.   Once you were aware that the complaint was about an

        42       inland trucking fee, wouldn't it have put you on notice

        43       that there may be something dodgy about the inland trucking

        44       fee that AWB was paying to the Iraqis as at August of 2000?

        45       A.   August of 2000?  Before - I said that initially my

        46       belief was that the actual terms and conditions were

        47       standard for every supplier, told this by the Iraqis, the
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         1       Iraqis do not have separate contracts for separate

         2       suppliers, they have a standard contract.  So my impression

         3       was that anyone who was supplying Iraq was supplying the

         4       inland transport fee.

         5

         6            This issue came up and they were having a dispute

         7       about the inland transport fee and rejected, I must have

         8       been aware of that.  Prior to my travelling in to Iraq in

         9       July I sent through a list to several AWB staff members.

        10       One of the issues that I sent was also to Tim Snowball back

        11       in New York about the UN transport fee and maybe it was

        12       because I'd heard of the complaint and I was asking for

        13       reconfirmation as one of the issues and outlining my

        14       assumption that everything was - because it was in the

        15       contracts, it had been approved.  So I may have had a

        16       slight doubt, but I've raised it again back with Melbourne

        17       about exactly the same issue.

        18

        19       Q.   And in August of 2000 you were promoted to regional

        20       manager, Middle East.

        21       A.   When I came back, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Would you not then have wanted to apprise yourself of

        24       exactly what had gone on in relation to the Canadian

        25       complaint?

        26       A.   No.  The Canadians were shipping to Iraq.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, would you not have wanted to know what the

        29       situation was concerning the nature of the complaint as it

        30       bore upon the trucking fee?

        31       A.   No.  If you apply logic to the Canadian complaint and

        32       if they've complained to the United Nations about an

        33       illegal payment to Iraq of an inland transport fee, then

        34       one would assume that the United Nations then would stop

        35       all trade into Iraq and stop all contracts and approach all

        36       companies supplying.

        37

        38       Q.   What the United Nations did was to approach AWB and

        39       ask whether it was engaging in the payment of such a fee

        40       and was told it wasn't.

        41       A.   Yes, but I wasn't part of that, Mr Agius.  I didn't

        42       know that had happened.  Like I wasn't aware that they had

        43       approached --

        44

        45       Q.   So even when you became manager, regional manager

        46       Middle East in August 2000, you never found out any of the

        47       detail about the inquiries that had been made of AWB either
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         1       by or on behalf of the UN concerning material --

         2       A.   Not to my recollection.

         3

         4       Q.   -- that emanated from Canada?

         5       A.   Not to my recollection, no.

         6

         7       Q.   Was it just a coincidence, then, that in August of

         8       2000 the AWB contracts no longer referred to a specific

         9       amount in relation to a discharge cost?

        10       A.   These are the contracts that were for the July 2000?

        11       Is that the last contracts that didn't actually include the

        12       term, or was it January 2000?

        13

        14       Q.   When you gave evidence you said that at this time in

        15       August 2000 you'd observed that the contracts did not refer

        16       to any amount as being payable on account of the trucking

        17       fee or anything other than the full contract price.

        18       A.   Yes.  Again, I think they stopped that term in 2000 -

        19       January 2000.  Not in August 2000 - sorry --

        20

        21       Q.   Yes, that had changed in early 2000.  I can't give you

        22       the specific month.

        23       A.   Okay.  So it had changed.  That wasn't the first - but

        24       it didn't strike me, it was still free in truck all

        25       governorates of Iraq.  Sorry, Mr Agius --

        26

        27       Q.   There was no trucking fee designated?

        28       A.   No, and it didn't strike me - sorry it didn't come out

        29       at me.  I've come back, the market had been running like

        30       this for 12 months.  I had a contract that had been

        31       approved by the UN that I'd seen --

        32

        33       Q.   But it was quite different to the contracts that you

        34       saw when you came back in August of 2000, because the

        35       contracts that you saw in August of 2000 did not refer at

        36       all to a discharge fee or a trucking fee.

        37       A.   No, they didn't.

        38

        39       Q.   So how did an approval of a contract which did refer

        40       to a discharge fee or a trucking fee from July of 1999 give

        41       you any comfort in relation to contracts in August of 2000

        42       which did not contain any reference to a trucking fee or a

        43       discharge fee?

        44       A.   I didn't turn my mind to that this is all now not UN

        45       approved and illegal, Mr Agius, I'm sorry.  I didn't pick

        46       up that this was - by not declaring it on the short-form

        47       contracts --
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         1

         2       Q.   Or on any contract?  It wasn't in any of the AWB

         3       short-form, long-form, IGB or AWB contracts; there was no

         4       reference to the payment of any inland trucking fee --

         5       A.   Apart from the fact that it was all governorates

         6       Iraq - free in truck all governorates of Iraq.

         7

         8       Q.   That says nothing about paying a trucking fee to

         9       Iraqis.  That may say something about a responsibility or a

        10       contract with the Iraqis to deliver wheat to all

        11       governorates, but it says nothing at all about the payment

        12       of any trucking fee to any Iraqi.  Do you agree with that?

        13       A.   I agree with it, and at this stage it didn't turn my

        14       mind that this was all - that we should be recording this

        15       in these contracts.  My state of mind was that it had been

        16       approved, it was a pre-determined fee, it had been approved

        17       and that was how I thought it was operating.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Hogan, by January 2001 the

        20       so-called trucking fee had been inflated by the equivalent

        21       of 10 per cent of the contract value.

        22       A.   It was a fee plus the 10 per cent to make it increased

        23       up to $44, yes - February 2001.

        24

        25       Q.   So there was an increase of 10 per cent additional to

        26       the trucking fee, which was then renamed as an increased

        27       trucking fee.

        28       A.   Which was then retermed, the inland trucking fee

        29       still, as it was called.

        30

        31       Q.   As I understand your evidence in the report that you

        32       and Mr Borlase wrote when you came back you said "this is a

        33       way of siphoning off money from the escrow account".  That

        34       necessarily means, doesn't it, that at that point of time

        35       you appreciated that the United Nations did not approve of

        36       that increase or the increase of the trucking fee, for the

        37       simple reason that they would not approve of a siphoning

        38       off of funds to Iraq from the escrow account.

        39       A.   No, my interpretation is still, and state of mind was,

        40       that there was a pre-approved transport fee.

        41

        42       Q.   Yes, but not of $44?

        43       A.   No, on the February, when we came back in February, I

        44       have no qualms about this, that I became - that it had

        45       become $44 - the 10 per cent was told to me as handling

        46       initially.  It was then told to me as a service -

        47       aftersales service fee, which is not trucking.  They were
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         1       calling it all under one banner of inland trucking fee, so

         2       it became $44.  So we're talking about an excessive

         3       trucking fee, which had 10 per cent included in it, and

         4       they said they were using it to build infrastructure, and

         5       that's when the penny dropped that the siphoning was

         6       taking - but it didn't drop on that I believe that - from

         7       the evidence that I had from the previous - without doing

         8       my own thorough investigations, was that there was a true

         9       transport cost and that had been approved by the United

        10       Nations.

        11

        12       Q.   But not that 10 per cent?

        13       A.   10 per cent definitely not, no.

        14

        15       Q.   What did you do apart from write that fact in the trip

        16       report?

        17       A.   I verbally raised it with my general - I brought it

        18       back to Melbourne as soon as I returned back to Melbourne,

        19       verbally raised it with my general manager.

        20

        21       Q.   Mr Stott?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   And his response?

        25       A.   "You're only making assumptions, and continue on with

        26       the business" was pretty much it.  There was nothing about

        27       approval --

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   As at August 2000, when you became

        32       regional manager, Middle East, do you say that it was your

        33       belief, rightly or wrongly, but it was nonetheless your

        34       belief, that the UN had approved and was still approving

        35       the trucking fee?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Do you say that even though the contract since early

        39       2000 had not referred to a trucking fee or a discharge fee

        40       and had not referred to the payment of any such fee to the

        41       Iraqis, even though that had been the case, you were still

        42       of the belief that the UN was approving the trucking fee

        43       component of the dollar sum per tonne of wheat?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Even though it wasn't being informed of what the

        47       trucking fee component was or, indeed, that there was a
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         1       trucking fee as opposed to an obligation to deliver wheat

         2       to all governorates of Iraq?

         3       A.   There's two things in that, Mr Agius, and I've tried

         4       to recollect and get exact state of mind.  The first thing,

         5       when I went in July and I asked for confirmation back from

         6       Melbourne about what had happened - what was the UN's

         7       mission or position still on the trucking fee, and after

         8       the Canadian complaint - all I got back was that we're

         9       paying it now via Jordanian companies - transport companies

        10       in Jordan and --

        11

        12       Q.   Are you speaking 1999?

        13       A.   I'm speaking 2000, July 2000.  And the other thing,

        14       Mr Agius, is that at that time they said that the trucking

        15       fee, which had previously been $15, was now $14, which

        16       means that the Iraqis - the Iraqis were controlling the

        17       trucking fee without the knowledge of anyone else.  Why

        18       would they do themselves out of US$1m by dropping their fee

        19       $1?  That doesn't make any logical sense.

        20

        21            So if you apply the logic that I'm saying that I

        22       thought there was this pre-determined UN-approved fee that

        23       the Iraqis and the UN agreed on, and they've negotiated and

        24       said "well there's now going to be" - last contract - "No

        25       we're going to make it 14".  Those sorts of things kind of

        26       stick in your mind to say well who are the Iraqis

        27       negotiating this transport fee with?  That was sticking in

        28       my mind.  That was in July, August.

        29

        30            And then in October, not long after that, we write the

        31       letter that I was writing to DFAT that was going to go out

        32       under my name, not under Charles's name, that said that it

        33       was a pre-determined, approved transport fee.  I couldn't

        34       have had any other state of mind.  Why was I writing that?

        35

        36       Q.   Well, in July of 2000 the AWB wrote its last contracts

        37       with the IGB in US dollars --

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   From 2 November 2000, with contract 0430, and from

        41       then-on until the end, contracts were written in currencies

        42       other than US dollars.  The trucking fee was to be paid in

        43       relation to that November 2000 contract in Deutsche Marks.

        44       A.   Yes, Deutsche Mark, yes, and Euro.

        45

        46       Q.   And Euro.

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   So the UN sanctions about paying US dollars into Iraqi

         3       bank accounts no longer operated as a restriction on the

         4       payment of money to Iraqis.  Why did AWB continue to make

         5       payments through Alia - even though those payments were no

         6       longer in US dollars - of the inland trucking fee, when you

         7       knew that the payments were going to the Iraqis?

         8       A.   The initial bit was Alia was the nominated maritime

         9       agent, which was the Alia Transport, and that's - I took --

        10

        11       Q.   That was the scheme to get round the United States

        12       sanctions, which was an embargo - I prefer to use the words

        13       "embargo on the payment so as to avoid confusion - on the

        14       payment of US dollars to any Iraqi entity?

        15       A.   My interpretation of changing Deutsche Mark and Euro

        16       had nothing to do with US embargo on US dollars, et cetera.

        17

        18       Q.   Well, whatever the motivation of the Iraqis was, it

        19       was at their instigation, was it not?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   And it removed the impediment of the US embargo, did

        23       it not, because payments were now not being made in

        24       US dollars, they were being made in European currency.

        25       A.   Yes, to Alia, their nominated transport company.  But

        26       I don't - nothing of that registered to me that - there

        27       were still no banks in Iraq.

        28

        29       Q.   Is it just a coincidence that from the contract that

        30       was written on 2 November 2000 onwards contracts were not

        31       written in US dollars?

        32       A.   No.  My interpretation completely of the transfer from

        33       the US dollars to Euro was out of pure hatred for the

        34       United States of America.  They wanted nothing to do with -

        35       they wanted to change their bank accounts from the New York

        36       BNP and change everything.

        37

        38       Q.   That may well have been the stated reason.  It may

        39       well have been one of many reasons.  Regardless of the

        40       Iraqis' motivation, the fact is that there was then no

        41       impediment of making a payment to an Iraq bank account in

        42       Jordan, was there?  On your view of the situation, it was

        43       approved by the United Nations.  You could then write a

        44       cheque in Deutsche Marks or Euros and deposit it into an

        45       Iraqi bank account in Jordan and avoid the difficulty of

        46       dealing with a middle man like Alia.

        47       A.   That was suggested to us right from the start.  Right
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         1       at the start they said that we would have an account in

         2       Jordan.

         3

         4       Q.   Yes, well --

         5       A.   So that's not - that's not new news to me if they use

         6       Alia or their own bank account.  That doesn't make sense to

         7       me.  They've nominated Alia as their maritime agent or

         8       transport company or whatever that they wanted payment

         9       to --

        10

        11       Q.   No, they nominated Alia as company capable of

        12       receiving the money --

        13       A.   To us, to AWB?

        14

        15       Q.   Yes.

        16       A.   As their agent to receive it.  But initially they said

        17       that they were going to set up an account anyway, so --

        18

        19       Q.   Which wouldn't have worked because you had to pay in

        20       US dollars.  Now you had to pay in Euro or Deutsche Marks.

        21       A.   Well, see, I don't - that's - I haven't investigated

        22       how this would work, but I still don't see why we couldn't

        23       have paid it --

        24

        25       Q.   Well, we have, that's why I'm putting it to you.  The

        26       facts are that from November 2000 onwards the US embargo

        27       was no longer preventing the payments of the trucking fee

        28       directly to the Iraqis.  So why did AWB --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   In dollars.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   In dollars.

        33

        34       Q.   Why did AWB persist in paying through Alia?

        35       A.   That was the nominated agent, Mr Agius.  I have no

        36       other answer for that, sorry.  There's nothing that strikes

        37       me - there's nothing there that strikes me about that.

        38

        39       Q.   In May of 2001 you met with Alia and during the course

        40       of your meeting, during the course of that trip, I should

        41       say, you were told, in effect, that Alia had nothing to do

        42       with the trucking, that really it was just a conduit for

        43       the passing of money to the ISCWT in return for which it

        44       received a small commission.  You made a note about that in

        45       your notebook.

        46       A.   Correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   And you've given evidence about it.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you tell anybody at AWB about it?

         5       A.   No, I didn't.  There was two people in the room.  I've

         6       thought more and more about the actual meeting.  It was at

         7       Varoojan - the Alia agent - at his home office the next

         8       morning and there was Peter Jones and Mark Rowland in the

         9       same area, in the same meeting room, which is no bigger

        10       than a house, and I didn't know whether they were privy to

        11       the conversation or not privy to the conversation --

        12

        13       Q.   Some people's houses are bigger than others.  Do you

        14       say no bigger than a house or no bigger than a room in a

        15       house?

        16       A.   A room in a house, sorry, an office.  No, I didn't

        17       raise it.  Mr Agius, by this time, seeing that was

        18       confirmation of what I discovered in February 2001.  By

        19       that stage I had already raised that this was being

        20       syphoned.  I'd already raised --

        21

        22       Q.   Well, you'd raised something different in February

        23       2001.

        24       A.   That it was syphoned?

        25

        26       Q.   You raised the syphoning in respect of --

        27       A.   10 per cent.

        28

        29       Q.   -- the increase in the trucking fee?

        30       A.   Yeah, the 44, 10 per cent, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Now you were being told, directly from the horse's

        33       mouth, as it were, that Alia's got nothing to do with

        34       trucking at all and it was just a conduit for the payment

        35       of money to the Iraqis, that's all it was.  In fairness to

        36       you, you'd always believed, you said, that the money was

        37       going to the Iraqis.

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Here you had corroboration - indeed, support for your

        41       belief.  Why not raise it then?

        42       A.   I didn't raise it, Mr Agius.  I raised my concerns

        43       with the management in February, irrespective - I've always

        44       said the Wheat Board have always known the money was going

        45       to Iraq.  It wasn't - I just discovered the mechanism for

        46       it that what was happening, and I did think that Alia may

        47       have provided some trucks, because they did out of Aqaba.
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         1       They may have had some influence, but they were receiving

         2       only a very small commission for it and I didn't deny, and

         3       I don't think AWB denies, that the money was going into

         4       Iraq.

         5

         6       Q.   Not since the Volcker Inquiry.

         7       A.   Or paying back iron filings.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   You said the Wheat Board, you meant

        10       AWB?

        11       A.   AWB.  This is from my concept, that we knew where the

        12       money was going to Iraq.  This was just the mechanism of

        13       how it was being done.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Right.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Prior to your drafting that letter in late

        18       October, early November, the letter that was to go to DFAT,

        19       there had been an exchange of correspondence between AWB

        20       and DFAT on the problems associated with demurrage in Iraq.

        21       Did you with Mr Stott have a plan to use the inland

        22       trucking fee as a mechanism for running, in effect, a

        23       de facto dispatch/demurrage account with the Iraqis?

        24       A.   That is purely exactly why we - and it wasn't - that

        25       was the whole incentive program.  We were told we couldn't

        26       have a dispatch/demurrage account by DFAT, for a start,

        27       okay?  We couldn't hold a separate account in Australia, we

        28       couldn't do that.  One of the things - this is the whole

        29       basis of the letter that it said a pre-determined,

        30       pre-approved fee that was $12 a tonne, okay?  What we were

        31       doing was to say the incentive program, because we couldn't

        32       have the dispatch/demurrage account, the incentive program

        33       was if the vessel incurred demurrage then we would only pay

        34       them $10 a tonne, so it wasn't --

        35

        36       Q.   But the letter didn't say that?

        37       A.   No, no, my letter did.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Yes, your letter did.  Mr Stott's

        40       letter didn't.

        41       A.   I wanted to change the transport - that's why I wrote

        42       it in there, because I thought if it was fixed at $12 and

        43       we start paying them 10 or 14, that wasn't approved or

        44       agreed.  The whole incentive program was that if demurrage

        45       was incurred we would pay them $10.  If dispatch was

        46       earned, we would pay them $14.  And it goes further.

        47       Whilst we said the Jordanian companies, because that was
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         1       Alia who was the payment or nominated payment agency, the

         2       only way we could have such a system to pay that is with

         3       the cooperation of the Iraqis.  Dispatch/demurrage could

         4       not depend purely on the number of trucks.  It had to

         5       depend on the discharge of the vessel, the testing time it

         6       took the Iraqis, which was four days, the bringing them

         7       into berth.  So our incentive system wasn't so much with

         8       Alia, it was with the Iraqis.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   So once you could make the

        11       trucking fee flexible --

        12       A.   Change it.

        13

        14       Q.   -- change it so it's flexible, you could then use the

        15       inland transport mechanism to in truth run a demurrage

        16       dispatch?

        17       A.   That's the whole incentive program.

        18

        19       Q.   Which you knew the United Nations and Australian

        20       government did not approve of?

        21       A.   That's why we asked in the letter --

        22

        23       Q.   You'd asked once before?

        24       A.   That's why I asked "As you are aware", what we wanted

        25       to do was being able to flex that.  That's the first draft

        26       under my name that was going to go out.  That's the whole

        27       basis of that letter, and then it was changed and changed.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you did that draft or before you

        30       prepared your draft did you discuss with anybody at AWB

        31       that that was your motivation, that that was what you were

        32       seeking to achieve, an effective demurrage/dispatch

        33       mechanism to be conducted through the inland trucking fee?

        34       A.   No, I discussed it with Charles, and I have a note

        35       that I made, and it's a little bit rough, with "major

        36       problem" and stuff, but I discussed it with Charles,

        37       because I've got notes written down in a diary, "a bit of

        38       major problem".  I didn't put "adequate solution" in there,

        39       but "major problem".  I've written just down some real

        40       basic notes "letter to DFAT".

        41

        42       Q.   Did you discuss it with Mr Stott?

        43       A.   Well, I've discussed it with someone, I think I'm

        44       doing that part of drawing up the structure of the letter.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Are these notes that we have?

        47       A.   Yeah.  That's my best recollection that I was trying
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         1       to structure it, I would have - it was the whole purpose of

         2       writing the letter.  It wasn't my sole idea.  It was told

         3       to us in a meeting in Iraq, we were going to do this

         4       incentive program and the Minister then said, "I want it

         5       paid back through the shipping companies" and then that led

         6       to the incentive idea.

         7

         8       Q.   So this was discussed in the October meeting --

         9       A.   Trip.

        10

        11       Q.   Trip with you and Mr Stott?

        12       A.   Yes - with the minister for a start.  We approached

        13       the minister and we said about the dispatch/demurrage

        14       account.  Our plans were either holding one indefinitely or

        15       using it for equipment, or something like that.  But then

        16       the minister said yes to it and then in a subsequent

        17       meeting Yousif said "The minister now wants it paid through

        18       the Jordanian shipping companies", shipping or trucking -

        19       trucking companies, and he mentioned two, I think.  The

        20       reference number - it's AWB.0185.0324.

        21

        22       Q.   So am I to understand that at the meetings between you

        23       and Mr Stott and the minister in October 2000 agreement was

        24       reached that there would in truth be a demurrage dispatch

        25       arrangement but it would be operated through the inland

        26       transport system?

        27       A.   Paid back through --

        28

        29       Q.   Paid back?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you record that agreement anywhere?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I might just have that identified and then

        36       could we rise for a few moments.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Are you able to locate or identify where

        41       it was that you recorded the arrangement that you and

        42       Mr Stott came to with the minister?

        43       A.   I think I have it.  Yes.  Yes.  I've got it here.

        44       AWB.0185.0306, "Meeting with Minister 14/10/00", and I'll

        45       give you the other reference, AWB.0185.0308.  And that's

        46       been - we've gone through that one before.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time?

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll take a brief adjournment.

         6

         7       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Thank you for those references, Mr Hogan.

        10       Which of those three pages from your notebook is the first

        11       in time?

        12       A.   This one here, the reference is a meeting with the

        13       minister 14/10.

        14

        15       Q.   So that would be AWB.0185.0306?

        16       A.   Yes, that's where we - that's when we raised it with

        17       the minister and then we have the AWB.0185.0308.  They've

        18       come back to us with - and it's the Grain Board of Iraq,

        19       that's Mr Yousif, come back with an alternative method.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Let's deal with 0306 first.  I tender that

        22       document.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #1034 HANDWRITTEN NOTES OF MR HOGAN

        25       BARCODED AWB.0185.0306

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you had a meeting with the minister on

        28       14 October 2000.  Who else was present during the course of

        29       that meeting?

        30       A.   At that meeting was Mohammed Mehdi Saleh, the Minister

        31       of Trade, Charles Stott, myself.  I cannot be completely

        32       sure, but I would suspect that Mr Yousif Abdul Rahman was

        33       there as well, from the Grain Board of Iraq.

        34

        35       Q.   And what was said on this issue of demurrage dispatch

        36       and the use of the trucking fee?

        37       A.   I can't recall exact conversation, but --

        38

        39       Q.   Just the substance.

        40       A.   Yes.  The major objective of the trip that we went in

        41       there, one of the major objectives was discharge rates at

        42       Umm Qasr.  One of the major issues at AWB at this time was

        43       the demurrage of the Iraqi business, which was excessive.

        44       We raised it with the minister, or Charles raised it with

        45       the minister who sat next to him, and requested that we

        46       wanted to have a dispatch/demurrage account and have a

        47       fixed discharge rate within the contracts.
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         1

         2            You can see there that part - if you have a look,

         3       "Minister - performance bond" - "not approved by UN", I'm

         4       not sure what that refers to at this stage.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, "performance bond" is bracketed with

         7       "dispatch/demurrage"?

         8       A.   Yes.  I'm not sure what that refers to,

         9       dispatch/demurrage was not approved by the UN.  They often

        10       came back to us and said they could never have a

        11       dispatch/demurrage account because it's not UN approved.

        12       In fact, they hid behind that nearly every time while we

        13       negotiated.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That was true.  It was contrary to

        16       Resolution 661.

        17       A.   They said they couldn't have this account.  They also

        18       said, and this is the first three years, and I'm not sure

        19       if that's the first three years of the Oil-for-Food

        20       Program, which might have been '96, '97, '98, '99, dispatch

        21       was earned and now, to counteract the problem now, that

        22       demurrage is being earned, so take the good with the bad I

        23       think is what the minister was probably telling us at that

        24       stage.  I'm not sure what happened after that discussion,

        25       but then I've got "Minister - yes on despatch/demurrage

        26       account in Australia", so the minister has come just there

        27       and said yes on that proposal after some discussion.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So what was the proposal, a

        30       dispatch/demurrage account in Australia to work in which

        31       way?

        32       A.   Our intentions were to try to get them to agree with

        33       the discharge rate and then we were going to use it for

        34       grain discharge equipment, technical training, a range of -

        35       offsetting it as - that was the intention.

        36

        37       Q.   So what was said?

        38       A.   I can't recollect the exact discussion.  I do --

        39

        40       Q.   What was it that the minister said yes to?  That's

        41       what I want to know?

        42       A.   Sorry, the minister said yes to a dispatch/demurrage

        43       account in Australia.

        44

        45       Q.   To be run in which way, though?  What was he agreeing

        46       in substance to?

        47       A.   In substance to having a dispatch/demurrage account in
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         1       Australia.

         2

         3       Q.   A dollar account?

         4       A.   Yes, an account, yes, a dollar account.  Sorry.

         5

         6       Q.   To be held by AWB?

         7       A.   Controlled by AWB, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   In AWB's name?

        10       A.   Those details weren't - that's the intent --

        11

        12       Q.   Into which would be paid what, trucking fees or just

        13       money --

        14       A.   Dispatch/demurrage.

        15

        16       Q.   -- on account of dispatch/demurrage?

        17       A.   Each vessel would have been, yes, balanced and counted

        18       off.  So if a vessel had demurrage, the account would be

        19       minus 300,000, if it started to earn dispatch - so it could

        20       have run as a negative account as well.

        21

        22       Q.   So this was a book-keeping exercise, not a money

        23       account?

        24       A.   Well, it was trying to lock them into a guaranteed

        25       discharge rate of three - and yes our intention was for

        26       them to put an incentive, that they could earn it into a

        27       positive money account so that we could provide them

        28       equipment or technical training.

        29

        30       Q.   That's why I keep asking you.  What was it the

        31       minister agreed to?  Was it a bookkeeping account or a

        32       dollar account?

        33       A.   Sorry, the minister was agreeing at this

        34       early stage - I know we raised it with the Grain Board of

        35       Iraq about technical training, but I think the minister

        36       would have had dollars in his eyes.  I think he would have

        37       been looking at a financial account.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, can we bring up, please, exhibit 173, which is

        40       AWB.0084.0037.  This is your Iraq trip report following

        41       this trip to Iraq.  It's dated the same date as your note.

        42

        43            Objectives.  1.  Examine the existing

        44            constraints and contract inefficiencies of

        45            supplying wheat to Iraq under the Oil for

        46            Food system, with an aim of introducing

        47            more commercial terms, such as:
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         1            (i) discharge rates

         2            (ii) payment procedures

         3            (iii) final weight and quality

         4

         5       Then on this topic of discharge, under "Discussions and

         6       outcomes:

         7

         8            AWB Limited expressed concerns regarding

         9            the below average discharge rates at Umm

        10            Qasr.  Mr Yousif gave AWB an undertaking in

        11            July that Iraq would increase the discharge

        12            rate to a minimum of...

        13

        14       X tonnes per day:

        15

        16            AWB figures show that the rates have been

        17            around --

        18

        19       X tonnes --

        20

        21            for August/September and as at the 10th of

        22            October, the rate had dropped to 7,000 tpd.

        23

        24            The discharge rate for Friday the 13th of

        25            October was --

        26

        27       X tonnes --

        28

        29            utilising only 2 berths --

        30

        31       et cetera:

        32

        33            Whilst this is an excellent result in

        34            comparison to previous rates, we will need

        35            to see a more consistent discharge

        36            performance before we are satisfied that

        37            things are on the improve at Umm Qasr.

        38

        39       Is that the substance of conversation between you and

        40       Mr Stott on the one hand and IGB on the other?

        41       A.   No, that's a summary of a number of discussions,

        42       because we had three meetings, I think it was - three

        43       meetings and one lunch.  We had a meeting in the morning

        44       with the Grain Board of Iraq, where we discussed issues and

        45       discharge rates, et cetera.  So a range of those things

        46       that - some of what was covered in there.  We then had a

        47       lunch with the Grain Board of Iraq and probably discussed
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         1       some of those again.  In the afternoon I think we met with

         2       the Minister of Trade and we would have again raised the

         3       issue of discharge and some of those issues would have been

         4       discussed, and then that evening we met with the Grain

         5       Board again and that's where it was changed from to paying

         6       it through the transport companies.

         7

         8       Q.   Can we go to 0039, two pages on, under "Trucking":

         9

        10            AWB's agent reported that discharge had

        11            been reduced due to a lack of transports to

        12            remove the wheat.  IGB advised that to

        13            their knowledge there was no transportation

        14            issue.

        15

        16            Action:

        17            Require agent at Umm Qasr to provide more

        18            detailed information on the discharge

        19            operations.

        20

        21       Then "Guaranteed Discharge Rate":

        22

        23            AWB is working with the Minister to improve

        24            the discharge rate at the port of Umm Qasr,

        25            with a view to fixing the discharge rate to

        26            3000 tpd.

        27

        28       If we go to the next page, 0040 - I won't read that, but

        29       I'll leave you to read it.

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Is there anything in there about an agreement with the

        33       minister concerning the opening or the running of a

        34       dispatch/demurrage account in Australia?

        35       A.   No.  The only comment we've made in the whole trip

        36       report about it - and these are all from my diary

        37       notes - was that there was working to guarantee the

        38       discharge rate of 3,000 tonnes per day, and this was the

        39       start of it.  We didn't write down, because at this stage

        40       it's just told to us yes they'd have a dispatch and then

        41       they changed it that evening to payment through the

        42       shipping companies.  And I don't think at that stage we'd

        43       actually resolved what would be the next steps and what we

        44       would do.

        45

        46       Q.   So when you say that evening, should we now look at

        47       your note 0308?
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         1       A.   Yes.  The next meeting.

         2

         3       Q.   That is exhibit 156 in these proceedings.  Should we

         4       look at the second half of the page, under where

         5       "Dispatch/Demurrage" appears?

         6       A.   Correct.

         7

         8       Q.   By reference to that note, can you tell the inquiry

         9       what it was that was said and by whom?

        10       A.   That's with Yousif then, that's after the meeting with

        11       the minister, and --

        12

        13       Q.   Were you present with Mr Stott?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   And what did Yousif say?

        17       A.   Well, I think, from my recollection, and just looking

        18       at my notes, that the minister initially said that, yeah,

        19       on having dispatch/demurrage account in Australia.  Then

        20       he's come back and said no, we want it paid through the

        21       shipping companies, and I can't recall if he specifically

        22       said, but it's implying to pay it through the inland

        23       transport.

        24

        25       Q.   Well, this reads:

        26

        27            - wants despatch paid to shipping company

        28            in Jordan.

        29

        30       For "shipping company" should we read Alia or the ISCWT?

        31       A.   Well, a little bit further down they say:

        32

        33            2-Shipping Companies in Jordan can receive

        34            funds.

        35

        36       So it may well have been in the same context of that

        37       discussion that I've just put it down as coming through.

        38       But my interpretation straightaway is "paid through

        39       shipping company" - mine is just through Alia, through the

        40       inland transport.

        41

        42       Q.   So this discussion with Yousif centred on the

        43       establishment of a scheme for demurrage dispatch using

        44       companies in Jordan who were available to receive funds by

        45       way of dispatch; is that right?

        46       A.   It's interesting that we only write down "wants

        47       dispatch paid to shipping company in Jordan" - no mention



            .23/8/06 (70)              7027     D J HOGAN (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       of demurrage being contracted from shipping company in

         2       Jordan.  But that's what - he would have parroted what the

         3       minister had told him, and the minister would have said,

         4       "Tell Mr Stott/Hogan we want the dispatch - we don't want

         5       you to hold dispatch in Australia, we want you to pay it to

         6       us through the shipping companies in Jordan", and that

         7       would have been the message.

         8

         9       Q.   What about demurrage, which was your interest?

        10       A.   Correct, that's why we didn't elaborate - there's not

        11       much more of a note on this and there's not much of a note

        12       in our trip report, I think, because that's all good and

        13       fine.  So the next part is how we've derived this incentive

        14       system to say, "Well, we'll pay the shipping company

        15       dispatch, but we want to be able to take off demurrage",

        16       and hence we needed to adjust the inland transport fee.

        17

        18       Q.   Before we come to your letter, if we go back to

        19       exhibit 173 and the last page of it, so 173 can be found at

        20       AWB.0084.0037, if we go to 0045, under the heading

        21       "General" the last entry:

        22

        23            2 shipping Companies in Jordan who handle

        24            free in truck discharge - Alia Shipping

        25            Company and Water Transport Company.

        26

        27       That trip report refers to handling free in truck

        28       discharge.  It doesn't refer to "capable of accepting

        29       payments by way of dispatch".

        30       A.   I don't know why - I think I've just put that note in

        31       there because it was part of my diary notes maybe, just to

        32       put a - because at that stage we'd only ever been dealing

        33       with Alia, and I've just put in that there's two.  Up to

        34       that point in time I'd only ever known of one, it was

        35       called Alia.

        36

        37       Q.   So you were not aware of correspondence between the

        38       AWB and the ISCWT?

        39       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you relate the ISCWT to the water transport

        42       company?

        43       A.   I don't know if I did make that connection at the time

        44       because the other one was Iraqi State Company for Water

        45       Transport.  I didn't necessarily - I can't recollect if I

        46       made a connection or not, sorry.

        47
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         1       Q.   Well, then, that brings us to the letter that you

         2       drafted with the intention of it going to DFAT.  What was

         3       it that you and Mr Stott discussed on the topic of this

         4       setting up a demurrage dispatch scheme through the inland

         5       trucking fee?  I just want you to think about the

         6       conversation, the substance of the conversation between you

         7       and Mr Stott on that topic.

         8       A.   I can probably be more specific.  I can only - I

         9       believe this is probably part of the discussion or the

        10       instruction for me to write the letter.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Are you looking at 0234?

        13       A.   Yes, I am, yes.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if we could project AWB.0185.0324.

        16

        17       Q.   This is a page from your handwritten notes.

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   This document is not yet an exhibit.

        21

        22       EXHIBIT #1035 PAGE OF HANDWRITTEN NOTES OF MR HOGAN

        23       BARCODED AWB.0185.0324

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What can you say about the conversation

        26       with Mr Stott on the topic demurrage dispatch using inland

        27       transport as a mechanism for that?

        28       A.   From this it's - again we went with an eloquent

        29       solution for enormous or major problems.  This is trying

        30       to - may be even pencilling down words that are coming out

        31       as we're discussing:

        32

        33            Solution acceptable to all parties.

        34

        35       Which is the transport parties and AWB and the Iraqis, is

        36       my interpretation:

        37

        38            As per existing contract - we are obliged

        39            to arrange.

        40

        41       This would be arrange the trucks and transport with part of

        42       the UN under the existing contracts.  We want to enhance

        43       the discharge and provide incentives, provide sufficient

        44       trucks to lift discharge rates.  Enter into some sort of

        45       arrangements - I've crossed out "discussions" -

        46       arrangements with the transport companies.  This was - and

        47       I've got down the side there, I suppose, "proposal".  This
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         1       is a proposal that we want to put forward to the transport

         2       companies for an incentive system:

         3

         4            Prior to discussions call 98884856.

         5

         6       I would not have a clue.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Hogan, the 4 October and prior

         9       reports do not indicate that lack of number of trucks was

        10       in truth the cause of delays in discharge; rather, the

        11       factors which are said to be causing that delay was

        12       fumigation, grain testing, and the like.

        13       A.   A number of issues, not confined to just transport,

        14       no.

        15

        16       Q.   Not confined to transport.

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   So was the use of this reference to these trucks just

        20       a device to hide the true demurrage dispatch arrangement?

        21       A.   Well, I think we actually - there were a number of -

        22       as I said, there's two parties to having the dispatch or

        23       demurrage work.  One is the transport.  The second part is

        24       the testing procedures, the discharge, the bringing of the

        25       vessels onto berth.  And all that part was controlled by

        26       the Iraqis.  I don't know --

        27

        28       Q.   And the unloading capacity?

        29       A.   Yes, the discharges, the Vegan machines, the bobcats,

        30       all of those sorts of things, that was all controlled by

        31       the Iraqis.  It had nothing to do with Alia.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So which berth you were given was also

        34       controlled by the Iraqis?

        35       A.   Yes, three berths, plus a silo berth, et cetera.

        36       There's all those arrangements.  Then there's the number of

        37       trucks.  They can put 1,000 trucks there a day, but if the

        38       Iraqis are walking off site 3 o'clock every afternoon and

        39       only loading 300, we would earn demurrage still and the

        40       transport company would say I'm putting up 1,000 trucks.

        41       It needed two parts to it.  But we were told at this

        42       stage - and the incentive system we wanted, we spoke to the

        43       minister about the incentive system; we didn't speak to

        44       Alia about the incentive system.  We spoke to the minister

        45       about it.  We were told by the agent that there was a lack

        46       of trucks, so we did have that information.  But it was a

        47       two-party side, and I think our knowledge would have been
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         1       that if we got the Iraqis to agree to it, trucks would

         2       always be there.

         3

         4            It wasn't deceptive - the inland transport system,

         5       from my understanding and how that fee worked, the

         6       incentive system was a way we could have actually

         7       implemented dispatch/demurrage.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But if you look at the letter you drafted

        10       to go to DFAT it only speaks of trucks.  It says nothing

        11       about a performance incentive for the Iraqis.

        12       A.   My letter?

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.  It speaks of a performance incentive for the

        15       transport company to maximise discharge rates.

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   It speaks of being keen to rectify discharge problems,

        19       and AWB will commence discussions directly with the

        20       transport companies --

        21       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        22

        23       Q.   -- in Jordan, with the aim of introducing a

        24       performance incentive scheme.

        25       A.   That's who we were paying, the beneficiary.

        26

        27       Q.   But it says nothing about demurrage dispatch; it says

        28       nothing about an arrangement with the Iraqis that this

        29       incentive scheme would be a two-way scheme, that the Iraqis

        30       would be paid more if they improved the discharge rate.  It

        31       doesn't address the problems you've identified as being

        32       Iraqi based, which berth you get, whether the Iraqis walk

        33       off the job at 3pm.  It says nothing about any of that.  It

        34       speaks of the problem only in terms of the availability of

        35       trucks.

        36       A.   Of using the transport fee as the mechanism.  But I

        37       do - sorry, you said there's nothing about rectifying the

        38       discharge problems.  We'd had numerous discussions with

        39       DFAT about demurrage.  If we go back to 7 August and

        40       Bob Bowker, we spoke and I got legal advice on despatch

        41       demurrage.  They knew about our dispatch/demurrage problems

        42       at Umm Qasr.

        43

        44       Q.   Yes, but in terms of addressing those problems, your

        45       letter says nothing about demurrage dispatch beyond having

        46       more trucks there.  So in that sense at least your letter

        47       was deceptive, was it not?  What you had in mind was that



            .23/8/06 (70)              7031     D J HOGAN (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       you would use the trucking fee as a way of incentivising

         2       the Iraqis --

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   -- but not just in relation to trucks but in relation

         6       to everything that's associated with the discharge of the

         7       ships.

         8       A.   Oh, the whole system, yes.  But I'm not going to spell

         9       out - like, that we were told - this factor, we were told

        10       there was no trucks there when the Iraqis said there were

        11       trucks there.  During harvest - trucks did dry up in their

        12       local harvest times.  Trucks became a problem.  I don't

        13       deny that the whole reason for this letter was to use the

        14       inland transport payment, which we knew and I knew, was

        15       going to Iraq, was the mechanism to actually put the

        16       incentive system in there.  The incentive system would have

        17       fixed up all the other numerous problems, from the four-day

        18       test to the fumigations, on board fumigations.  I didn't

        19       list everything down, but that was the system I was going

        20       to use.

        21

        22       Q.   The point I'm trying to make with you is this, that if

        23       you only achieved what you literally asked for - that is,

        24       to negotiate with trucking companies to have more trucks

        25       there - from what you've told us, that wouldn't have really

        26       assisted with the demurrage dispatch problem, because there

        27       were many other factors.

        28       A.   It would have, because the money was going to Iraq.

        29

        30       Q.   But only if the money was going to Iraq?

        31       A.   But I had no doubt the money was going - we discussed

        32       it with the Iraqis.  That's who we discussed this with,

        33       they said "Pay it through the shipping companies".

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I understand your evidence to be

        36       this, that if it could be arranged that there be a

        37       demurrage dispatch system operated through the inland

        38       transport system so that the fixed fee was either increased

        39       or reduced, the expectation was that all of the problems

        40       associated with unloading of cargo would be alleviated --

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   -- from grain testing to getting on to the port, to

        44       wharves, to actually taking the cargo out of the ships, to

        45       trucking, the lot?

        46       A.   Correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   And in that respect you had a meeting with the

         2       minister.  Initially the arrangement was that there may be

         3       an account operated in Australia, which would fluctuate

         4       with demurrage and dispatch.  Subsequently that evening you

         5       were told that the minister wanted the account to be

         6       operated through the inland transport fee mechanism?

         7       A.   Dispatch payable.

         8

         9       Q.   Dispatch payable, so that moneys would in fact be paid

        10       to Iraq if they were due dispatch, and that that would be

        11       paid through one of two transport companies or shipping

        12       companies which are nominated, one of whom was Alia.  And

        13       that that was what you intended in your draft letter, but

        14       that as you were about to say, and stopped, you didn't want

        15       to spell all of that out, you just referred to the trucks;

        16       is that right?

        17       A.   Well, I've just referred to the trucking and the

        18       discharge.  The rest would have resolved itself.

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.

        21       A.   Because the money was going to Iraq and we were told

        22       lack of trucks.  I didn't go into every individual issue

        23       that was happening at Umm Qasr.  This system, incentivising

        24       system, would have resolved that problem.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What you didn't say in the letter was that

        27       the money was going to the Iraqis.

        28       A.   No, I didn't.

        29

        30       Q.   Why not?

        31       A.   See, all this time, my state of mind, this is all

        32       approved.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But you knew this wasn't approved

        35       because in August AWB had approached DFAT and asked for

        36       approval to provide a demurrage/dispatch system operating

        37       account in Australia and you'd been told no, and DFAT said

        38       it may be possible to operate a demurrage/dispatch system,

        39       but only through the escrow account?

        40       A.   Through the escrow account.

        41

        42       Q.   It was after that, it would seem, that these supposed

        43       administrative arrangements were discussed with the

        44       minister in Iraq in October and it was decided and agreed

        45       that, in truth, a demurrage dispatch arrangement would be

        46       operated but it would be operated outside the United

        47       Nations system and through the inland trucking system.  Is
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         1       that right?

         2       A.   Through the inland, yes.  But I saw this, and I even

         3       saw the dispatch/demurrage account that we spoke of with

         4       the Iraqis after the original advice from DFAT, was an

         5       equipment one which was what - we didn't have an agreement

         6       then that once the minister said yes, then it was a matter

         7       of going back again to DFAT and trying to apply and say

         8       "Look, this dispatch/demurrage, we want to do it through an

         9       equipment system."

        10

        11       Q.   You'd been told that you couldn't do that in August.

        12       A.   We actually got told from Gabrielle Simm as well of

        13       some incentivising system as well.  There was legal advice

        14       to say there was some incentive system we could work, maybe

        15       we could go back through the UN to see what we could do

        16       there.  That wasn't closed completely, the August letter

        17       from Gabrielle Simm, their legal adviser from DFAT.  There

        18       was an incentive system they said may be applied.

        19

        20       Q.   No, what the letter said was it may be possible for

        21       there to be an incentive arrangement agreed which could be

        22       discussed administratively with the United Nations.

        23       A.   Yes.  So the door wasn't closed.

        24

        25       Q.   It wasn't closed for discussion with the United

        26       Nations on some administrative arrangement to be operated

        27       through the UN escrow account, but what was closed was the

        28       operation of a demurrage dispatch system based either on an

        29       account operating in Australia or, alternatively, by you

        30       accumulating funds and using it either for shipment of

        31       wheat or equipment to Iraq.

        32       A.   But - yes, and I still say that at this stage these

        33       were putting it forward to the Iraqis then to try to then

        34       see if they would agree and then go the other way back.  It

        35       wasn't - there was nothing that ever happened on this.

        36       They kept backing out.  Our intention was - again, our

        37       intention was to go back through the UN or DFAT so the

        38       Iraqis now agreed to doing this.  We weren't - there's no

        39       deception in this whatsoever.  In my mind, sorry, but my

        40       state of mind is we weren't trying to deceive or do

        41       anything, like, wrong, by doing this.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Hogan, you were attempting to deceive

        44       DFAT when you wrote this letter, were you not?  When you

        45       wrote it as a draft, you were attempting to deceive DFAT,

        46       weren't you?

        47       A.   No, I don't see that as being - sorry, Mr Agius, but I
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         1       don't see myself as trying to be deceptive here with DFAT.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, let me see if I understand you.  You had in mind

         4       eventually having a demurrage dispatch system operating

         5       through the trucking fee, and the key to that, in your

         6       mind, was that the money being paid via the trucking fee

         7       was going to the Iraqis.  So that if you regulated the

         8       trucking fee, you in effect would get the Iraqis to

         9       regulate all of the components of dispatch - of demurrage.

        10       A.   Yes, we would hope, yes.  That was your - that was the

        11       incentive system, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   And you maintain, do you, that you believed that the

        14       UN had approved the payment of a trucking fee to the

        15       Iraqis, that that was an approved matter?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   You didn't have to hide it?

        19       A.   No.  That's what I was writing, there was an approved

        20       fee and I couldn't change that --

        21

        22       Q.   But the payment to the Iraqis - not the payment of a

        23       trucking fee was approved but the payment to the Iraqis had

        24       been approved - that was your belief when you did this

        25       draft, was it?

        26       A.   Yes, that's what I believed it was payment to the

        27       Iraqis.

        28

        29       Q.   Why then did you write in the second-last paragraph of

        30       your draft:

        31

        32            AWB will commence discussions directly with

        33            the transport company in Jordan with an aim

        34            of introducing a performance incentive

        35            scheme.  This eloquent solution will reward

        36            the transport company --

        37

        38       that is, reward the transport company in Jordan --

        39

        40            based up the final discharge performance --

        41

        42       that should be "based upon", I imagine --

        43

        44            of each vessel.

        45

        46       Why were you speaking to DFAT in terms of rewarding a

        47       Jordanian transport company when you knew that payment of
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         1       the trucking fee was being received by the Iraqis and there

         2       was no issue at all about rewarding a Jordanian transport

         3       company?

         4       A.   But that's - the beneficiary of the whole lot, our

         5       payment was to Alia, sorry, to the Jordanian trucking

         6       company, and I didn't --

         7

         8       Q.   No, you can't have it both ways.  You've told us that

         9       you believed that the money was going to the Iraqis.

        10       That's what you've said, you've said you've always believed

        11       that.  How was there any beneficiary, how was there any

        12       reward for the transport company based in Jordan when your

        13       grand plan is to operate a demurrage dispatch arrangement

        14       through the transport fee which you know is not being paid

        15       in effect to a transport company in Jordan but is being

        16       paid through a transport company in Jordan to the Iraqis?

        17       A.   I'm sorry, Mr Agius, but I weren't - in my view, my

        18       state of mind, I wasn't trying to deceive.

        19

        20       Q.   Surely you were.  Surely what you were doing --

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What were you going to say?

        23       A.   My understanding was that we were paying on each

        24       vessel the beneficiary to Alia transport, which was the

        25       nominated maritime agent, or whatever it was and I didn't

        26       know whether DFAT or UN or what the situation is with that,

        27       but that's who we were paying the inland transport.  Now

        28       it's going into Iraq and I don't ever deny that, and I -

        29       that's - so I weren't - that's who the counterparty was and

        30       that's how we were going to introduce the system.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Hogan, what's being put to you is

        33       that if there was dispatch payable under this proposed

        34       system, it is true it would be paid to Alia, but you knew

        35       that that payment would thereafter go to Iraq.

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Is that right?

        39       A.   Right from the start I knew that the money was going

        40       through to Iraq.  That's what Zuhair told us in June 1999.

        41

        42       Q.   So there was, in truth, no benefit to the trucking

        43       company, but there was a benefit to Iraq if dispatch was

        44       payable into the system?

        45       A.   If the trucking company was doing nothing whatsoever

        46       at that stage - and, again, it's not until May 2001 that I

        47       learned that they had zero involvement in it, that they
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         1       don't provide a truck; they did the Aqaba trucks and that,

         2       but at this stage I don't know - you'll see there is

         3       correspondence that I've sent notes in February to Alia to

         4       provide more trucks and stuff like that.  I knew that they

         5       were set up as - that's who our counterparty was with this,

         6       not the Grain Board of Iraq.  I wasn't - inland transport

         7       payment every month or on the accounts sheets didn't go to

         8       the Grain Board of Iraq.

         9

        10       Q.   But the problem with that is that all of your

        11       discussions for the proposed system were not with Alia, the

        12       trucking company, they were with the minister and the

        13       director of IGB because, it would seem, you knew that they

        14       would get the benefit of dispatch, not the trucking

        15       company?

        16       A.   Yes.  That's where the money was going.  Sorry, I --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:  That's all right.  I see the time.  I

        19       think we should stop for the night.  How much longer do you

        20       have?

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   I have just a little more to put to Mr Hogan.

        23       I think we should stop.  I'm not making an application that

        24       we sit on.  I will be a little longer with him in the

        25       morning.  I expect we will be finished with him well before

        26       12 o'clock, if that's of any assistance to any persons in

        27       the room.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, you may wish to consider

        30       whether your client wishes to put on a further statement.

        31       I'm not sure that this was ever put.

        32

        33       MR LACAVA:   It's certainly new and --

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you give some consideration to

        36       that?

        37

        38       MR LACAVA:   We'll try to get some instructions overnight,

        39       although it is so new, I didn't bring a lot of the

        40       documents with me, so we may have some difficulty, but

        41       we'll do the best we can.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll discuss that in the morning.

        44

        45       AT 5.30PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED TO

        46       THURSDAY, 24 AUGUST 2006 AT 10AM

        47
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